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Chairman’s statement
Welcome to Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s
third Annual Report and Accounts.
Delivering High Value Healthcare is the
Trust’s overriding priority. It underpins our
vision to maintain and improve the health of
the people we serve. We achieve this by
ensuring our services are more responsive,
better tailored to individual circumstances,
and well co-ordinated with others. This means
working effectively with service users
themselves, our commissioners and other
providers of care. That is why we see
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
as ‘Your Partner in Health’.

In order to respond to these challenges the
Trust has had to review its internal organisation
and how best it could transform our services
to deliver greater benefit for less investment.
We have made a number of difficult decisions
on management and leadership and worked
with our staff on changes to services which
was unsettling for many. I want to acknowledge
and express my appreciation for the efforts of
all our staff to manage these changes while
continually focussing on the best care for the
people who use our services.

The Trust has made considerable progress
this year, continuing to improve services for
patients. And this is primarily due to the skills
and efforts of our greatest asset - our staff
who day in and day out provide the services
that the people of Hertfordshire and children
in West Essex rely on.

Their effort has been recognised in the
continued strong service performance in
2012/13. Highlights include improving services
for those with learning disabilities and
providing better information to GPs when
their patients are discharged from our care.

Over the past year we have been preparing
for a new landscape in the NHS which took
effect from 1 April, with new commissioners
and regulators taking on new responsibilities
and increased involvement for our local
authority. However our longer term challenges
remain unaltered. We need to plan for and
treat an increasing number of patients each
year, respond to the increasing complexities of
an ageing population, improve our services by
being more responsive to patient demands,
maintain our high clinical standards and
achieve all this on a reducing annual budget.

We had no cases of MRSA but, we faced real
difficulties with Clostridium Difficile this year,
reflecting issues across the health economy
in West Hertfordshire. However the Trust
responded strongly being at the forefront of
work to bring infections under control.
Following success by competitive tender,
April 2012 saw the launch of HCT’s children’s
services in West Essex. We have taken on some
real challenges with this service but are now
seeing improvements in the care provided,
which has already been recognised by the
local commissioners
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HCT service portfolio 2012-2013

ADULT CORE COMMUNITY SERVICES (EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Integrated Community Teams
• Intermediate Care bed-bases
(Community Hospitals)
• Neurological Services

• Neurological bed-bases
• Leg Ulcer Services
• Minor Injuries Unit
• Psychological Therapy Service

ADULT CORE COMMUNITY SERVICES (WEST HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Integrated Community Teams
• Intermediate Care bed-bases
(Community Hospitals)

• Nutrition and Dietetics Service
• Diabetes Community Service
• Diabetic Retinopathy Services

ADULT AMBULATORY SERVICES
• End of Life and Lymphoedema Services
• Speech and Language Therapy Service
• Cardiology Services
(including Cardiac Rehabilitation and
Heart Failure)
• Prison Healthcare Services
• Respiratory Service
• Sexual Health and Family Planning Services
• Dental Services
• Skin Health Services

• Bladder and Bowel Care Service
• Podiatry Service
• Acute Therapies Service
• Wheelchair Services
(including Specialist Seating and
electric indoor and outdoor wheelchair services)
• Musculoskeletal Services
(including Physiotherapy and
Occupational Therapy)
• Chronic Fatigue and Pain Management Service

CHILDREN’S SERVICES
• Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
• Child Health Service
• Newborn Hearing Screening Service
• Step2 Service
• Sure Start Children’s Centres
• Family Nurse Partnership
• Speech and Language Therapy Service
(including West Essex)
• Physiotherapy Service
(including West Essex)
• Occupational Therapy Service
(including West Essex)
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• Community Medical Service
(including West Essex)
• Challenging Behaviour Psychology Service
• Audiology Service
• Children’s Eye Services
• Continuing Care Service
• Nascot Lawn Respite Care
• Special School Nursing Service
• Specialist Diabetes Nursing Service
• Young People’s Health Transitional Service
• Community Nursing Services
(including West Essex)
• Children Looked After
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As a Trust we need to demonstrate financial
resilience by delivering our contracts with
commissioning bodies and yielding a small
surplus of 1% of turnover which for 2012/13
was achieved.
During the year we refreshed our strategic
plans by engaging with staff and our many
stakeholders on our strategic direction.
This work is reflected in the vision and objectives
in this document and forms the centre-piece
of HCT’s Integrated Business Plan.
I am pleased to report that our ambition to
become a Foundation Trust continued apace
during the year and, following successful
completion of the Strategic Health Authority
assessment, our application was submitted to
the Department of Health as the next stage in
the process on 1 March 2013. We now plan
to be working with the NHS Trust Development
Authority on our application before submission
to Monitor for Foundation Trust approval.

Finally, I wish to re-emphasise my thanks to
all the staff within this organisation who have
been responsible for the continued success of
our mission to serve our public. I also want to
thank my colleagues on the Board for their
support and guidance in turbulent times.
We have come far in the last year, providing a
sound basis to face the challenges ahead but
continuing to provide High Value Healthcare
to the people we serve.
I hope you find this document helpful and
informative and I commend it to you.

Declan O’Farrell
Chairman

As the Trust grows and matures, so does our
engagement with partners and stakeholders
across the local health system. We have
sought to emphasise our role with partners
this year - developing new services and
engaging widely with the newly formed
Clinical Commissioning Groups, the Health
and Wellbeing Board and the Scrutiny
Committee among others. This will be
reinforced in the year ahead.
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Chief Executive’s report

In this section we provide a profile of our
principal activities during the course of the
past year and highlight the progress we have
made in developing the range and scope of the
services we provide in the local communities
of Hertfordshire and West Essex.
Our business review is covered in detail in the
Operating and Financial Review section whilst
the other main sections of this Annual Report
include our Quality Account and the Annual
Accounts for 2012/13.
The Trust’s principal activities
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) was
established as a stand alone NHS Community
Trust on 1 November 2010.

Looking back
In the past year the Trust has completed the
recruitment of, and embedded, its Executive
Team as well as restructuring its senior
management arrangements and refreshing
the team. It has been a period of great
change but we have used this to help
transform services and deliver the following:

The Trust had an income of around £127m
during 2012/13 and employed around 3,000
staff. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
(HCT) is the principal provider of communitybased healthcare to the 1.1m residents of
Hertfordshire and, since April 2012, 68,000
children in West Essex. The Trust provides
community-based services for adults, older
people, children and young people, and a range
of ambulatory and specialist care services.
We provide these services from over 70 sites,
including nine inpatient units.
The Trust restructured into four business units
during 2012/13 and the services they provide
are set out in the HCT service portfolio.
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Quality Improvement
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is clear
on its primary purpose - to provide quality
services to the people it serves. The Trust
has continued to make progress in ensuring
quality improvement from its already strong
base. During 2012/13 the Trust saw:
• zero MRSA cases in Hertfordshire
Community Trust’s care
• roll out of best practice in pressure ulcer
management across the Trust to deliver an
impressive reduction in avoidable category 3
and 4 pressure ulcers experienced by patients

But the Trust does not underestimate the key
areas of challenge faced during 2012/13.
Following a strong track record of year-onyear improvements in Clostridium difficile
performance, during 2012/13 there have been
difficulties managing C Diff infections across the
West Hertfordshire health economy. This has
meant 18 cases in HCT’s bed base during
2012/13 against an annual ceiling of 15.
These have been managed in line with the
Trust’s infection prevention and control
procedures and the Board has worked with
partners in the local health economy and
sought to learn lessons from elsewhere to
ensure appropriate control and prevention.

• continued delivery of 18 week waiting time
performance across key services and zero
tolerance of mixed sex accommodation
• improvements in access to services for
patients with learning disabilities and in
the provision of information to GPs on
patient discharge.

Avoidable category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers
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Care Quality Commission’s Quality Risk Profile
Risk Estimate Summary

March
2012

December
2012

March
2013

Outcome 1 (R17) Respecting and involving people
who use the services

High Yellow

Low Green

Low Green

Outcome 2 (R18) Consent to care and treatment

Insufficient data

HIGH RED

Involvement and Information

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

LOW RED

Increasing
risk of noncompliance
HIGH AMBER

Personalised Care, Treatment and Support
Outcome 4: (R9) Care and welfare of people who
use the services

Low Neutral

Low Green

Low Green

Outcome 5: (R14) Meeting nutritional needs

Insufficient data

Low Green

Low Green

Outcome 6 (R24) Cooperating with other providers

Insufficient data

High Yellow

High Yellow

LOW AMBER

HIGH YELLOW

Decreasing
risk of noncompliance

Safeguarding and Safety

LOW YELLOW

HIGH GREEN

Outcome 7 (R11) Safeguarding people who use
services from abuse

Insufficient data

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

High Green

High Green

Insufficient Data

Low Yellow

High Yellow

Outcome 10: (R15) Staffing and suitability of premises

High Yellow

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

Outcome 11: (R16) Safety, availability, and suitability
of equipment

Insufficient Data

High Green

Low Yellow

Low Neutral

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

High Red

High Yellow

Low Yellow

Insufficient Data

Low Yellow

High Yellow

Outcome 16: (R10) Assessing and monitoring the
quality of service provision

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

High Green

Outcome 17: (R19) Complaints

Low Neutral

Low Yellow

Low Yellow

Low Red

Low Green

Low Green

618

788

795

Outcome 8: (12) Cleanliness and Infection control
Outcome 9 : (R13) Management of Medicines

LOW GREEN

Suitability of Staffing
Outcome 12: (R21) Requirements relating to workers
Outcome 13: (R22) Staffing
Outcome 14: (R23) Supporting workers
Quality and Management

Outcome 21: (R20) Records
Total number of data items
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The Trust has also faced challenges in waiting
times for specific services in West Essex, where
the Trust began to run services in April 2012.
There has been an increase in demand for
these services and the Trust is working with
local commissioners to address this.
More widely, the Trust’s progress on quality
improvement is recognised in the Care Quality
Commission’s Quality Risk Profile (QRP) for
the Trust.
The CQC uses the Quality Risk Profile to support
their judgements about the quality of provider
services, and in their assessment of where risks
lie and as a prompt for front-line regulatory
activity (such as inspection). Outcomes where
there is no data, or insufficient data or where
the risk estimate is red or high amber are more
likely to be the outcomes on which the CQC
will focus in their regulatory activity.

The table above provides an overview of the
QRP issued in April 2013 and provides a
comparison to those issued in March 2012
and December 2012. It should be noted
however that the rating system as at March
2012 was differently described and available
data sources were more limited.
Financial Performance
The Trust continues to ensure a robust financial
foundation to the organisation. Following
delivery of a £0.2m surplus in 2010/11 and
£1.0m surplus in 2011/12, the Trust delivered
a surplus of £1.30m in 2012/13.

Net surplus (£m)
1.4
1.2
1.0
0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2
0
2010/11
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Organisational Development

Service developments

During the year, the Board embarked on a Board
development programme and redeveloped the
Trust’s vision, strategy and objectives. Triust staff
were extensively engaged in these changes and
showed strong support for the aim of delivering
‘High Value Healthcare’.

While delivering core services in 2012/13, the
Trust also implemented a number of service
developments:

A key area of the Trust’s development has been
the progression of the Trust’s Foundation Trust
application. The Trust has developed a well
aligned Integrated Business Plan and Long
Term Financial Model, as well as undertaking
key external assessments relating to our Board
Governance, Quality Governance and Financial
Governance and Performance. These have all
demonstrated strong progress to such an extent
that the Trust successfully completed the NHS
Midlands and East assessment stage and was
passed to the Department of Health/NHS Trust
Development Authority from 1 March 2013.
In addition, the Trust delivered substantial
managerial and organisational change following
the “Transforming the Way We Work”
consultation and has prioritised both internal
staff engagement and engagement with
external stakeholders.

• following a successful tendering competition,
HCT began to deliver c£4m of West Essex
Children’s Services from April 2012
• working in partnership with commissioners
and social care to launch HomeFirst pilots in
Lower Lea Valley and Hertsmere. This is a new
model for delivering “integrated” adult services,
delivering better value and high quality care
by preventing admission to hospitals and
empowering and supporting patients
• piloting an Integrated Point of Access with
commissioners and social care
• implementing NHS Hertfordshire’s Intermediate
Care strategy at Royston and Hitchin Hospitals
with new peripatetic specialist nursing and
therapy service partnership with Quantum
Healthcare.

Externally, the Trust has developed an Eight
Point Plan for GPs to improve communication
and responsiveness; worked with local
commissioners to ensure our strategies align
and worked with partner providers at West
Herts Hospitals NHS Trust and Hertfordshire
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
to identify joint opportunities and service
developments.
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Looking to the future
The development of the Trust’s Strategy and
priorities for 2013/14 has been undertaken
with a clear understanding of the national and
local context within which HCT operates, and
the rapidly changing healthcare market and
environment.
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 set out a
vision for the NHS characterised by greater
autonomy, placing the patient at the centre of
provision, with clinicians driving change and
decisions. In particular it established:
• a new commissioning environment, with
Clinical Commissioning Groups in the lead
and an increased role for local authorities
in approving local commissioning plans. In
Hertfordshire, two new Clinical
Commissioning Groups are now taking on
responsibility for commissioning - Herts
Valleys CCG and East and North Herts CCG
- and the county’s Health and Wellbeing
Board has set out its Strategy. The Trust has
also engaged with NHS England (the former
NHS Commissioning Board) regarding the
services they will commission including
health visitors and diabetic retinopathy
and is extending its relationship with local
authority commissioners, who will now
commission services such as family planning
and school nursing

Critically, the financial environment underpinning
the NHS and wider public services over the
coming years will be extremely tight. The NHS
will see an average real terms spending increase
of 0.1% per annum over the period to 2014/15.
This is much lower than in recent history spending increased by over 3% per annum in
real terms over the period 1979/80 to 1996/97
and by nearly 6% per annum in real terms from
1997/98 to 2010/11.
In order to deliver the Trust’s Strategy in 2013/14,
we have identified a range of themes and high
impact projects that will underpin delivery.
These will be monitored and driven through
a Programme Management Office established
to ensure the Trust’s transformation. The key
themes and priorities are shown in the table
on the following page.
I am confident that the Trust will rise to the
challenges ahead and continue to provide
High Value Healthcare to our service users.

David Law
Chief Executive

• a new provider environment with greater
freedoms and competition through the ‘Any
Qualified Provider’ (AQP) regime, as well as
the commitment for all providers to achieve
Foundation Trust status
• a commitment to foster improved outcomes
through the integration of services, with local
commissioning groups and NHS England
supporting this. HCT is embracing this change
through its focus on High Value Healthcare.
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Key themes and priorities 2013 - 2014
Mobile Working

Rolling out mobile technology across the Trust’s community teams to ensure
better record keeping, protocolisation of care, and to enable efficiency improvements
across services

Self Managing Teams

Delivering the cultural and organisational change which enables teams to
self-manage using key information and freedoms to determine their priorities and
processes within a clear organisational framework

Adult Services
Redesign

Redesign of adult services, including roll out of HomeFirst more widely in the county
and restructuring adult services to align with these new service models

Children’s Services
Redesign

Redesigning the range of children’s services, aligning universal, targeted and specialist
services, while integrating key services with the local authority

Clinical Facing Time

Redesigning organisational processes to enable an increase in clinical facing time

High Value Healthcare

Implementing the Trust’s High Value Healthcare ethos across all services, including the
development of key metrics to judge delivery

Access

Reviewing the routes for access to HCT services for patients, partner organisations
and other healthcare professionals. This will aim to deliver better experience for
users of HCT services and a more efficient process for the Trust.

Communication
and Engagement

Building external communication and engagement to promote the Trust’s services and
ensure effective partnerships for the benefit of patients.
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Operating and financial review

This section of the report covers our financial,
operational and clinical performance during
2012/13.
We state our Vision and Values as an organisation, look at our
corporate objectives for 2012/13 and how we have performed
against them. We highlight the key objectives for 2013/14 and
provide an overview of financial and clinical performance.
Leadership
HCT has been through a process of strengthening its Board and
restructuring services to ensure strong direction and leadership.
The Chair and Non-Executives bring a balanced portfolio from financial,
business and health care professional backgrounds. There is also a
robust Board development programme in place. The new Executive
Team worked closely with the Board to revise the Trust’s vision,
strategy and objectives during 2012/13. Extensive engagement was
undertaken with staff regarding the new strategy.
Our Vision
To become a leading light in the provision of innovative programmes
of care which maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the
people of Hertfordshire and other areas served by the Trust.
Our Values
This vision is underpinned by the Trust’s Values, which complement
the NHS Constitution, supporting patients’ rights and in particular
the need to treat patients with dignity and respect:
Care - We put patients at the heart of everything we do.
Respect - We treat people with dignity and respect.
Quality - We strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times.
Confidence - We do what we say we will do.
Improve - We will improve through continuous learning and innovation.

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

17

Operating and financial review
Objectives, priorities and targets

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
To support this Vision and Values, HCT has
developed five strategic objectives:
1 We will support the people we serve to
manage their own health and wellbeing.
2 We will improve clinical outcomes and
enhance patient safety.
3 We will support the substantial expansion of
community services through the delivery of
excellent core services for adults and children
and the development of ambulatory services.
4 We will use resources efficiently to enhance
our ability to improve services.
5 We will develop the organisational capacity
to deliver our vision and objectives.

Our focus is on delivering safe, efficient services
that deliver excellent clinical outcomes within
constrained resources. We are building our
services to deliver a fundamental shift in the
healthcare system - ensuring the default for
long term conditions management is
community-based.
We are building services around the people
we care for and delivering our community
philosophy - empowering and supporting
people to maintain their own health;
providing care at the most appropriate level
and outside of medical settings where
possible; joining up services from many
partners around patients; and ensuring high
quality services consistently across all
our services.

HIGH VALUE HEALTHCARE AND QUALITY IMPROVEMENT
As a Trust we have committed to delivering
‘High Value Healthcare’:
• Excellent clinical outcomes
• An outstanding patient experience

These support the Quality principles set out
by the National Quality Board, as well as
encompassing the need to deliver ever more
efficient and cost effective services. We will use
these principles to drive the focus of our staff,
frame a single approach to quality and efficiency,
and demonstrate the value we deliver.

• Consistent and improving patient safety
• Highly efficient and cost-effective services.
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KEY PRIORITIES FOR 2012/13 AND HOW WE MET THEM
• Using innovation
Developing our HomeFirst prototype (based
on the virtual ward concept) in two
localities, to maintain older people in the
community and avoid unnecessary hospital
admissions. This will demonstrate our ability
to deliver this across the County, and will
support the national policy of Transforming
Community Services.
We worked in close partnership with GPs,
commissioners and Hertfordshire County
Council social care to deliver this service
development. Pilots have been established in
Hertsmere and Lower Lea Valley. These will
be evaluated in early 2013/14 and decisions
taken on their extension and roll out.
• Build on our successes
Embed our community-based model to help
those with diabetes in Hertfordshire and
work with partners to explore opportunities
to support others with long term conditions
to live with them in the community.
We began to develop our models of longterm conditions management and will continue
to engage with partners.
• Integrate new services
Developing the West Essex Children’s service to
deliver the high standards of care experienced
by Hertfordshire residents, whilst continuing to
improve the service overall.
We successfully integrated this new service
with positive reception by commissioners
and users of the service.

• Utilise new ways of working
To implement mobile working more fully
across all services to substantially improve
both productivity and recording. This will
support the delivery of cost improvements
this year and into the future.
We developed a mobile working programme
in 2012/13 and secured Transformation Fund
support from commissioners. A Programme
Board was established and the first new
deployments will be made in July 2013.
• Make best use of inpatient beds
Reviewing our bed-based provision to
ensure that it is meeting needs, provides
effective care and is cost-effective.
We examined this during 2012/13 and have
agreed work with commissioners in 2013/14
as part of the contract negotiating round.
• Continue to provide high quality services
Maintaining and improving service
performance in all areas of provision to
ensure services are delivering high value
healthcare.
We maintained strong performance in
2012/13 improving performance in a
number of areas such as access for users
with learning disabilities, significant
reductions in pressure ulcers and zero MRSA
cases. However, Clostridium difficile has
presented a significant challenge and the
Trust has worked extensively with partners
to address this health economy issue.
• Deliver on our six quality priorities for the year
(See the Quality Account section for more
information)
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OUR PRIORITIES 2013/14
HCT has set out a number of key themes for
its work in 2013/14. In addition, as part of our
Trust Development Authority (TDA) planning
round, we set the following areas for
performance improvement:
• Infection control
Deliver improvements in Clostridium difficile
performance following issues in the West
Hertfordshire health economy during
2012/13.
• Mortality rates
Revise measurement and categorisation of
all deaths in HCT bed based units, to develop
better measures and benchmarks with other
community Trusts. This builds on the Francis
Report recommendations and reflects the
lack of a standard mortality rate measure
in community services.
• Net promoter
Extend the roll out of the national
‘Friends and Family’ test and improve the
Trust’s performance. This reflects a key
recommendation from the Francis Report
and is an area where the Trust has already
made progress.

• Workforce productivity
Address productivity variations across the
Trust, using the new Service Line Reporting
tool and the opportunity from mobile working
technology deployment.
• Average length of stay
Deliver improvements in length of stay in our
bed based units, promoting a more efficient
service and improving rehabilitation. This will
link to work with the commissioners on the
role of the intermediate care bed base.
The Trust has also undertaken an extensive
programme developing business unit level plans.
These have identified projects and priorities
for the year as well as Cost Improvement
Programme proposals. The priorities are well
aligned with the trust stratigic objectives and
priorities set out below.

Business plan priorities
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Adult Core West

• Review bed model, including staff base and patient stratification
• HomeFirst delivery in Hertsmere and potential roll out
• Post Acute Care and Enablement service as part of wider service reconfiguration
• Address community nursing variation and integration of local community teams
• Mobile working and electronic patient record roll out

Adult Core East
and North

• HomeFirst delivery in Lower Lea Valley and potential roll out
• Transform beds offer and reduce length of stay
• Mobile working and clinical leadership of community teams
• Stroke/neuro redesign including new stroke pathway and explore extension of service
• Tackle productivity variation

Adult Ambulatory
and Specialist

• Self-management culture
• Clinical leadership and service line management
• Integration of specialist services with core (e.g. cardiac; HomeFirst)
• Contract management
• Exploring new opportunities in podiatry and skin health

Children’s Services

• Universal, targeted and specialist service alignment and integration
• Health Visitor expansion
• Redesign of school nursing service
• Speech and Language Therapy transformation
• Integrated Occupational Therapy with Hertfordshire County Council
• Challenging Behaviour Psychology Service (CBPS) waiting time reduction
• Tender for Step2; CBPS; adoption and fostering service in Essex
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The Trust has also worked to identify key support from corporate services to ensure delivery
of this challenging agenda.
Key support
Quality Directorate

• High Value Healthcare framework implementation
• Quality governance framework, Board Governance Assurance Framework and
board development
• Implementation of Francis report recommendations
• Implementation of professional leadership strategy and strengthened
clinical engagement
• Delivery of quality improvement plan, risk management plan and embedding
of risk escalation
• Preparation for the NHS Litigation Authority (NHS LA) reassessment
• Quality Account, Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINS) and
quality priorities

Finance Directorate

• Service Line Reporting (SLR) roll out
• Financial Balance including Cost Improvment Programme (CIPs)
• Maintain NHS information governance toolkit Level 2
• Performance manage the contract with the NHS Property Company (PropCo)
• Contracts/SLA for all income and expenditure
• Increase financial skills/understanding across the Trust

Human Resources
and Organisational
Development

• Staff engagement
• Leadership forums and development
• New mechanisms for staff recognition
• caSHaWd (Health and Wellbeing) accreditation
• New electronic system appraisal and timeline
• New workforce Information/Analytics service provision
• Equality Delivery System
• Improved recruitment system and processes
• Pensions auto-enrolment
• Medical Revalidation
• Delivery of Transformation Skills Development

Strategy and Business
Development

• Foundation Trust application
• Membership and communication
• Mobile Working implementation
• Market Strategy delivery
• CIPs implementation
• Business Intelligence including High Value Healthcare and Data Quality
• Full implementation of Performance Management Framework
• Contractual expertise and commissioning relationships
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Summary of financial performance

The Trust achieved an Income and Expenditure (I&E) surplus of £1,308,000 for the financial year
2012/13. A comparison of planned and actual performance is shown in the table below.
Summary of financial performance
2012/13 Plan
£000s

2012/13 Outturn
£000s

Variance

£122,449

£127,130

-£4,681

-3.8%

£2,277

£1,952

£325

14.3%

£124,726

£129,082

-£4,356

-3.5%

Pay costs

£94,262

£93,773

£489

0.5%

Non-pay costs

£28,399

£33,196

-£4,797

-16.9%

£122,661

£126,969

-£4,308

-3.5%

£2,065

£2,113

-£48

-2.3%

Interest receivable

£0

-£26

£26

Interest payable

£0

£32

-£32

Depreciation

£768

£696

£72

9.4%

Amortisation

£68

£102

-£34

-50.0%

PDC dividend

£0

£1

-£1

£0

£0

£1,308
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£000s

% of plan

Income
Clinical income
Non-clinical income
TOTAL INCOME

Expenses

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EBITDA*

Exceptional items
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

£1,229

-2.20%

*EBITDA means Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation charges

NHS Trusts have a statutory duty to break even in terms of income and expenditure. In order to
achieve this position we instigated a Cost Improvement Programme which identified schemes
across the organisation to make efficiencies or reduce costs. This included the restructuring of
some services to release costs through new ways of working and savings on the procurement
of goods and services.
The planned outturn differs from the actual due to the high level of vacancies that occurred
throughout the year. Spend on non-pay was significantly higher than plan, due to costs arising
from our Foundation Trust application.
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Capital investment

Cash

We invested £3.8m in capital schemes.
The Department of Health set a Capital Resource
Limit of £4.0m, and no overspend is permitted.
This duty has therefore been achieved.

NHS Trusts are required to manage cash within
their notified External Financing Limit (EFL).
This limit is set by the Department of Health
and determines how much cash a Trust may
spend beyond that generated by its normal
day to day operations. It is a breach of its
financial duty to overspend against the EFL.
We delivered an undershoot of £7.7m which
means that we have met our obligation.
We had £10.7m cash in the bank at the end
of the year and this is an increase of £2m on
the cash held at 31st March 2012.

We spent much of this funding on developing
mobile working across a number of clinical
services and purchasing IT software to improve
systems. We also invested in improving a
number of healthcare sites, some to enhance
patient facilities and some to clear a backlog
of maintenance, including replacing boilers
and heating systems. We also invested in
medical equipment.
In 2013/14 we are expecting to invest a
further £4m. This will be spent on continuing
roll-out of mobile technologies to our front-line
staff and a major refurbishment of several of
our clinics.

The Trust is required to comply with the Better
Practice Payment Code (BPPC). The code requires
organisations to pay 95% of suppliers within
30 days of receiving a valid invoice.
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Better Payment Practice Code - % value of creditor invoices paid in 30 days and 10 days
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◼2011/12 ◼2012/13 ◼Target ◼10 Day
Plans for estate 2012/13
HCT occupies 49,000m2 of space within 78
sites across Hertfordshire. The portfolio is
diverse and includes office space, community
health clinics, and community hospitals with
inpatient units. In some buildings, HCT is the
only tenant whereas in some properties it
shares space with other users. 49% of the
HCT estate is freehold.
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These sites have been owned, leased and
managed by NHS Hertfordshire. However some
of these properties transferred to the ownership
of the Trust on 1 April 2013. During 2012/13
the Trust finalised the properties for transfer
and these were agreed with NHS Hertfordshire.
In total, 50 properties with a value of £45m
will transfer.
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The operational performance of the Trust

The Trust aims to provide the very highest
quality services at all times. A key part of
maintaining our high standards is to deliver
on achieving national targets.
The table below provides an indication of overall activity for the year.
Patient Activity Figures

2011/12

2012/13

Total face to face contacts

1,567,159

1,715,313

155,830

191,338

1,722,989

1,906,651

301,213

296,414

80,874

79,006

Minor injuries attendances

7,454

7,681

Total admissions

3,639

3,469

Total non-face to face contacts
Total contacts
Total referrals received
Occupied bed days

Operational performance
The Trust continued to perform strongly in
2012/13. In particular, we achieved eight of
the nine regional/national indicators with only
C. difficile not meeting target levels reflecting
health system wide issues. For 100% of
patients that attended our minor injuries unit
they were seen within the national standard

of 4 hours. We achieved 99.7% for our
Referral To Treatment (RTT) indicator for
consultant led services. This puts HCT in the
position of being one of the most consistent
and best performing aspirant Foundation
Trusts in the country.
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National and regional performance targets
National targets and Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) have been met in 2012/13,
including:

Performance against indicators set with the
Strategic Health Authority (SHA) and Primary
Care Trust (PCT) have been within target levels.
These include:

• 18 weeks referral to treatment time
• Genitourinary Medicine (GUM) access
(offered and seen)
• newborn hearing screening
• retinal screening access
(offered and screened)
• minor injuries four hour access
- 100% achievement

• MRSA cases are below the trajectory agreed
with PCT
• HCT has had zero mixed sex accommodation
breaches
• 18 weeks referral to treatment for nonconsultant led services at 99.8% in February
against a target of 98%
• district nurse response times are within
expected levels

• Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccination
One target was not met:
• Clostridium difficile
- exceeded the ceiling set by
NHS Hertfordshire.

• achieving and maintaining NHS delayed
transfers of care at 4.4% compared to a
target of 5%
• achieving length of stay targets for stroke
patients at 37 days compared to a target of 42
• community matron caseloads at 50 per
whole time equivalent (wte)
• Venous Thromboembolism assessments
completed in 99.9% of admitted patients
• 93% of new birth visits conducted within
14 days of birth against a target of 90%
• achieving Chlamydia screening targets.
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The following table sets out performance against our main targets. Further information on
performance against quality standards is included in the Quality Account.
Main target performance
Key performance indicators

2012/13
Target

2012/13
Performance

National indicators
Minor injuries patients seen < 4 hours

95%

100%

Mixed sex accommodation breaches

0

0

Avoidable MRSA Bacteremia

3

0

15

18

C. difficile infections
Venous thromboembolism assessments

100%

99.9%

Regional / Local indicators
Percentage of GUM patients seen < 48Hrs

85%

88%

Percentage of GUM patients offered < 48Hrs

98%

99.9%

New born hearing screening - % babies screened within
1 month of birth

95%

98%

100%

100%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has been screened
in 2010/2011

80%

86%

18 Weeks Pledge 2

98%

99.8%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has been offered
an annual screen

Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)

Dose 1 90%
Dose 2 90%
Dose 3 90%

On trajectory

District Nursing response times

100%

100%

NHS delayed transfer of care

5%

4.4%

Stroke Patients ALOS

42

36.7

Community Matron caseload

50

51

100%

100%

Level 1

Level 1 (Green)

Not set

64% (average)

District Nursing response times
Clinical governance
NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) clinical negligence level
Patient experience
Net Promoter Score
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Principal risks and uncertainties

As is the case in the NHS as a whole, the Trust faces a number of challenges
due to the growing demand on services at a time of financial uncertainty.
Key risks

Commissioning and service strategies

The Trust’s corporate risk registers and
governance processes are designed to assess
the impact of any identified risks to Trust
plans, and ensure that as far as possible they
are managed and mitigated.

If commissioners’ preferred models of care are
not aligned with HCT strategy this could lead
to suboptimal service provision. To mitigate
this risk, HCT will engage with GPs and
commissioners to develop persuasive
proposals. We will also ensure delivery of
service improvements through clearly
developed project plans and leadership.

Those objectives which run the greatest risk
of not being achieved are reviewed regularly
by the Executive Team, the Audit Committee
and the Board. Independent assurance is also
provided by the Trust’s Internal Auditors and
other sources.
The main strategic risks that face the Trust in
2012/13 are set out in the Trust’s Board
Assurance Framework. As at the 1 April 2013
these were:
Competition and quality
Plurality of providers
The move to develop plurality of providers
could lead commissioners to open up HCT
business to new competition. To mitigate this
risk, HCT will develop innovative models of
care, and demonstrate value to commissioners.
Competition and quality
Quality of services
The perception that some Trust services are not
of sufficient quality may lead Commissioners
to open up specific areas of HCT business to
competition. HCT will ensure effective Board
governance of quality while engaging with
commissioners on a continuing basis and
clearly communicating benefits to
commissioners and patients.
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Commissioning transition
Transition in commissioning arrangements may
delay pursuing Trust strategy to shift care into
community settings. HCT is engaging with
commissioners and partners to demonstrate
the value of HCT proposed models of care and
to build their appetite. We will continue to
develop our pilots to demonstrate value and
build capability and skills e.g. HomeFirst.
Management of resources
Internal
If HCT does not manage its resources
effectively, this will result in failure to deliver
the Trust CIPs and other improvement
programmes. This risk is being mitigated
through effective staff engagement, strong
financial governance and a financial
management programme that effectively
holds business units to account.
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Management of resources
beyond HCT’s control
Failure to manage resources beyond HCT control
may lead to additional demands on HCT services.
HCT is mitigating this risk through effective
engagement of commissioners, robust
negotiation of position and appropriate data
to support these conversations. Furthermore,
the development of new currencies will support
new models for contracting.

Quality
Increased incidence of Clostridium difficile may
lead to risks to patient safety and breach the
Trust’s contracted ceiling. HCT is applying
infection control policies across the Trust and
working across the health economy with
commissioners and other providers. Further, the
Trust has engaged with the Health Protection
Agency on controls and actions that recognise
this as a key area of priority in 2013/14.

Internal Transformation
Slow or inefficient delivery of internal
transformation may lead to failure in essential
service change. HCT is ensuring adequate
capacity through strong management of
change programmes, effective monitoring and
dedicated workforce development, including
our own talent management programme.
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Monitoring performance

Internal
The Trust Board approved a new Performance
Management Framework in September 2012.
It ensures alignment between clinical and
non-clinical operational performance, activity,
finance and quality to enable the Board and
Trust management to:
• assess performance against targets
• determine what action is necessary to address
performance issues
• predict future performance and key actions
• focus resource and attention in required areas.
The Performance Management Framework relies
on a hierarchy of performance management
arrangements covering the Board through
to individuals and line managers, essentially
leading to a ‘Patient to Board’ overview.
This is represented diagrammatically below.

Level 1

The Board receives a monthly Integrated Board
Performance Report (IBPR) detailing progress and
achievement against the High Value Healthcare
framework and its strategic objectives.
The Board reviews the IBPR monthly for
assurance that we are delivering against the
agreed trajectories. It is supported in this
function by the Strategy and Resources
Committee, established in 2012, and the
Audit Committee, which plays a critical role in
assuring the Board that internal systems and
processes are effective.
Performance indicators reflect national (DH,
TDA and Monitor), commissioner and locally
agreed targets/objectives to support delivery
of overall HCT organisational objectives.
Indicators include those defined in the quality
section of the contract with HCT's main
commissioner. Trajectories are identified for
each, with RAG ratings developed for all
indicators. The performance indicators are

Trust Board
Integrated Board Performance Report with performance against Monitor
and other strategic KPIs.
Executive and NED: Performance overseen at the Strategy and Resources
Committee with more detailed review and challenge

Level 2
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Business Unit
Performance and risk reviewed by the Executive Directors at
Business Unit Performance Reviews using High Value Health
Care metrics

Level 3

Service
Performance reviewed by Business Unit Management
Teams at Service Performance Reviews

Level 4

Team and individual
Performance metrics overseen by
line management
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reviewed on an annual basis.

Further, reports to the Board include information
on benchmarking of HCT performance relative to
other organisations, including Community Trusts
where HCT is a member of a benchmarking
network.
Below the Board, there is a clear Executive
Performance Framework. This delivers
performance management, primarily through
a series of monthly Business Unit Performance
Review (BUPR) meetings. Each Business Unit
reports performance on a monthly basis to the
Executive Team. This is in the form of a
‘performance pack’. The management of this
process is aligned with the Trust Performance
Management Framework with the
development of more autonomy for services.
Reporting to the Strategic Health Authority
and Trust Development Authority
During 2012/13, the Trust reported to NHS
Midlands & East cluster of SHAs through
the SHA’s “Provider Management Regime”.
This was based around Monitor’s Compliance
Framework for Foundation Trusts and involved:
• the submission of a detailed Annual Plan,
which included a self assessment of
governance, financial and contractual risk
• reporting monthly on how the Trust was
performing. This was through self-certified
completion of a model template which was
a month by month assessment of the Trust’s
Governance Risk Rating (GRR), Financial Risk
Rating (FRR) and Contractual Risk Rating
which were then assessed against the
Annual Plan risk projections. The monthly
return was also supported by a declaration
which set out Board confirmation of the
position on compliance with national targets
and other prescribed requirements

The new external reporting mechanism has been
set out by the NHS Trust Development Authority.
This will broadly mirror the arrangements above
but reflecting changes in approach regarding
licensing by Monitor. HCT successfully negotiated
its significant contracts with commissioners
by 31 March 2013 and submitted its Annual
Operating Plan to the TDA on the deadline of
5 April 2013.
For 2012/13 the Trust projected and was
rated as the following:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
Governance Risk Rating: Red
(following the overriding C Diff rule)
Financial Risk Rating: 3
For 2013/14 the Trust is projecting:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
Governance Risk Rating: Green
Financial Risk Rating: 3
Care Quality Commission
As at March 2013, HCT is registered with
the CQC without conditions. Following an
unannounced visit to Herts and Essex
Community Hospital in November 2012, this
location was judged to be non-compliant with
outcome 14 (supporting workers). In March
2013, after their review of our evidence, the
CQC agreed with our judgement that the
Trust was again compliant.

• meeting with the SHA every month to
review the Trust’s performance.
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Patient care - listening and learning

Gathering the views and experiences of people who use our services and
using these to improve the quality of the care we provide, is important to us. We
encouraged people to give us their feedback individually and collectively.
Over 9,000 people gave us feedback using
our surveys.
More than 4,500 gave or sent in compliments
and comments, 233 sent in complaints and
736 contacted our Patient Advice & Liaison
Service (PALS), and many more gave us feedback
in person. 88% of our services introduced
changes as a direct result of feedback.

Principles for Remedy
The Trust follows the six principles set down
by the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman in ‘Principles for Remedy’
(revised April 2012).
The aim of these principles is to ensure that
instances of injustice or hardship as a result of
poor service or maladministration are redressed.

National survey results
The principles are:
As a community NHS Trust we do not participate
in the national inpatient survey but we do
undertake our own inpatient surveys which
include the national questions.
64% of patients are promoters of our services
to a relative or friend (using the national net
promoter score) and 95% rated their overall care
as ‘very good or excellent’ - an improvement
from 90% in 2011/12. Fewer staff would be
happy with the standard of care at the Trust if
family or friends needed treatment - a rating
of 3.47 in the national Staff Survey compared
to 3.52 last year and lower than the national
average.
Complaints, compliments and PALS
HCT received 233 complaints in 2012/13
compared to 190 complaints during 2011/12.
With the exception of one month, over 80%
of complaints were investigated and responded
to within the timescale agreed with the
complainant. Two complaints were forwarded
to the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman but neither was investigated.
Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
received 719 enquiries in 2012/13 compared
to 488 in 2011/12, and responded to 94%
within 24-hours.

1 Getting it right
2 Being customer focused
3 Being open and accountable
4 Acting fairly and proportionately
5 Putting things right
6 Seeking continuous improvement.
How have we met these principles?
• we have incorporated the NHS complaints
procedures into our own policy
• the Chief Executive and Director of Quality
& Governance/Chief Nurse take a personal
interest in all complaints and the quality of
investigation and response
• we have a responsive Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) which can resolve
many problems or concerns without the
need for a formal complaint
• we have in place a ‘losses and compensations’
procedure
• regular reporting to the Board of complaints
received as part of the Trust’s performance
monitoring.

HCT received 4,503 compliments in 2012/13
compared to 3,047 in 2011/12.
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Privacy and dignity

Patient Environment Action Team (PEAT)

99.6% of patients who gave us their feedback
in 2012/13 said they were treated with dignity
and respect and 92% said they were always
given enough privacy when discussing or
receiving their treatment.

PEAT assessments were undertaken within
our bed based sites in 2012 with all 10 sites
achieving good or excellent scores for all three
domains, environment, food and privacy &
dignity, and an improvement from three
acceptable scores for food in 2011.

We have maintained compliance with same
sex accommodation within our inpatient units
and have ongoing monitoring of compliance,
and will continue to deliver care in same sex
accommodation except where it is in the
overall best interest of the patient or reflects
their personal choice.

PEAT is being replaced by Patient Led
Assessments of the Care Environment, in
which patients will make up at least 50% of
the assessment team. These will take place
from April - June 2013.

The top three categories of complaints and PALS enquiries
Complaints

PALS

Standards of Care (21%)

Information about non-HCT services (38%)

Access to Services (16%)

Relaying compliments (20%)

Staff attitude (14%)

Communication (13%)

PEAT assesment
Location

Environment

Food score

Privacy and
dignity score

Potters Bar Community Hospital

Good

Excellent

Good

Gossoms End Elderly Care Unit

Excellent

Excellent

Excellent

Hitchin Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Danesbury

Good

Good

Good

Royston Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Hertfordshire & Essex Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Langley House

Good

Excellent

Good

Queen Victoria Memorial Hospital

Good

Good

Good

St Peters

Good

Good

Good

Runcie Unit

Good

Good

Good
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Infection prevention and control

West Hertfordshire Health Economy has seen an increase in the number of
patients diagnosed with Clostridium difficile infection (CDI). All organisations
in the West are working collaboratively to ensure that the situation improves
and the rates of cases are reduced.
This work will continue in 2013/14 to ensure
that lessons learnt are embedded. Experts
visited to review practices in a bed-based unit
in Garston and concluded that ”the risk of
transmission is well controlled due to the high
standards of infection prevention and control
in place.” (HPA Specialists July 2012).

HCT escalated four CDI periods of increased
incidence (two cases of CDI within 28 days on
one unit) during which the auditing of clinical
practice, staff education, deep cleaning and
increased daily cleaning of the environment is
undertaken to avoid other patients developing
this infection.

HCT has seen an increase in CDI cases as
part of the health economy concern and our
organisation had three cases over the ceiling
set by NHS Hertfordshire (ceiling 15 for April
2012 - March 2013) with 18 cases in total.
This is more cases than we would have expected
following a number of years of decline in cases.

One CDI period of increased incidence was
declared as an outbreak (three cases within
28 days on one unit - July 2012) and we
invited experts from the Health Protection
Agency to visit our unit to ensure that we
were following best practice. We did not
have any subsequent outbreaks in year.

Infection prevention and control target performance
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Key performance indicators

2012/13

Infection Control

Ceiling

2012/13
Performance

MRSA blood stream infections (avoidable)
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good

3

0

Clostridium difficile
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good

15

18

Compliance with hand hygiene in the bed-based units
will be more than 95%

95%

99.8%

% of relevant patients screened for MRSA on admission
to bed-based units

100%

99.8%

Patient experience

Target

% of patients reporting positively about cleanliness of
environment in bed-based units

Not set

99.8%

% of patients reporting that staff washed their hands

Not set

99.7%
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Diarrhoea and vomiting comparison 2007 - 2012
Year
Number of outbreaks

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

6

12

9

1

4

3

We communicated clearly to our doctors on the
good practice in preventing and controlling
CDI. Guidelines have been developed on the
prescribing of proton pump inhibitors (which
are considered to be a risk factor for developing
CDI) and the need for doctors to review this
medication on admission. Our antibiotic
guidelines have been revised and an antibiotic
and proton pump inhibitor audit was undertaken
in our bed-based units in March 2013, the
results of which are being analysed.
Between April 2012 to March 2013 five of
our units/wards did not report any CDI cases.
Of the 7 units that had CDI cases in the year
there have been four that had just one case.
This is important to note, as the control
measures implemented in each unit have
avoided any subsequent cases developing.

A key part of maintaining our high standards
is to deliver on national targets related to
healthcare associated infections (HCAIs).
During 2012/13 there were three outbreaks
of diarrhoea and/or vomiting in three of our
community hospitals. All three outbreaks were
confirmed to be Norovirus (winter vomiting
disease). All outbreaks are managed in line with
local escalation processes. The three different
units affected were closed to admissions
during the outbreaks to ensure that control
measures could be exercised and the outbreak
could be brought to a conclusion as quickly
and safely as possible. The Health Protection
Agency has confirmed that for the 2012/13
season the number of reports has been 14%
higher nationally than the same period last
season (2011/12) and this has been the same
picture in Hertfordshire trusts and care
homes/schools.
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Working with our partners

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust recognises its strategy can only be delivered
by working effectively in partnership - with other organisations and service
users - to help them live their lives as best they can, independently and where
they choose to.
This is recognised in our commitment ‘Your Partner in Health’ which means being:
• the partner supporting people to improve
their health and well-being - whether older
people remaining out of hospital and away
from acute care, or children needing the
best start in life
• commissioners’ partners - so they can
deliver cost - effective care outside of
expensive acute settings and inappropriate
emergency care
• GPs partners - using our integrally aligned
services to help them support their local
population
• other providers’ partner - working together
in the best interests of patients, helping
discharge them from acute care quickly and
helping mental health providers treat physical
and mental health conditions. We will ensure
programmes of care are effectively co-ordinated
for people
• partner for our staff, delivering an
employment model of partnership and
self-managed teams.
During 2012/13, the Trust increased its external
engagement:
• working with emerging Clinical Commissioning
Groups to ensure clearly aligned strategies
• engaging with the Health and Wellbeing
Board and Scrutiny Committee at the local
authority to increase understanding, share
issues and develop our strategy

• working with our partners at West
Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust to develop
new pathways for patients and developing
a common agenda on key areas with
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust.
The Trust has also focussed on its relationship
with GPs. We have instigated an ‘Eight
Point Plan’ to improve communication and
responsiveness. This includes ensuring local
managers develop their links with GP practices,
putting in place fast-track email and phone
lines and ensuring a Locality Director works
on the senior level relationship.
HCT partnership has witnessed success in
key areas during 2012/13. We have launched
a pilot Integrated Point of Access with
Hertfordshire County Council giving GPs
one number to ring on health and social
care issues.
Most importantly, our close partnership with
commissioners, GPs and Hertfordshire County
Council has led to the launch of two pilots of
‘HomeFirst’. This service aims to improve the
quality of care for patients, responding more
quickly to medical conditions and proactively
managing patients who are at risk of hospital
admission. We will be seeking to extend these
services in 2013/14.
Health scrutiny
We are held to account by Hertfordshire
County Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee
and attend meetings to discuss issues related
to the development of community health care
in Hertfordshire.

• working with partners at Hertfordshire
County Council to develop and integrate the
adult and community services we provide
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Staff wellbeing
Staff engagement
Our vision for our workforce is to have:
The right people, organised in the right way, at the right time, partnering to
deliver High Value Health Care for patients.
This will be delivered through the strategic
objectives set out in our five year Workforce
and Organisational Development Strategy and
supporting work plan. This defines our
commitment to staff in a range of key areas,
including staff engagement, leadership,
training and development, equality & diversity
and health & wellbeing.
We recognise that a properly engaged
workforce is vital to our ability to deliver High
Value Healthcare and the level of service
transformation required.
Staff engagement has been a strong focus over
the past year, with a range of new engagement
initiatives introduced. These include five-year
visioning events with teams, sessions with
clinical teams on the development of High
Value Healthcare in their services and a rolling
programme of Executive led discussions at
team meetings in relation to key issues.
Ongoing communication mechanisms have
been revised to include regular Chief Executive
Updates to all staff, a Chief Nurse Update and
a new format staff e-newsletter.
The Trust has a well-established Joint Negotiating
Committee and engages regularly with union
and professional association representatives
through its Health and Safety Committee,
Terms and Conditions Sub Group and new
Health and Wellbeing Group, and in relation
to organisational change and individual case
management.
Further staff engagement included our
Celebrating High Value Health Care event, on
23 April 2013. This included the presentation
of our Leading Lights staff recognition awards,
for which there were around 80 high quality
nominations across individual and team
categories.

Staff survey
The 2012/13 survey was run as a sample
survey to a cross-section of 800 staff.
This was supplemented by the introduction
of a quarterly ‘pulse’ and ad hoc ‘hot topic’
surveys sent electronically to all staff. The
response to the annual survey was slightly
lower than last year at 57% (449 staff), with
509 staff responding to the most recent pulse
survey in January 2013.
Staff Survey results were mixed compared to
the previous year, which is likely to be the result
of the high level of organisational change
taking place at that time. Areas where the
Trust scored better than other Community
Trusts included:
• a lower percentage of staff suffering from
work related stress in the last year
• extent to which staff feel they get support
from their immediate managers
• fairness and effectiveness of reporting
procedures
• a lower percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or abuse from colleagues
or from patients/carers in the last year.
With the appointment of an Equality and
Diversity Manager, there was a significant
increase in the number of staff taking equality
and diversity training in the last 12 months.
Our score for staff experiencing discrimination
in the past 12 months was below (so better
than) average compared with other
community trusts.
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Staff wellbeing

Leadership Development
Leadership development continues to be a key
priority for the Trust. In 2012 we implemented
a new management structure and we are
committed to developing high performing
self-managed teams.

Funding from the Local Education and Training
Board was used to enhance the clinical skills
of our staff, focussing on enabling us to
provide treatment that would previously have
required a trip to hospital.

Over the past year we have continued to
develop our leaders at all levels, running a
wide range of programmes, both internally
and in partnership with other Hertfordshire
Trusts. A new programme for our General
Managers and Deputy Directors complements
Business Skills training provided at the
University for our Heads of Services.

We also worked hard to increase the uptake
of health and safety training so that staff are
confident to treat patients safely. 8 out of 10
staff completed the relevant refresher training
and we have plans in place to increase this
further.

Additionally we have introduced quarterly
Leadership Forums, bringing operational
leaders together with the Trust Executive to
develop a common understanding of High
Value Healthcare and to share good leadership
practice. A wider Annual Leaders Conference
took place in June 2013.

• continuing to use high quality national
e-learning to enable our staff to train within
their bases, offering clinical and leadership
courses alongside our regular health and
safety courses

Staff Development
We are committed to continuing to support
and develop our staff through ongoing
transformation over the coming years.
In the past year we have implemented a new
Performance Appraisal system, based on our
values and associated behaviours. This included
training 300 appraisers to improve the quality
of appraisals. We also piloted our electronic
appraisal system, which we intend to roll out
during 2013/14.

38

Other initiatives included:

• offering more multi- topic programmes to
reduce the need for staff to leave their
bases. This will be expanded in 2013/14
• training more coaches - enabling eight more
staff to receive coaching to enhance their
effectiveness. There are plans to extend this
more widely next year
• continuing to support individuals to access
apprenticeships, especially for the first time.
• supporting four individuals with the Open
University Business skills programme.

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Performance report
Staff wellbeing
Equality, diversity and human rights
The Trust has given increased focus to this important area over the last year, under
the leadership of our Equality and Diversity Manager. This has included building
on our work to be a Trust which is personal, fair and diverse, by identifying a
Board level Equality and Human Rights Champion, developing and revising
related policies and increasing access to training.
In March 2013, we reviewed our achievements
against the 18 outcomes of the Equality
Delivery System (EDS). These outcomes focus
on the issues of most concern to patients,
communities and NHS staff. The internal review
panel, which included staff representatives,
recommended three outcomes be upgraded
from developing to achieving, whilst six further
areas were recommended for development to
the excelling category. Only two areas remain
classified as developing, with none being
underdeveloped. These results will be tested
with an external stakeholder panel, including
our LINks partners, in May 2013.

The Trust continues to work towards its
agreed Equality Objective:
• to improve patient diversity monitoring in
order that HCT can report NHS Outcomes
Framework indicators by diversity
• to monitor both complaints and compliments
in line with the Equality Act by all of the
protected characteristics
• develop and implement a Health & Wellbeing
Strategy for the Trust and ensure fully inclusive
talent management initiatives
• implement the competency framework for
equality and diversity leadership to recruit,
develop and support middle managers and
above to advance equality outcomes; deliver
a Board training session on the EDS framework.
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Equal opportunities in employment
HCT is an equal opportunities employer. Our Equality and Diversity Policy aims
to ensure that all employees, irrespective of their background, are supported to
develop their full potential. An equal opportunity statement is included in all
contracts of employment to ensure staff are aware of their responsibilities.

HCT is an equal opportunities employer.
Our Equality and Diversity Policy aims to
ensure that all employees, irrespective of their
background, are supported to develop their
full potential. An equal opportunity statement
is included in all contracts of employment to
ensure staff are aware of their responsibilities.
We are committed to leading and embedding
fairness into the culture and behaviours of our
staff by:
• providing an environment where staff can
thrive, are confident to be themselves, feel
valued and treat each other with fairness,
dignity and respect
• helping and supporting staff to understand
the importance of personalisation, fairness
and diversity in the planning and delivery
of services
• showing zero tolerance towards bullying,
harassment, inappropriate language and
behaviour, and encouraging the reporting of
all cases of discrimination.
HCT is a two ticks symbol champion (as awarded
by Jobcentre plus) for recruiting and supporting
people with disabilities in the workplace.
The Occupational Health Service and HR team
provide clear guidance to managers on the
provision of support for staff with a disability,
including any reasonable adjustments required.

For the 12 month period to March 2013,
our cumulative absence rate (wte) was 4.55%.
This equates to 16.6 calendar days per employee
or 10.24 working days per employee (based
on an average of 225 working days per year).
The absence rate was below 4% for the first
seven months of the year, with an increase in
sickness over the winter months.
To address the wider health and well-being
agenda, we signed up to pursuing ‘Staying
Healthy at Work’ accreditation in 2012/13
under the Strategic Health Authority aSHaWd
scheme. Building on work we have already
done in this area, it is anticipated that working
towards this accreditation will help us strengthen
our approach to health and wellbeing by
bringing all activities together and linking
these to organisational priorities.
A Health and Wellbeing Group has been
set up to develop a work plan. Initiatives to
date have included introducing a Bike2Work
scheme, providing a health kiosk for staff to
assess their health, and putting on resilience
and wellness training. We plan to monitor the
effectiveness of our approach through quarterly
pulse surveys, sickness absence rates and the
data produced through our Employee
Assistance programme.

One of our key workforce priorities is to
sustain positive initiatives for staff health and
wellbeing in recognition of the significant
transformational change we are expecting from
our staff. Strong evidence shows the level of
health and wellbeing of the workforce is a key
indicator of organisational performance and
patient outcomes (NHS Health and Well-being
November 2009 - Boorman Report).
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Occupational Health Performance
The Occupational Health (OH) Department
offers a confidential service providing impartial
advice to all staff. Its aim is to ensure employees’
health and wellbeing are maintained, protected
and promoted.
The team comprises a nurse manager (0.8 WTE),
two senior occupational health nurses (1.5 WTE),
two occupational health clinic nurses (1.2 WTE),
an occupational health physician (0.2 WTE)
and a receptionist (1 WTE).
The department is based at Kingsley Green
near Radlett, and regular clinics are held at
Park Drive Clinic, Baldock, Bedford Road Clinic,
Hitchin and Herts and Essex Hospital, Bishops
Stortford.

• the department issued 203 eye care vouchers
• 759 appointments were attended for
occupational immunisations. During these
appointments 528 vaccines were given for
hepatitis B, varicella (chicken pox), measles,
mumps and rubella. 839 blood tests were
undertaken
• seasonal influenza vaccine was offered to all
staff with direct patient contact. 46 additional
clinics were held at 26 locations. 1105 staff
received the flu vaccine, this is 253 more
than the previous year and equates to 46%
of frontline staff
• there were 33 sharps and splash injuries
reported to OH

During 2012/13:
• 466 OH forms for new members of staff
were assessed. 43 new employees attended
for occupational health assessments

• 406 employees were referred to OH
Department; this is a 7% increase from
2011/12. 951 appointments were attended
for occupational health assessments
following referral.

• new employees attended health and wellbeing
promotion appointments
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Working for a sustainable future

The NHS produces some 18 million tonnes (Mt) of CO2e (Carbon Dioxide equivalent
emissions) each year which represents some 25% of England’s public sector
CO2e emissions. These arise from various activities including energy to power
buildings and services, making and delivering medicines, equipment and goods
and staff, patient and visitor travel.
The main three sources of emissions are:
• procurement (60%)
• building energy (22%)
• travel (18%).
The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy for England
(produced by the NHS Sustainable Development
Unit (SDU) sets out the ambition for the NHS.
Initially, this requires a 10% reduction on the
2007 baseline.

negative impacts, for example, reducing
waste and harmful and environmental or
social impacts. At the same time, maximising
the positive impacts of delivering care by
adding value at every point of contact and
making every effort to enhance health and
reduce the need for services in the first place.
One of HCT’s Strategic Objectives incorporates
sustainability:
Strategic Objective 4
We will use resources efficiently to enhance
our ability to improve services.

Context
This will be achieved by:
HCT undertook a Carbon Footprint audit
(published September 2012). This indicated
carbon emissions of c.7.5 MtCO2e which
represented a small decrease on an equivalent
assessment as at 2008/09. This included both
positive and negative movements in a number
of indicators. For example, gas consumption and
staff travel were lower, however, electricity and
non-emergency patient travel had increased.
HCT’s Strategy
HCT recognises its responsibility to minimise our
impact on the environment and ensure our use
of resources is efficient so we can maximise the
funds available for patient care.
Sustainability underpins HCT’s mission of
enabling independence and preventing
unnecessary interventions.
Whilst reducing carbon emissions is a core
component of HCT’s strategy and articulated
in its five year integrated business plan, this is
only one element of its wider role in supporting
a sustainable healthcare system.

• using the estate effectively to deliver services.
This includes undertaking carbon audits and a
plan for improving the quality of HCT’s estate
• working to become highly efficient in our use
of resources and will re-invest the benefits in
making further improvements in the health
of our population
• investing in technology enablers such as
mobile working, single point of access and
assistive technology to support changes in
working practice which improve delivery of
care and efficiency
• grow the income base of the Trust, increase
our available surplus and use this to support
high levels of investment in further
developments of our services
• seek new business opportunities which
support people’s health and wellbeing.
Governance and Oversight

This will be achieved through minimising
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HCT is also committed to being a Good
Corporate Citizen (GCC). HCT has identified a
Senior Independent Director who is the Non
Executive Director Champion for sustainability.
HCT has also produced a draft Sustainable
Development Management Plan (SDMP) and
is seeking Board approval.

We are developing a Sustainability Strategy to:

Sustainability will be overseen by HCT’s Strategy
& Resources Committee (a formal committee of
the Board).

• apply the principles of sustainable procurement

Key plans
HCT is planning to:
• make continued progress against the “Good
Corporate Citizenship” model, achieving a
minimum score of "Getting there" in at
least four questions in each area of the test,
and "Excellent" in at least two questions in
each area - or achieve a minimum of 56% in
each area of the results
• reduce carbon emissions from buildings by
20% by 2015
• reduce the impact from transport emissions
from staff and patient travel:
- reduce carbon emissions related to staff
business travel
- review how the Trust works across a large
geographical area to minimise its
environmental footprint
- include environmental criteria in specifications
for third party non-emergency and
emergency transport contracts

• embed environmental awareness among our
staff, patients and visitors
• provide training to encourage changes in
behaviour

• reduce the quantities of waste sent to landfill
by smart procurement, waste segregation
and cost-effective recycling
• improve the environmental performance of
the existing estate by implementing low carbon
and water efficient technologies where
suitable, making efficient and responsible
use of resources and applying the principles
of sustainable facilities management
• reduce the environmental impact of staff
and patient travel by ensuring that as much
care as possible can be delivered closer to
patients, the effective use of electronic
information and communications and
encouraging the use of more sustainable
forms of transport where appropriate.

• minimise waste and increase recycling:
- reduce waste by 20% by 2015
- strengthening procurement policies to
include environmental and carbon
management criteria
• increase recycling to 50% by 2015.
Implementation
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Emergency preparedness

HCT’s focus for the first half of the year was
on ensuring the organisation was fully
prepared for the Olympics and Paralympics
and that HCT services, particularly those in the
Lea Valley area, would be able to continue to
function. Business continuity and response
plans were reviewed and awareness sessions
held for key staff groups. HCT also participated
in a number of multi agency exercises.

Following on from the Olympics our work has
been on continued preparedness to respond
with focus, in line with other NHS Trusts in the
region, on hospital evacuation planning and
ensuring all our units have appropriate plans
in place.

The Olympics and Paralympics both passed
without incident for the organisation, but the
work undertaken provided reassurance that
we are fully prepared to respond to an
incident.

Health and safety
The Trust is committed to the health, safety
and welfare of all patients, staff, visitors and
contractors who use Trust premises and support
patients in community settings.

A programme of health and safety audit and
inspection was carried out during 2012/13
and a comprehensive programme is also in
place for 2013/14.

The work of the Health and Safety Group is
aimed at ensuring the Trust operates in a way
that reduces health and safety risks. The Group
oversees the work of Health and Safety staff,
ensures Trust policies reflect good practice
and that an audit programme is in place to
monitor compliance.
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The Trust Board

The Trust Board consists of a Chair, appointed
through the Appointments Commission;
four Non-Executive Directors (also appointed
through the Appointments Commission),
and four voting Executive Directors.
The Board has been supported by a non-voting
Associate Non-Executive Director and three
non-voting Executive Directors.
The Board is responsible for setting and
developing the strategic direction of the
organisation, sustaining business viability
and holding the Executive Directors to
account for all aspects of the organisation’s
activities, including quality and safety of
patient services, financial management and
legal compliance. The role also includes
seeking assurances from the Executive
Directors that risks to the organisation are
being appropriately assessed and managed.

Throughout 2012/13, the Board has undertaken
an extensive programme of development,
supported in part by the Good Governance
Institute (GGI). The programme of development
will continue throughout 2013/14.
The Board of the Trust is also corporate trustee
for Hertfordshire NHS charitable funds, in respect
of which a separate report and accounts are
published.

In 2012/13, the HCT Board met formally in
public every other month from April to July
2012 and every month thereafter, with the
exception of December 2012. The Board also
holds “Board Briefing” or “Board Development
Sessions” on the same day as Board meetings
in public.
The Board has a duty to operate in a way that
is transparent and to comply with best practice
in probity. To this end, the Board has signed up
to following the “Nolan Principles” of good
governance, The NHS Code of Conduct and
Accountability and The NHS Code of Openness.
The Board has also subscribed to principles of
Board Etiquette as set out in the NHS Integrated
Governance Handbook.
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THE BOARD OF THE TRUST AS AT 31 MARCH 2013
Declan O’Farrell (FCCA)
Chair
Declan was appointed Chair of Hertfordshire Community Health Services
in February 2010. He was Chair of West Herts College in Dacorum for eight
years leading the transformation of a failing college to Beacon status
awarded in February 2012. Previously he was Chair of a Training and
Enterprise Council in London and Business Link London. He was awarded
a CBE in 2000 for services to businesses in London. ACCA qualified he
was a financial controller for London Transport, becoming MD of a bus
division, which following privatisation, was successfully listed on the
London Stock exchange.
In addition to Chairing the Trust Board, Declan also chairs the Strategy
and Resources Committee and is a member of the Healthcare
Governance and Remuneration Committees.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15)
Anne McPherson (RFN, RN, RM, DipN, MA)
Non Executive Director
Anne was appointed NED in April 2010. Her professional background is
a nurse and midwife, with extensive board level experience as Chief Nurse
for Hertfordshire health authorities in the East and the West of the County,
as well as a number of Director of Nursing posts. She has extensive expertise
in quality improvement, having a special interest in patient experience and
patient safety. Anne has served as a non-executive director for Dacorum
PCT, West Hertfordshire PCT, appointed Governor at HPFT and as a Trustee
for Isabel Hospice for a number of years. Currently Independent Lay Chair
of the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Performance Advisory Group.
Anne is Chair of the Healthcare Governance and Remuneration
Committees and is a member of the Audit Committee and Strategy and
Resources Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15)
Jeff Phillips (BSc, ACMA, FCT)
Non Executive Director
Jeff was appointed in September 2011 and is a qualified accountant.
He has had a wide and varied career in the telecommunication and
chemical industries. He has also served as a non-executive director
for Luton Community Services and is currently Chair of CHUMS, the
bereavement and trauma social enterprise based in Bedfordshire.
He is Vice Chair of the School Governors of Manland School Harpenden
and a member of Hertfordshire County Council Schools’ Appeals Panel.
Jeff was appointed as Chair of the Trust’s Audit Committee from March
2012 and he is a member of the Healthcare Governance Committee,
Strategy and Resources Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/09/11 - 31/08/15
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Alan Russell (HND)
Non Executive Director
Alan was appointed NED in April 2010. He was previously Managing
Director of Logica Consulting UK, prior to which he was the MD of Atos
Consulting and Chair of its global consulting Board. Both companies
engaged in complex transformational change programmes for public
and private sector organisations. He was a Director of the Management
Consultancies Association and President in 2005.
Alan is Vice Chair of the Trust Board and Senior Independent Director (SID).
He is also Chair of the Foundation Trust Steering Group and a member of
the Strategy and Resources Committee
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15)
Neil Johnston* (BSc and D.Phil, with Diplomas in Company Direction
(Institute of Directors) and Marketing)
Associate Non-Executive Director
Neil was appointed as a NED in June 2012 and his career encompasses
both public and private sector experience notably as Director of Group
Strategy for Anglian Water and Managing Director of a subsidiary and
at the Centre for Exploitation of Science and Technology. He also ran his
own low energy construction business and has held a NED role at the
East of England Strategic Health Authority.
Neil is an associate member of the Audit Committee, Strategy and
Resources Committee, Remuneration Committee and Foundation Trust
Steering Group.
(Initial) Period of Appointment: 01/06/12 - 31/05/13
David Law (BA (Hons)
Chief Executive
David took up post as Chief Executive in March 2012 and has extensive
knowledge of the health service in Hertfordshire. He worked in a number
of planning roles in health organisations in the County during the 1990s
before joining West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust in 2001 as Director
of Strategy. In 2004 he was appointed Chief Executive of the Trust, a post
he held until 2007. After this he worked mainly in the NHS in London and
led on a number of projects involving service change and the transfer of
PCT community services to NHS Trusts.
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Dr Hemal Desai (MBBS, BSc (Hons); MSc, MRCGP, DRCOG)
Medical Director
Hemal was appointed in February 2012. He has previously worked as a
GP in London and practises as a sessional GP, having worked in over 70
primary care service settings including urgent care, inner city practices,
multi-partner health centres, out-of-hours provision, nurse-led practices
and prison services. Since 2006 he has also worked as a clinical lead on a
number of Department of Health and SHA projects and he has provided
clinical leadership in the ground breaking Hinchingbrooke ‘Next Steps’
project and led ‘Transforming Pathology Services’ which was one of the
largest service transformation programmes in the East of England.
Clare Hawkins (BSc)
Director of Quality & Governance and Chief Nurse
Clare joined HCT as Director of Quality and Governance in March 2011,
having previously worked as Deputy Director and Director of Nursing and
Quality in NHS Hertfordshire. Clare trained as a nurse, District Nurse and
Nurse Practitioner. Since 1995 her NHS management experience includes
a number of posts in London and as Director of Nursing and Operations
and Deputy Chief Executive for Dacorum PCT. Her particular areas of
interest are patient safety, patient experience and clinical leadership.
Clare is the Board lead for safeguarding.
Sean McKeever* (BSc, FCA)
Director of Finance & Commerce
Sean was appointed in December 2011 having worked for most of his
career in Northern Ireland where he had over 18 years experience as a
Chief Executive/Finance Director in the province's health and social care
services. Prior to HCT, his most recent post in the health service was as
Chief Executive and Accountable Officer of the Southern Health and Social
Services Board in Northern Ireland from 2006 to 2009. He has also worked
overseas on an EU funded project in Kosovo.
Julie Hoare* (RGN, RSCN, DipHV)
Director of Operations*
Julie was appointed Director of Operations in March 2012, having taken on
the role of Acting Director of Operations in December 2010, after joining
the organisation as Assistant Director of Operations in September 2009.
She is a registered nurse and health visitor, and started her management
career in 1997. Julie is particularly interested in service transformation
and staff development.
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Alison Shelley* (BA (Hons); MCIPD)
Director of HR and Organisational Development*
Alison joined the Trust in March 2012 and has over 20 years of HR experience in the private sector in
large, complex organisations in the aerospace and health care sectors. Alison was appointed to
her first management role in 1994. Her experience covers a breadth of HR disciplines, including
strategy formulation, talent management, leadership development, organisational change and
employee engagement. From 2006, prior to joining the NHS, Alison undertook global HR
leadership roles for GE Healthcare.

John Curnow* (BA (Hons); MSc)
Director of Strategy and Business Development
John was appointed in May 2012 and was previously an Associate Director at Royal Cornwall
Hospitals NHS Trust, having also worked as an operational manager in acute hospital and
community services, and as a PCT Head of Performance.
Prior to his career in the NHS, John worked in central government providing policy and economic
advice to a number of Government Departments and Ministers. This included working as a
government economist and heading up the NHS Spending Review for HM Treasury in 2007.

The following were members of the Board during the year 2012/13
Dr. Chris Hanvey*
Non Executive Director (from 01/05/12 until 09/10/12)
* Non Voting Member

AUDITORS
Internal Audit Services have been provided by
RSM Tenon and the external Auditors were the
Audit Commission, who were first appointed in
November 2010 and whose tenure as external
auditors ran to August 2012, after which they
continued to provide a service having been
subsumed by Ernst & Young.

As far as the directors are aware there is no
relevant audit information of which the NHS
body’s auditors are unaware and that the
directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors
are aware of that information.

PwC have been appointed as internal auditors
from April 2013 to March 2016
The cost of external audit for work undertaken
in 2012/13 was £54,693 plus VAT. (2011/12 =
£114,500). The external auditors have not
undertaken any non-audit work which may
have given rise to conflict of interest or
compromised the audit function.
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Public interest disclosures

Counter fraud policies and procedures

Remuneration Committee membership:

The Secretary of State’s Directions 2004 on
work to counter fraud and corruption require
NHS bodies to appoint a Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS). Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust has an accredited and nominated LCFS
who reports directly to the Director of Finance.

• Declan O’Farrell: Chair of HCT

The Trust has a Counter Fraud and Anti Bribery
Policy and Response Plan that is communicated
to all staff via the induction process and is
held on the Trust’s extranet. The work plan for
2012/2013 was not fully completed on account
of long term sickness absence, but a plan for
2013/2014 has been agreed. All investigations
and progress against the work plan are monitored
by the Director of Finance on a monthly basis
and reported to the Audit Committee on a
quarterly basis.
Charges for information
The Trust complies with Treasury Guidance on
setting charges for information.
(See Annex 6 of “Managing Public Money”
(HM Treasury, February 2010)
The Trust does not normally charge for
information requested under the Freedom
of Information Act (FOI). However, it reserves
the right to charge for information that
incurs high photocopying or retrieval costs.
People making requests under the FOI Act
are informed in advance of any costs that
will be charged.
Remuneration Committee
HCT has a Remuneration Committee which
makes decisions on behalf of the HCT Board
on the remuneration, terms and service and
performance related pay of the Chief Executive
and Executive Directors and other members
of HCT staff on very senior manager terms
and conditions.
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• Anne McPherson: Non-Executive Director
and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
• Jeff Phillips: Non-executive Dircector and
Chair of the Audit Committee.
Executive Directors who attend (except when
their remuneration or terms and conditions of
service are discussed) are:
• David Law: Chief Executive
• Alison Shelley: Director of Human Resources
& Organisational Development.
During 2012/2013, the Committee met once, on
25 October 2012. The subject for consideration
was the pay for executive directors.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and
the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid
director in Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in the financial year 2012/13 was £142,500
(2011/12, £137,500). This was 4.9 times
(2011/12, 4.9 times) the median remuneration
of the workforce, which was £28,911
(2011/12, £27,884).
In 2012/13, no employees received
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director (2011/12, nil). Remuneration ranged
from £13,900 to £115,000 (2011/12 £13,700
- £100,500)
Total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind as well as severance
payments. It does not include employer
pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
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Senior managers’ remuneration
Salaries and pensions
Salaries and allowances 2012/13
Name and title

Dates

Salary
bands of
£5,000
£000

Bonus
Benefits
Payments in Kind
bands of rounded to
£5,000 nearest £00
£000
00

Declan O'Farell
Chair

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£20 - £25

£0

£0

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2012 - 13/02/2013

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Chris Hanvey
Non-Executive Director

09/05/2012 - 09/10/2012

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Neil Johnston
Non-Executive Director

01/06/2012 - 31/03/2013

£5 - £10

£0

£0

David Law
Chief Executive

01/04/2012 -31/03/2013 £140 - £145

£0

£0

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance & Commerce

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013 £110 - £115

£0

£0

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£90 - £95

£0

£0

Alison Shelley
Director of Human Resources

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£95 - £100

£0

£0

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013

£85 - £90

£0

£0

Dr Hemel Desai
Medical Director

01/04/2012 - 31/03/2013 £110 - £115

£0

£0

John Curnow
Director of Strategy

28/05/2012 - 31/03/2013

£0

£0

£75 - £80
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Salaries and allowances 2011/12
Name and title

Dates

Salary
bands of
£5,000
£000
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Bonus
Benefits
Payments in Kind
bands of rounded to
£5,000 nearest £00
£000
00

Declan O'Farell
Chair

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£20 - £25

£0

£0

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

14/09/2011 - 31/03/2012

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Alison White
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/02/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

David Law
Chief Executive

05/03/2012 -31/03/2012

£10 - £15

£0

£0

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance & Commerce

01/12/2011 - 31/03/2012

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£75 - £80

£0

£0

Alison Shelley
Director of Human Resources

13/03/2012 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£70 - £75

£0

£0

Dr Hemel Desai
Medical Director

13/02/2012 - 31/03/2012

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Derek Smith *
Interim Chief Executive

09/05/2011 - 31/03/2012 £230 - £235

£0

£0

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

01/04/2011 - 07/08/2011

£30 - £35

£0

£0

John Summer *
Director of Finance & Commerce

11/07/2011 - 07/08/2012

£80 - £85

£0

£0

Karen Taylor 1
Deputy Chief Executive

01/04/2011 - 26/02/2012 £100 - £105

£0

£0

Gloria Barber
Director of Human Resources

01/04/2011 - 31/07/2011

£0

£0

Krystyna Ruszkjewicz *
Interim Director of Human Resources

11/07/2011 - 28/03/2012 £105 - £110

£0

£0

Dr Joel Bonnet *
Medical Director

01/04/2011 - 30/09/2012

£25 - £30

£0

£0

Dr John Riorden 2
Medical Director

24/10/2011 - 29/02/2012

£25 - £30

£0

£0

£5 - £10
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Pensions
Pensions
Name and title

David Law
Chief Executive
Sean McKeever
Director of Finance
& Commerce

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
Cash
Cash
Real
Employers
increase in increase in accrued at age 60 equivalent equivalent increase contributions
pension
pension
pension related to
transfer
transfer
in cash
to
at age
lump
at age
accrued
value at
value at equivalant stakeholder
60
sum
60 at
pension at 31 March 31 March
transfer
pension
at age
31 March 31 March
2012
2013
value
60
2012
2012
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
2,500)
2,500)
5,000)
5,000)
£000

£000

£2.5 - £5

£2.5 - £5

£30 - £32.5 £95 - £97.5

£000

£000

£40 - £45 £130 - £135

£000

£000

£000

£753

£840

£48

£30 - £35

£95 - £100

£9

£714

£705

£30 - £35

£90 - £95

£419

£520

£79

£520

£604

£57

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

£2.5 - £5

£10 - £12.5

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality &
Governance

£0 - £2.5

£5 - £7.5

Alison Shelley
Director of
Human Resources

£0 - £2.5

£0

£0 - £5

£0

n/a

£18

£18

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

£0 - £2.5

£0

£0 - £5

£0 - £5

£17

£33

£16

John Curnow
Director of Strategy

£5 - £7.5

£0

£5 - £10

£0

£0

£47

£47

£35 - £40 £105 - £110

£000

Note:
* These officers were employed on an agency basis under temporary contracts and the salary above is the total payment made to
the employing agency.
1
Karen Taylor was Acting Chief Execuitve for the period 6 December 2010 to 9 May 2011
2
Dr Joel Bonnet is employed by NHS Hertfordshire and recharged to the Trust
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

Real Increase in CETV

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from
the scheme.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account of
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation,
contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from
another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the
start and end of the period.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme
or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual has accrued as
a consequence of their total membership of
the pension scheme, not just their service in a
senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details
include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.

Review of Tax Arrangements of
Public Sector Appointees
As part of the Review of Tax Arrangements
of Public Sector Appointees published by the
Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May 2012,
departments and their arms length bodies, of
which the NHS is considered to be an arms
length body of the Department of Health,
are required to publish information in relation
to the number of off payroll engagements.
The disclosure is required for all engagements
at a cost of over £58,200 per annum that
were in place on 31 January 2012 and all
new off payroll engagements between 23
August 2012 and 31 March 2013, for more
than £220 per day and more than six months.
The table below shows this information for
the Trust at 31 January 2012.

Off-payroll Engagements at 31 January 2012
Total Number
Number in place on 31 January 2012

3

Of which
Number that have since come on to the Trust’s payroll

0

Of which:
Number that have since been re-negotiated, and therefore continue
without contractual clauses allowing the Trust to seek assurance
as to their tax obligations

0

Number that have come to an end

3

Total

3

The Trust has had no new off payroll engagements between 23 August 2012 and 31 March 2013 for more than
£220 per day and more than six months.
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Register of interests

Board Members as at 31 March 2013
Name and title

Interests declared as at 31 March 2013

Chair and Non-Executive Directors
Neil Johnston*
Associate Non-Executive Director

Ex-wife and current partner employed by the Trust

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

Executive Officer: The Association for Leaders in Nursing
Independent Chairman: Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire & Luton PCTs
Performance Advisory Panel

Declan O'Farrell
Chair

Director: Castletown Corporation Ltd
Director: Castletown Homes Ltd

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

None

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

Director: Bury Lake Young Mariners Limited
(Prospective FT) Member of West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust
Member of Herts Urgent Care (HUC)

Executive Directors
John Curnow*
Director of Strategy
and Business Development

None

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

Director: Vitamax Consultancy Limited (VCL)
VCL provides consultancy services in health care
Active project is clinical advisory service to the DH National Clinical
Director for Pathology

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse

None

Julie Hoare*
Director of Operations

None

David Law
Chief Executive

Director: Law Consulting Ltd
Trustee: Health and Social Care Advisory Service

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance and Commerce

None

Alison Shelley*
Director of HR and
Organisational Development

None

* Non Voting Member

Board Members no longer in post as at 31 March 2013
Name and title

Interests declared

Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors
Dr. Chris Hanvey
Non-Executive Director
(until 09/10/12)

Chief Executive: Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health
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Chief Executive’s statement
Working to Deliver High Value Healthcare
In the year when the second Francis Report
was published the public focus on the quality
and safety of services and the compassion of
staff is understandably very high. As a Trust we
have had a high level of internal and external
scrutiny of how we perform in these areas.
This scrutiny has given the Trust Board a high
level of assurance that in the vast majority
of cases we are providing a quality service.
The compliments we receive from people
who use our services and the feedback we
obtain from patients also supports this view.
Members of the Board routinely visit our services
and this is an important part of testing the
quality of care we provide. Actually seeing the
services and talking to people who use them
is a very direct way of confirming that the
broad impression we receive from information
that comes to the Board reflects what is
happening on the ground. Where we find
issues we follow up on these.
As a Board and as a group of health service
staff we have agreed five values - care; respect;
quality; confidence; improve - which inform
the way we expect all of our staff to behave
to patients, colleagues and partners. We take
the issue of living these values very seriously and
have included an assessment of the extent to
which we all do that into our appraisal process.
We do also receive complaints which tell us
that we are not getting things right for the
people we serve all of the time, and we know
this will reflect a wider pool of people who
do not complain. We take these complaints
seriously and always seek to improve the service
we provide as a consequence of the feedback
we receive. A number of the complaints are
about clinical treatment and staff attitudes.
We have an internal rating where complaints
are more serious and have a rigorous process
for handling these and making sure we make
significant improvements.

No one in the public or amongst our staff should
doubt our commitment to high standards of
care, but how we sustain those standards at
a time when the NHS is under considerable
financial pressure is a real challenge for the
Board and for all of our staff. We recognise
that we need to work differently within the
Trust and with other health and social care
organisations and with private and voluntary
sector partners to really deliver high value
healthcare.
As a Trust we are committed to supporting
people to live as independently as they can,
to make their own choices about the way they
live their lives and to maintain their own health
and wellbeing. At times people need the support
of our services, and for some the support will
continue over a long period. Our services have
had around 1.8 million contacts with the people
of Hertfordshire and with children and families
in West Essex this year. In those contacts we
are trying to promote that independence.
This Quality Account tells you about what
we have done over the course of the year to
improve the quality of care we provide and
gives many examples of where we have
achieved that improvement. It also indicates
what our priorities will be for 2013/14 and
that we strive to improve what we do; to
improve quality and to support people to
manage their own health and wellbeing.
What we have achieved during 2012/13 has
been done through the commitment of our
staff, which I see every time I visit a service,
and I would like to thank them for everything
they have done for the people of Hertfordshire
and West Essex.
Finally, I confirm that to the best of my
knowledge the information provided in this
Quality Account is accurate.

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Quality Accounts

The Directors are required under the
Health Act 2009, National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and
National Health Service (Quality Account)
Amendment Regulation 2011 to prepare
Quality Accounts for each financial year.
The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual Quality Accounts
(which incorporate the above legal requirements). In preparing the Quality Account, directors are
required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the Quality Accounts presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the
period covered;
• the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions,
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality Account has been prepared in
accordance with Department of Health guidance.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the Quality Account.
By Order of the Board

Signed:

Date:

Decland O’Farrell Chairman

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014
How we decided our quality priorities
for the next 12 months
In determining the areas that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust should focus on for our
quality improvements for 2013/14, we sought
the views of our patients, carers, staff and
stakeholders throughout 2012/13 in a
number of ways.
• In our Board2Patient programme members of
the Board and the Quality and Governance
directorate have spoken to frontline staff
about quality issues, observed care being
delivered and have spoken to patients about
their experiences.
• At their Board meetings, members of the
Board have heard the experiences and
stories first-hand from patients, their carers
and families.
• We captured feedback from staff, patients
and the public at a variety of events at
different locations across Hertfordshire and
in West Essex, such as our pressure ulcer
road shows, our staff focus groups for
Foundation Trust development, our patient
and carer forums and in conversation cafés.
• We sought feedback from patients and their
families and carers, not only through
analysing the themes from the complaints
received, incidents reported and concerns
raised via our Patient Advice and Liaison
Service (PALS), but also through comments
cards, surveys, hand-held devices and
patient stories.

• We sought feedback from the Hertfordshire
Local Involvement Network (LINk), including
through our established members on our
Patient Safety and Patient Experience subcommittee and Trust Board.
• We made presentations and held discussions
on a variety of topics to the Health Topic
Group of the Hertfordshire Overview and
Scrutiny Committee, Hertfordshire LINk and
the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).
• We made regular presentations and held
discussions on performance and quality
issues with our commissioners (NHS
Hertfordshire and NHS West Essex, CCGs
and the local authority).
After careful consideration of the main themes
emerging from this feedback, our Trust Board
agreed six priorities for 2013/14. All six priorities
are about delivering better experiences and
outcomes for patients.
Three of the priorities build on the progress
made last year and three are new priorities.

• We sought more feedback from our staff in
a greater variety of ways, including our new
PULSE surveys, our programme of Executive
visits to clinical teams, as well as in committee
meetings, business planning events, and
through staff consultations and our Joint
Negotiating Committee.
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Outstanding patient experience

“

PRIORITY 1
To improve the experiences of parents, carers and professionals when
contacting West Essex Children’s Services.

”

Her GP and
school are chasing the
Centre for an
appointment.

“

Parent

West Essex Children’s Service

”

On the
occasions when the
secretary has spoken
to me, her level of
professionalism has
varied greatly.
Parent

West Essex Children’s Service
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We know that first impressions give us our
initial thoughts and feelings about any situation
and build on our confidence and anxiety.
Whilst we did a significant amount of work in
2012/13 to improve the information available
to our patients, carers and stakeholders about
our children’s services in West Essex, and we
involved more parents and carers in booking
appointments for their children, we know
from their feedback that we could do better.
Only 66% of parents surveyed were given a
choice of appointment and 6% wanted, but
were not given, the opportunity to choose.
In their complaints they told us that they cannot
always contact services as easily as they would
like to and when they do they occasionally
experience a poor attitude from the staff they
speak to. During conversation cafés parents,
carers and other stakeholders told us that
first impressions count, they want someone
to talk to about their appointments, and they
want quicker access to services which are
well-coordinated should their children need
to see a number of different professionals.

In 2013/14 we will make it easier for parents,
carers and professionals to contact any of our
children’s services in West Essex, whether they
are making or following up a referral, making
or following up an appointment, or wanting
to make a general enquiry. We will set up a
single point of contact where calls are answered
promptly by staff that are polite, helpful and
efficient, and where referrals are managed
effectively so that children are seen by the right
professionals as quickly as possible. We will
involve more parents and carers in making
appointments for a time that best suits them,
and we will keep them, and the person who
referred their child to us, informed about the
progress with their appointments and the next
steps they can expect.
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Our aim: 85% of people contacting the call centre rate their experience as very good
or excellent.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of parents, carers and professionals who experienced a
successful contact

65%
(pilot)

Percentage of parents, carers and professionals reporting positively
about the attitude of the staff

100%
(pilot)

Percentage of parents, carers and professionals who knew what
would happen next

90%
(pilot)

Other measures we will use to track progress

“

Proportion of appointments cancelled by the service
Parent
18 week referral to treatment times

”

We have been
informed we can
call back every week
to see if there are
cancellations... this is
not acceptable.

West Essex Children’s Service

Complaints, comments and compliments from patients, carers and professionals

Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Outstanding patient experience

“

PRIORITY 2
To improve the consistency in the standards of care that parents needing health
visitor support receive, wherever they live in Hertfordshire.

Thank you for
listening to and acting
on our concerns for
our son. It is thanks to
you that he received a
diagnosis early
enough to get him the
help and support he
needs.

“

”

Parent

Health Visiting Service

”

As a new mum I
unfortunately feel let
down the the Health
Visiting team.
Parent

We know that the start of life is a crucial time
for both children and parents. For some parents
adapting to a new baby comes easily, while for
others additional support is needed to give their
child the best possible start.
In 2011 the Department of Health set out
the full range of services that families can
expect to receive from health visitors by 2015.
The Healthy Child Programme (HCP) offers
every family screening tests, immunisations,
developmental reviews, and information and
guidance to support parenting and healthy
choices - all services that children and families
need to receive if they are to achieve their
optimum health and well-being. We have been
one of the early implementer sites leading the
delivery of the Health Visitor Implementation
Plan, but we know from the information that
we collect that there is variation in standards
and experiences across the county.

In 2013/14 we want all families to have access
to more of the services and support that health
visitors can offer through the HCP, and for staff,
families and GPs to have increased confidence
in the health visiting service. We will continue
to create a bigger and rejuvenated workforce.
We will train more health visitor students in each
academic year and retain them once they have
qualified. We will provide every health visitor
with a comprehensive education programme
over the next two years on new approaches to
parenting, antenatal care and child development
to enable them to deliver the full HCP. We will
introduce evidence based standards that will
support all team members to get it right for
children and families. And we will continue
to increase our clinical facing time through
productive and innovative ways of working.

Health Visiting Service
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Our aim: 90% of babies and children seen at the key stages of development, and 50%
of mothers offered an antenatal contact.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of mothers, babies or children seen at the key stages
of development:
• antenatal
• new birth visit
• one year check
• two year check

4%
92%
89%
90%

Percentage of parents reporting that they received the ‘expected offer ’ 97%
at each key stage
Other measures we will use to track progress

“

”

[I am] always
confident I will get
sound advice that
works when put
into practice.
Parent

Complaints, comments and compliments from patients, carers and professionals

Health Visiting Service

What is the Health Visitor Implementation Plan?
It is a five year plan (2011 - 2015) which supports the recruitment of an additional 4,500 health visitors
nationally, and sets out the improvements in the quality of health visiting services for children and families with
more targeted and tailored support for those who need it.
More information can be found at:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2012/11/hvplan/
Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Consistent and improving patient safety
PRIORITY 3

“

To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary catheters and
consequently reduce the number of catheter associated urinary tract infections.

Mum is now
on another course
of antibiotics…
the frequency
of urinary tract
infections suggests
poor catheter care…
I think one of the
contributing factors
is poor discharge by
[the hospital]...

“

”

Daughter

Community Nursing

I had to call
the out of hours
nurses to deal with
a blocked catheter
which was causing
considerable
pain.

”

National evidence indicates that 80% of urinary
tract infections can be traced to indwelling
urinary catheters and the longer a catheter is
in place, the higher the risk that a patient will
develop an infection.
Whilst we know from our work during 2012/13
(page 94) that the overall percentage of people
with an indwelling catheter who have experienced
an associated urinary tract infection is low and
has improved, and the standards of practice
by our staff to prevent infection are high, we
also know that the incidence of patients with
an indwelling catheter, and those with one for
more than 28 days have not significantly
reduced. And we know from the feedback
that our patients and their carers have given
us, there is still more to be done to improve
their experience.

In 2013/14 we want even fewer people in our
care to face the risk of a catheter associated
urinary tract infection. We will do this by
working in partnership with patients, their
carers and GPs, and the local hospitals and
residential homes. We will introduce the new
Catheter Passport so that wherever they are,
patients have with them the information that
others need to provide them with the right
care at the right time. We will help patients be
more confident in managing their own catheter
care and to recognise problems early. We will
identify patients sooner who are due a review
of their catheter and a trial without it. We will
work with the GPs and specialist urology nurses
in the local hospitals to reduce the use of urinary
catheters where these are not essential, and
when it is, they are used for the least amount
of time necessary. We will develop advice in
continence management and catheter care
for residential homes. We will continue to
train more of our staff in continence
management and catheter care and assess
their competence in providing care to patients
with urinary catheters.

Patient

Community Nursing
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Our aim: fewer than 2% of patients with urinary catheters experience
an associated infection.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?
Average 2012/13

Patients with catheters in situ (or removed within previous 72 hours)
as a proportion of the overall population being cared for*

March 2013

11.67%

10.55%

Incidence of patients with urinary catheter in situ for less than 28 days* 5.39%

4.96%

Incidence of catheter associated urinary tract infections*

1.12%

Compliance with Department of Health’s urinary catheter care bundle

1.13%

100% bed-based units
99% integrated community teams

Other measures we will use to track progress
Patients with catheters requiring an emergency A&E attendance
Patients with catheters requiring overnight nurses to attend for blocked catheter
Complaints, comments and compliments about catheter-related care
*Patients at their home, in residential homes and in our bed-based units via Safety Thermometer

Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director and Director of Infection
Prevention and Control
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Excellent clinical outcomes

“

PRIORITY 4
To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke who experience
a positive outcome from their rehabilitation.

The therapist
understands the
problems which you
face after a Stroke…
she not only gives
instruction as to
what to do and how,
but also why which
is so helpful.

”

Patient

Hertfordshire
Neurological Service

Since the special review by the CQC in 2011
which found Stroke care in Hertfordshire overall
to be in the ‘least well performing’ category,
we have been working with our commissioners,
the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Heart and
Stroke Network (B&HHSN) and the Hertfordshire
Life After Stroke Group to improve local Stroke
services (page 96). Last year we started the work
needed to develop local services which will
meet the new service specification for Stroke
survivors launched by the Midlands and East
Strategic Health Authority (SHA).
We know that the vision is for all Stroke
patients to have access to a service which is
clearly defined, well-coordinated and provided
in partnership across the NHS, social care and
voluntary sectors, and in which they will
receive specialist community rehabilitation
which is focused on patient and carer needs,
empowerment and facilitation of
self-management.

In 2013/14 we want to support more patients
who have had a Stroke to achieve a good
quality of life with the best possible outcome
from the treatment and care available. We will
do this by building on the progress achieved
last year. We will continue to aim for patients
to be consistently seen within 72 hours of
discharge from an acute hospital by therapists
trained in Stroke care. We will provide therapists
with bespoke training which will support the
standards in the new SHA Stroke specification,
and develop opportunities for them to work in
the acute hospital. We will train staff in the new
tool for assessing patients’ mood and cognition
and work with our partners in Stroke care
across Hertfordshire to agree how it will be
used to benefit Stroke patients when the new
pathway for psychological support is agreed.
We will continue to capture the benefits of
this earlier rehabilitation for patients who are
seen by our specialist neurology services using
nationally recognised measures and we will
seek feedback about their experiences. We will
extend this approach to patients who receive
their care in our integrated community teams.
We will continue to work with the B&HSSN and
the Life After Stroke Group to progress the vision
of Stroke care in Hertfordshire into reality.
Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Our aim: 90% of patients following a Stroke achieve a good outcome against
their own goals.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?
Average 2012/13

January - March 2013

Percentage of patients who achieve a good outcome against
their own goals

58%

71%

Percentage of patients who report that they have the information
they need to help them manage their condition

91%

89%

Percentage of patients who report that they have confidence in
the way staff involve their family and/or friends

97%

100%

Number of patients who take up self-management support
after their Stroke

155
(Total)

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of patients who achieve the best outcome against their goals
Percentage of patients seen within 72 hours of discharge from an acute hospital
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Excellent clinical outcomes

“

PRIORITY 5

”

Why are
sores allowed
to develop?
Relative
Watford

To eliminate all avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers developed by patients
within our care, and maintain the elimination of avoidable category 3 and 4
pressure ulcers.
We know that across the NHS Midlands and
East Strategic Health Authority (SHA) there has
been a 39% reduction in the number of people
developing new pressure ulcers in the 9 months
leading up to the December 2012 deadline for
achieving the SHA ambition to eliminate all
avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers.
We know that reducing their incidence remains
a national area for improvement in 2013/14.
To continue on our journey to fully achieving
this ambition will be a considerable challenge
as it can only be realised through improving
the integrated care that our patients experience
and we know that our staff reported and
treated a similar number of pressure ulcers to
last year. Whilst our actions during 2012/13
(page 98) resulted in a significant reduction in
the number and proportion of severe (category 3
or 4) pressure ulcers that patients developed
whilst in our care that could have been avoided,
we know that the focus needs to shift to
prevention so that pressure damage is
avoided wherever possible.

In 2013/14 we want to eliminate avoidable
category 2 pressure ulcers and in so doing,
prevent people experiencing more severe
pressure damage. We will do so by increasing
the tissue viability expertise available in the
Trust to support staff in their delivery of
effective and consistent care. We will work
even more closely with the Hertfordshire
Equipment Service to improve the prompt
provision of effective pressure relieving
equipment for patients earlier in their care to
assist in the prevention of pressure damage,
and we will train our staff in their new on-line
ordering system. We will work in partnership
with staff in residential care homes to help
them to take prompt action to prevent
pressure damage and refer early for support,
using the newly developed best practice
guidelines as a framework. We will train more
of our staff in pressure ulcer management and
wound care, and include in the programme
the needs of more vulnerable patients who
are dependent upon others to make their
decisions for them and how staff can best
safeguard them. We will structure our incident
reports to enable clinicians and managers to
determine whether a category 2 pressure ulcer
could have been avoided so that they can
take prompt action to prevent recurrence.
Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director
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Our quality priorities for 2013-2014

Our aim: no avoidable pressure ulcers developed in our care.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?
Total/average 2012/13 January - March 2013

Number of avoidable pressure ulcers developed in our care
• category 3 or 4
• category 2

47
Unconfirmed

1
24 (pilot)

Avoidable pressure ulcers as a proportion of all developed in our care
• category 3 or 4
29%
• category 2
Unconfirmed

0.9%
17 (pilot)

Incidence of patients with a newly acquired pressure ulcer
documented following skin inspection*
• category 4
• category 3
• category 2

0.07%
0.33%
0.54%

0%
0.07%
0.35%

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of pressure ulcers (avoidable and unavoidable) which have improved in our care
Percentage of pressure ulcers (avoidable and unavoidable) which have healed in our care
Complaints, comments and compliments about pressure area care
*Patients at their home, in residential homes and in our bed-based units via Safety Thermometer
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Outstanding staff experience
PRIORITY 6
To increase the proportion of staff who would recommend the Trust as a place
to work or receive treatment.
We know from research that having a well
engaged workforce has a direct bearing on
the quality of care that patients receive and
better outcomes for patients. We also know
from the independent review into health and
well-being in the NHS led by Dr Boorman, that
organisations which prioritised staff health
and well-being performed better, with improved
staff satisfaction, stronger quality scores, better
outcomes and higher levels of staff retention
and lower rates of staff absence.
We have been investing in our workforce
because we recognise them as our greatest
asset, but we know from the results in our
National Staff Survey in 2012 that we have
more work to do in maintaining an empowered,
engaged and motivated workforce capable of
delivering the high value healthcare that we
strive for. Compared to 2011, significantly
fewer staff reported that they felt motivated
(a rating of 3.77, down from 3.92) and more
staff said they had experienced work-related
stress in the previous year (35%, up from 27%).
In addition, whilst more staff (68%, up from
65%) said that the training and development
that they had received during the year had
helped them to do their job more effectively,
fewer (89%, down from 94%) felt that their
role made a difference to patients.
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In 2013/14 we want to strengthen our
engagement with staff and improve their
health and well-being, so that they feel able
to deliver better outcomes for patients and
families and are more motivated about the
Trust as a place to work. We will help staff
to feel more connected with our goals and
values by delivering our Communications and
Engagement Plan, extending our programme
of Executive visits to sites and services to listen
to more staff, and improving the quality of our
appraisal process with its links to Trust objectives
and patient outcomes. We will develop new
ways to recognise and appreciate staff effort
and achievements. We will work with our staff
in a new Health and Well-being Group and use
the SHA’s Staying Healthy at Work programme
as a framework to work with staff in improving
their health and well-being.
Board sponsor
Alison Shelley
Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development
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Our aim: above the national average for Community Trusts.
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?
National Staff Survey Trust PULSE Survey
2012
January 2013

Percentage of staff recommending the Trust as a place to work

45%

46%

Percentage of staff recommending the Trust as a place for a friend or
relative to receive treatment

60%

69%

Percentage of staff feeling that their learning, training and development
have helped them to deliver a better patient experience

63%

Not collected in
2012/13

Percentage of staff feeling satisfied with the quality of care that they
can give to patients

72%

Not collected in
2012/13

Percentage of staff saying communication between senior management
and staff is effective

36%

33%

Percentage of staff saying the Trust takes positive action on
health and well-being

33%

28%

March 2013
Absence rates
Staff turnover rates

4.5%
15.2%

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of staff getting clear feedback on how well they are doing in their role
Percentage of staff saying they feel that their ideas, views and opinions do count
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Monitoring progress throughout
the coming year
We have a dedicated Committee focused on reviewing the safety, quality
and effectiveness of our services. This Committee, known as the Healthcare
Governance Committee, will monitor our progress throughout the year.
Quality Priority

Reporting sub-committee
or group

To improve the experiences of parents, carers and professionals
when contacting West Essex Children’s Services

Patient Safety and Experience

To improve the consistency in the standards of care that
parents needing health visitor support receive, wherever
they live in Hertfordshire

Patient Safety and Experience

To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary
catheters and consequently reduce the number of catheter
associated urinary tract infections

Infection Prevention and Control

To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke
who experience a positive outcome from their rehabilitation

Clinical Effectiveness

To eliminate avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers acquired in
our care, and maintain the elimination of avoidable category
3 and 4 pressure ulcers

Clinical Effectiveness

To increase the proportion of staff who would recommend the
Trust as a place to work or receive treatment

Workforce and
Organisational Development

How will we report progress to the Board and the public throughout the year?
Progress in all these six priority areas will be monitored by our Board through our Healthcare Governance Committee.
We have agreed a Board level sponsor for each priority and the same at service level. Where possible we have
selected indicators that can be compared across the Trust and with other similar Trusts. These quality indicators
will be reported through the Integrated Board Performance Report which is published every month for the Trust
Board and on our website for the public and our staff. Our commissioners will also receive reports as part of
our contract with them.
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Other areas of quality improvement

Our six quality priorities are not the only areas
of quality improvement in 2013/14. We will
also deliver the quality improvements outlined
in our quality improvement plan, in our quality
strategy and in our contracts and Commissioning
for Quality and Innovation Schemes (page 84).
We will deliver continuous quality improvement
and focus on demonstrating outcomes through
our high value healthcare indicators and in
reducing variation across our services.
In particular:
• we will actively support the system-wide
approach to tackle the issues resulting in the
increased incidence of Clostridium difficile
infections in West Hertfordshire, and aim to
achieve fewer than the ceiling of 14 cases
set by our commissioners, applying the lessons
learned from our 18 cases during 2012/13
• we will build on the work started in 2012/13
on consistent incident reporting of deaths
and their investigation, and introduce wider
learning from them and, in the absence of
national mortality data for community
hospitals, we will develop a comparator rate
with our informal Aspirant Community
Foundation Trust network
• we will expand the use of the Families and
Friends Test to more people who use our
services and aim to improve their overall
satisfaction to the Aspirant Community
Foundation Trust network average
• we will reduce the average length of stay for
patients in our bed-based units working in
partnership with other organisations on issues
that contribute to a patient’s delayed transfer,
and aim to be below the target set by our
commissioners and the Aspirant Community
Trust network average, and without an increase
the rate of readmissions within 28 days
(from 0.67% in 2012/13)

• we will welcome children’s occupational
therapists from Hertfordshire County Council
into our trust to work in a new integrated
children’s occupational therapy service
• we will increase the productivity of our
workforce supported by mobile working and
transformational ways of working to increase
patient facing time, and improved information
at service level to track their progress.
We will continue to deliver improvements towards
harm free care using the Safety Thermometer
to support our actions and track our progress,
with a particular focus on reducing harm from
falls, and we will continue to deliver care in
same sex accommodation in our bed-based
units except where it is in the best interest of
the patient or reflects their personal choice.
We will deliver the objectives identified in
partnership with local people from the review
of our performance in meeting the national
NHS Equality Delivery System Framework in
2012/13, in order that we move closer to our
vision of achieving equality, celebrating diversity
and advancing inclusion for all our patients,
carers and staff.
We will continue on our journey to achieve
Foundation Trust status in 2013/14 demonstrating
improving standards of quality governance.

PACE - Post Acute Care Enablement
In partnership with West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust
we introduced PACE in January 2013.
PACE helps patients who are well enough to receive
the care they need at home rather than in hospital
by ensuring the right support is in place. Specialist
‘case finders’ work with the hospital consultants to
identify patients who no longer need round-the-clock
medical care. They design packages of care to meet
the individual needs of the patient and arrange for
the care to be given at home, so that the patient can
be discharged and continue their recovery at home.
More than 70 patients have already benefited from
this care closer to home.
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During 2012/13 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust provided and/or sub-contracted
44 NHS services which are listed in the table
on the following page.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
reviewed all the data available to them on
the quality of care in 44 of these services.
This information has come from a range of
sources including; local and national audits,
patient surveys, national targets, locally
agreed performance measures, last year’s
CQUIN targets, and national and Aspirant
Community Foundation Trust benchmarking.
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During 2012/13 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust introduced a new performance
management framework which not only
supports performance against targets which
are linked to the Trust’s strategic objectives
and commitment to providing high value
healthcare, but also focuses resources on the
areas which need attention, predicts future
performance and provides the Board with an
improving level of assurance from service to
business unit to Trust level.
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The monthly Integrated Board Performance
Report has been redesigned to reflect the new
performance management framework and
presents information in a more visual way against
129 indicators. A Trust scorecard provides an
‘at a glance’ summary of performance against
key indicators. Detailed scorecards across the
four domains of high value healthcare provide
in-month and year-to-date performance against
targets for every indicator, as well as their trend
over the year and a forecast position, and the
performance of each business unit is shown
in a heat map. Actions to address areas of
underperformance are included in the report
with time-scales and named responsible directors.
This report will evolve during 2013/14 to include
more information at business unit level and
a measure of the quality of the data for
each indicator.

This model of performance management has
been replicated within all of our services at the
monthly business unit performance reviews
using a series of score cards with core sets of
indicators, and a heat map to enable early
identification of issues of concern and provide
an early warning system at service level.
In addition to this performance information,
the Board maintained its focus on quality
through briefings, ‘deep dives’ into services,
and hearing staff and patient stories first-hand
during members’ visits to services and sites,and
at the start of each Board meeting (page 122).
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2012/13 represents 98% of the
total income generated from the provision of
NHS services by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust for 2012/13.

Our strategic objectives

We will support the people we serve to manage their own health and well-being
We will improve clinical outcomes and enhance patient safety
We will support the substantial expansion of community services through the delivery of excellent core services for
adults and children and the development of ambulatory services
We will use resources efficiently to enhance our ability to improve services
We will develop the organisational capacity to deliver our vision and objectives
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Adult Core Community Services (East and North Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Neurological Services
Neurological bed-bases
Leg Ulcer Services
Minor Injuries Unit
Psychological Therapy Service
Adult Core Community Services (West Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Nutrition and Dietetics Service
Diabetes Community Service
Diabetic Retinopathy Service
Adult Ambulatory Services
End of Life and Lymphoedema Services
Speech and Language Therapy Service
Cardiology Services (including Cardiac Rehabilitation and Heart Failure)
Prison Healthcare Services
Respiratory Service
Sexual Health and Family Planning Services
Dental Services
Skin Health Services
Bladder and Bowel Care Service
Podiatry Service
Acute Therapies Service
Wheelchair Services (including Specialist Seating and electric indoor and outdoor wheelchair services)
Musculoskeletal Services (including Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy)
Chronic Fatigue and Pain Management Service
Children’s Services
Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
Child Health Service
Newborn Hearing Screening Service
Step2 Service
Sure Start Children’s Centres
Family Nurse Partnership
Speech and Language Therapy Service (including West Essex)
Physiotherapy Service (including West Essex)
Occupational Therapy Service (including West Essex)
Community Medical Service (including West Essex)
Challenging Behaviour Psychology Service
Audiology Service
Children’s Eye Services
Continuing Care Service
Nascot Lawn Respite Care
Special School Nursing Service
Specialist Diabetes Nursing Service
Young People’s Health Transitional Service
Community Nursing Services (including West Essex)
Children Looked After Service
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Participation in clinical audit
Clinical audit involves looking at current practice
and modifying it where necessary to improve
the quality of patient care. National confidential
enquiries investigate an area of healthcare and
recommend ways of improving it.
In 2012/13, the Department of Health released
51 national clinical audits for inclusion in Trusts’
Quality Accounts. The information which follows
on this page refers to those 51 national
clinical audits. Seven of these national clinical
audits covered NHS services that Hertfordshire
Community NHS provides, but one was
withdrawn by the Department of Health
during 2012/13.
Therefore during 2012/13, six national clinical
audits and no national confidential enquiries
covered NHS services that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust provides. During that
period Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
participated in 67% national clinical audits

and 100% national confidential enquires of the
national clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2012/13 are listed in
the table below.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in during
2012/13 are also listed in the table below.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in, and for
which data collection was completed during
2012/13, are listed below alongside the
number of cases submitted to each audit or
enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that
audit or enquiry.

National Clinical Audits

Participation

Number or percentage of cases submitted
or reason for non participation

National Adult Diabetes Audit
2012

Yes

290 cases submitted
No minimum requirement

Stroke National Audit Programme Yes
(SSNAP) 2012

Organisational data submitted
Not eligible for pilot study in 2012/13

National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit 2012

193 cases submitted
No minimum requirement

Yes

National Childhood Epilepsy
Yes
(National Epilepsy12) Audit 2012

Data collection commenced 11/3/13
0 eligible cases to 31/3/13

National Audit of Psychological
Therapies 2012/13 (2nd round)

No

Prioritisation of patient care in lead up to
service closure

National Parkinson’s Disease
Audit 2012

No

Recommendation of Parkinson’s UK is alternate
year participation (HCT participated in 2011/12)

National Audit of Falls and Bone
Health Round 2 - Pilot audit

N/A

National Clinical Audit withdrawn by DH

National Confidential Enquiries
None covered NHS services that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust provides
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In addition Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust was registered during 2012/13 for one
other national clinical audit for which it was
eligible as a member of the NHS National
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Benchmarking Network. The progress and
participation in this national audit is outlined
in the table below.

National Clinical Audits with open HCT
registration during 2012/13

Percentage of cases submitted

National Audit of Intermediate Care 2011

100%
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The reports of 11 national clinical audits were
reviewed by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in 2012/13 and Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve the quality of healthcare provided.
National Clinical Audit of HIV and
Hepatitis B/C Co-infection
(published April 2010)
• To recruit another Health Advisor to provide
counselling and health promotion for patients
diagnosed with Hepatitis B/C co-infection.
• To reduce the time that blood results take to
return from the laboratory.
UK National Audit on Sexual History Taking
(published September 2010)
• To increase the number of trained chaperones
available to patients should they wish to
have one.
National Clinical Audit of HIV Testing
and New Diagnosis 2009/10
(published April 2011)
• To recruit a HIV specialist to enable patients
testing as HIV positive to be seen within 48
hours, and introduce point-of-care testing
for high risk patients.
National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 2009/10
(published July 2011)
• To undertake a local audit against the standards.
National Audit for People with
Multiple Sclerosis 2011
(published September 2011)
• No specific actions were identified as all
standards audited were met to at least the
level in the National Service Framework for
long-term conditions.
National Audit of Psychological
Therapies 2010
(published November 2011)
• To introduce pre-assessment questionnaires,
triage, group sessions and drop-in clinics to
maintain the high levels of satisfaction and
clinical outcomes for patients that placed this
service in the top 25% of similar services.

National Audit of Back Pain
Management 2011
(published April 2012)
• To provide staff attending for Occupational
Health review about back pain with written
information about back pain management.
National Parkinson’s Audit 2011
(published May 2012)
• To explore additional investment in ‘voice
therapy’ for patients with Parkinson’s
Disease with the commissioners.
National Audit of Intermediate Care 2011
(published September 2012)
• To reduce the average length of stay for
patients in our bed-based units.
• To measure the benefits that patients
experience from the care they receive using
a more sensitive clinical outcome tool.
• To undertake a review of the skills of staff
in our integrated community teams and
bed-based units.
National Paediatric Diabetes Audit
Report 2010/11
(published September 2012)
• To test children for their HbA1c levels (the
best indicator of long term diabetes control)
four times per year and take action when
indicated.
• To recruit a pyschologist to provide specialist
support to children and young people with
diabetes.

“

”

I could not
have asked for
any better very personal and
professional.

“

Parent

Children’s Diabetes Nursing

The nurse
was very friendly
and made me
feel relaxed.
When I come next
for my check up,
I will attend
this clinic.

”

Patient

Sexual Health Service

National Childhood Epilepsy
(National Epilepsy12) Audit 2011
(published September 2012)
• To set up a local register of children with
epilepsy to improve information to support the
best care available, and to explore additional
investment for a specialist epilepsy nurse
with the commissioners.
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“

”

Lack of
continuity different dietician
every time.

“

Patient

Nutrition and Dietetics Service

I [Consultant
Oncologist] have
been incredibly
impressed by your
team’s care and
compassion in
getting this wound
into the best possible
state to enable us
to give palliative
radiotherapy.

”

Integrated Community Team
Hoddesdon
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The reports of 29 local clinical audits were
reviewed by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in 2012/13 and Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve the quality of healthcare provided.
• To identify non-cancer patients who are at
end of life earlier using reliable indicators for
prognosis in the Gold Standard Framework
meetings.
• To support self-management of prevention
of pressure damage by the development of a
Pressure Ulcer Prevention information leaflet
for patients and carers, and to train therapists
in the Wheelchair Service to undertake
standardised assessments for the risk of
pressure damage.
• To improve the information provided for the
triage of newly referred adults with diabetes
and reduce the time taken for advice from a
diabetes consultant when this is required.
• To introduce case scenarios into our
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults (SVA) training,
and improve the information available on
the staff website about SVA.
• To introduce new pH paper for testing stomach
juices in people who need nasogastric tubes
(tubes that go between the nose and stomach).

Safeguarding in Practice
Stanley* has dementia and is no longer able to
make informed decisions about his own care. He
lives in a residential care home and relies on the
staff to make the right decisions for him.
The staff asked a Community Nurse to look at an
angry wound on his leg. Stanley could not tell
the nurse how it happened but one of the staff
remembered that they caught his leg on the hoist
a week or so before. The wound had not been
dressed or treated and had become infected.
The Community Nurse started treatment for his
wound but was concerned that Stanley might have
been neglected and discussed it with the Named
Nurse for Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults. A referral
was made to the Safeguarding Adults from Abuse
team and Stanley’s situation was considered at a
multi-agency safeguarding meeting. It was agreed
that Stanley had been neglected and a plan was
put in place to safeguard him. The wider impact
on other vulnerable people living in the residential
care home was considered at a Serious Concerns
meeting and another plan was put in place to
safeguard all the residents in relation to their
moving and handling and their medical concerns
being raised promptly.
Due to his dementia Stanley cannot remember any
of this experience, but he can now be confident that
everyone is acting in his best interests.
* Stanley is not his real name

• To raise the awareness of tools and systems
available to reduce the risks to staff who at
times work alone in the community or our
buildings.
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Participation in Clinical Research
The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust in 2012/13 that were
recruited during that period to participate
in research approved by a research ethics
committee was 90, an increase from 52
during 2011/12.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has been
involved in seven clinical research studies during
2012/13 which were approved by a research
ethics committee:
• music perception and production in children
with hearing impairment
• the role of assistant staff within community
nursing services
• examining the recruitment and retention of
health visitors (Start and Stay, in collaboration
with the Department of Health)

• Trust staff are co-applicants, with CRIPACC
at the University of Hertfordshire, for two
Research-for-Patient Benefit proposals.
• In collaboration with CRIPACC, the Trust is
hosting a major research project on the
establishment of a virtual ‘community of
practice’ for health visitors.
• The Trust has been involved in shaping the
proposal for the establishment of the University
College London Partners Academic Health
Science Network, and working jointly with
them in their bid to host a ‘Collaboration for
Leadership in Applied Health Research and
Care’, the outcomes of which may inform
the future of services in the community.
• Supported by the E&HCLRN, the Trust
appointed a full-time research coordinator
who, in 2013/14 will raise the profile of
research within the Trust and drive participation
in portfolio and non-portfolio research activity.

• diadochokinetic profiles of children with
speech difficulties
• use and non-use of Home-Start schemes
• smartphone technology; the application of
synchronised calendar functions in cuing
event completion

”

Patient

Leg Ulcer Service

Clinical Nursing Professorship
In October 2012 our Consultant Nurse for Children
with Complex Health Needs was appointed as the
visiting Well-Child Professor of Community Children’s
Nursing at the University of Hertfordshire; one of a
very small number of clinical nursing professorships
in the UK.

• evaluation of ‘My Needs Now’ service
development (renamed to ‘specialist
neurological service for people with rare
and rapidly progressing conditions’).

The research focus of his post will be concerned with
the experience of families caring for children with
complex and nursing care needs in the community.

Of the four research studies being conducted
in 2011/12, two remain underway, and two
were completed in 2012/13.

“We are excited to be working in partnership with
the University and Well-Child to improve research in
children’s community nursing.”

As a demonstration of our commitment to
increasing levels of participation in clinical
research and making our contribution to wider
health improvement, Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust continues to work collaboratively
with the University of Hertfordshire’s Centre
for Research in Primary and Community Care
(CRIPACC), the Essex and Hertfordshire
Comprehensive Local Research Network
(E&HCLRN), and the East of England Primary
Care Research Network.

“

The nurse
explained the
progress of healing
on each visit and
involved me in
discussion regarding
ongoing treatment.
Always seen on time
and treated with
professionalism,
expertise and
caring.

General Manager, Children’s Services
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Use of the CQUIN payment framework
A proportion of Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust’s income in 2012/13 was conditional on
achieving quality improvement and innovation
goals agreed between Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust and NHS Hertfordshire and NHS
West Essex, through the Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation payment framework.
These are outlined here, with further details

of the agreed goals for 2012/13 and for the
following 12-month period both available
electronically at www.hertschs.nhs.uk. The goals
were agreed as part of the Trust’s contribution
to achieving both local and regional health
priorities and were supplemented by quality
improvements within the Trust’s contract,
included in page 101 of this account.

2012/13 CQUIN Schemes Hertfordshire
Goal

Quality domain

Improve responsiveness to personal needs Patient Experience
of patients in community hospitals

Percentage of
financial value

Year end
position

10%

Eliminate all avoidable category 3 and 4
pressure ulcers by December 2012

Patient Safety, Patient Experience 15%
Clinical Effectiveness

Improve outcomes for patients
following a Stroke

Patient Experience
Clinical Effectiveness

10%

NHS Safety Thermometer

Patient Safety

10%

Proactive follow up of children with
multiple A&E attendances

Patient Safety, Patient Experience 10%
Clinical Effectiveness

Making Every Contact Count

Clinical Effectiveness

10%

Community Nurse and Health Visitor
interaction with GP Practices

Clinical Effectiveness

5%

Holistic Needs Assessment

Patient Experience
Clinical Effectiveness

10%

Carer's experience questionnaire

Patient Experience

10%

Assistive technologies

Innovation

10%

2012/13 CQUIN Schemes West Essex
Goal

Quality domain

Percentage of
financial value

Patient Experience Survey

Patient Experience

30%

To establish SystmOne as the
single electronic patient record

Clinical Effectiveness

40%

Speech and Language standardisation of practice

Clinical Effectiveness

30%

Year end
position

Note: year end position subject to confirmation by commissioners
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Care Quality Commission (CQC) Registration

St Peters Ward

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is required
to register with the Care Quality Commission
and its current registration status is ‘registered
without conditions’.

In November 2012 the CQC judged St Peters
Ward to be meeting all the essential standards
of quality and safety, having undertaken a
review of evidence of improved patient
experience and outcomes submitted to them in
March 2012 and again in November 2012,
because of a delay in the CQC taking action.
The improvements were made in safeguarding
people who use the services and in supporting
the staff that provide the service following the
CQC review of compliance in August 2011 as
part their schedule of planned visits.

The Care Quality Commission has not taken
enforcement action against Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust during 2012/13.
The Care Quality Commission undertook two
reviews of compliance in our services during
2012/13.
Herts and Essex Hospital
An unannounced visit in November 2012 within
the schedule of CQC planned visits judged that
Herts and Essex Hospital was meeting the
essential standards for respecting and involving
people who use their service and in providing
their care and welfare, cleanliness and infection
control, and cooperating with other providers,
and assessing and monitoring the quality of the
services they provide. The CQC judged that
Herts and Essex Hospital was not meeting the
essential standards in supporting the staff that
provide the service. The CQC requested that
actions be taken to improve the arrangements
for staff supervision and appraisal. In March
2013 we submitted the evidence of our
improvements in these areas to the CQC for
their formal review, and in March 2013 having
reviewed the evidence, they judged Herts and
Essex Hospital to be meeting all the essential
standards of quality and safety.

The reports produced by the CQC can be found
at www.cqc.org.uk.
Danesbury Neurological Service
During 2012/13 staff at Danesbury
Neurological Service have built on the 28
recommendations made by Dame Elizabeth
Fradd in her independent review in January
2012, and developed stronger working across
different professions and helped staff to
embrace a culture of change in order to
sustain the improvements made for their
patients following the unannounced visit by
the CQC in June 2011.
Examples of changes made are:
• patients who require assistance at mealtimes
receive this from therapists as well as
nursing staff

Examples of improvements made are:

• patients undertake more of their rehabilitation
on the unit through their daily activities

• making a private room available for patients
and relatives should they wish to use one for
their discussions with staff

• staff have developed their own vision and
values for the service which echo those of
the Trust

• increasing the number of staff who have
received clinical supervision and annual
appraisals to above the Trust targets

• specialist neurology training has been secured
from the University of Hertfordshire for staff
in our neurology and community services
during 2013/14.

“

We observed
staff going about
their work in a
relaxed manner and
witnessed care
and support being
provided in a
friendly and
cheerful way.

“

”

CQC Compliance
Report December
2012
Herts and Essex Hospital

…thank you
for the kindness
and appreciation
you have shown me
over the past years.
It has been a
privilege knowing
you for which I
shall have treasured
memories...

”

Volunteer
St Peters Ward

• training more staff to become appraisers.
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Data quality
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust will be taking
the following actions to improve data quality:
• continue to apply the principles outlined in
our Data Quality Policy approved in 2011/12
to deliver the data quality priorities agreed with
our clinical staff and commissioners, involving
our staff through our Data Quality Forum
• continue to develop a culture of high data
quality within the Trust and involve clinical
staff in reviewing data as we move increasingly
towards more patient care being recorded
electronically
• build on the success of the mobile working
implementation with the 450 staff in our
Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
and the pilot project in two of our Integrated
Community Teams over the past two years,
and provide a further 900 staff who visit
patients in their home or work in remote
locations with mobile technology
• continue to run reports to assure ourselves and
our commissioners of the accuracy, timeliness
and quality of our data and ensure that data
is matched to national coding to enable its
sharing and comparison
• develop automated reporting through which
clinical staff and managers access data on a
routine basis and be confident in its quality.
During 2012/13 Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust has:
• continued with a strong performance against
the Community Information Data Set, reporting
on 17 of the 19 data items identified by
Monitor for data completeness, achieving a
completion rate of 79% against the target
of 50%

• participated in and completed the
Hertfordshire-wide Data Quality project led
by our commissioners
• continued its involvement in developing
benchmarking data for Community Trusts
by working with a network of Aspirant
Community Foundation Trusts and through
its membership with the NHS Benchmarking
Network. During 2012/13 we were involved
in four benchmarking projects relating to
national intermediate care benchmarking
project, community hospitals, community
services, back office functions, and
participated in the National Audit of
Intermediate Care.
We know from our involvement in these
benchmarking activities that, compared to
similar Trusts, we perform well against the
national 18 week waiting times, and for the
number of avoidable category 3 or 4 pressure
ulcers developed in our care, and for patients
having care plans which are reviewed regularly.
And we know that on average, patients have
longer stays in the care of our bed-based units
or integrated community teams and more
patients experience a fall in our bed-based units.
In 2013/14 we aim to reduce the average
length of stay for patients in our bed-based
units and the number of patients who fall and
experience severe harm by 20%.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust submitted
records during 2012/13 to the Secondary Uses
service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics which are included in the latest
published data. The percentage of records in
the published data which included the patient’s
valid NHS number was 99.9% for admitted
patient care and which included the patient’s
valid General Medical Practice was 99.6% for
admitted patient care.

• delivered significant improvements in the
completeness, timeliness and accuracy of
data recorded by clinicians
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Review of services

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s Information
Governance Assessment Report overall score
for 2012/13 was 66% and was graded green.
This score was maintained throughout 2012/13
by a range of actions.
• We reviewed, updated and developed four
policies related to information governance.
• 96.2% of our staff completed our improved
training in information governance, and in
our in 2012 significantly more said they
knew how to handle confidential
information about patients or service users 78% (still below the national average of
81% for community trusts), compared to
59% in 2011.

We notified the Information Commissioner
about serious incidents on two occasions
during 2012/13.
• The name, date of birth, address and NHS
number of a patient who had previously
used our services were included in a
referral template in Diabetes guidelines
on the public-facing page of our website.
The Information Commissioner took no
further action as they were assured by the
prompt actions we had taken to inform
the patient and confirm that they had
experienced no detrimental affect once this
breach was identified, and the actions we
had put in place to prevent recurrence.

• We reviewed and strengthened procedures
in our children’s services in Hertfordshire
and West Essex in response to a high number
of serious incidents of misdirected patient
identifiable information during the year.

• Letters containing confidential medical
information about the same patient receiving
care in West Essex Children’s Services were
sent on two separate occasions to the wrong
address. The Information Commissioner had
not notified us of the outcome of their
review by the end of 2012/13.

• We secured a single archiving company for
our records and trained our staff in standard
archiving procedures. In 2013/14 we will be
reviewing the system we have in place for
archiving the records of patients who are
seen in our bed-based units.

Progress during 2013/14 will continue to be
monitored by the Information Governance
Implementation and Assurance Team which
reports directly to the Executive Team.

What is information governance?

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was not
subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding
audit during 2012/13 by the Audit Commission.

Information governance is a framework that brings
together all the legal rules, guidance and best
practice that apply to the handling of information.
The NHS and its partner organisations have
a duty to:
• maintain full and accurate records of the care
provided to you
• keep records about you confidential, secure
and accurate.
The Information Governance Toolkit provides an
overall measure of the quality of data systems,
standards and processes within an organisation.
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Our quality improvements in 2012-2013
How we performed in delivering the
quality priorities we set ourselves over
the past year
Outstanding patient experience
PRIORITY 1
To increase the number of patients who feel that they have the information which
they need, communicated in a clear and understandable way
We wanted more patients to have the right
information that they needed to support them
in making choices and decisions about their
own care, and so that they could contact our
services should they need to during their care
or afterwards. We wanted more patients to be
involved in booking their own appointments and
to have more choice about when and where
they received their care. We set ourselves a
challenging target to reduce enquiries or
complaints about appointments or poor
communication by 50% compared to
2011/12.
The outcomes we achieved
Of the patients surveyed throughout the year

• We reduced the percentage and number of
enquiries to our Patient Advice and Liaison
Service about appointments and complaints
about poor communication.
• The number of enquiries about poor
communication increased whilst their
percentage remained similar.

How do we compare?
• 33% of patients1 said they had a choice of date
and time for their first appointment
• 38% of in-patients2 said they felt ‘completely’
informed about medication side effects to watch
out for after they went home.
1

• 96% said that they received information in a
way that they could understand, with 83%
saying that they received information they
could completely understand

2

National Out-Patient Survey 2011
National In-Patient Survey 2012

• 91% said that they knew who to contact on
leaving our services should they need to; an
increase from 78% in 2011/12
• 96% said that they were given a choice of
time for their appointment
• 66% said that when they were discharged
from one of our bed-based units they felt
completely informed about the side effects
of their medication; an increase from 55%
in 2011/12.
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Percentage of patients who received information in a way they could understand

95%

97%

97%

99%

99%

2011/12

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013

Percentage of PALS enquiries and complaints about appointments and communication

22%
19%

21%

20%
12%

9%
PALS enquiries
appointments

PALS enquiries
communication

PALS complaints
communication

Number of PALS enquiries and complaints about appointments and communication

93

50
43

39

36
28

PALS enquiries
appointments

PALS enquiries
communication

PALS complaints
communication
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Our quality improvements in 2012-2013

How we supported these improvements

“

We involved more patients in booking and
confirming their own appointments and set
up reminder systems.

”

I was in the
process of giving
[her] my name, and
she just hung up
on me.

“

Patient

Musculoskeletal Services

[The Health
Visitor] was very
informative and
offered advice and
support tailored
to my specific
needs.

”

Parent

Health Visiting Service

• We introduced ‘phone in to make your
appointment’ options into more of our
services.
• We introduced timed slots for patients who
are seen in their own homes.
• We introduced text messaging into 50% of
our services that are clinic based to remind
patients about their appointment and give
them the opportunity to change it if no longer
suitable, rather than waste the appointment.
• We introduced text messaging to remind
parents about their child’s two-year
developmental check.
• We introduced telephone reminders for
patients booked in for procedures in our
Family Planning service.
• We offered patients attending our Minor
Injuries Unit with fractures a choice of
appointment for their follow-up.
We put in place more clinics that run at weekends
or in the evenings, and without the need for
an appointment. And we introduced clinics
into venues that are closer to peoples’ homes.
For example:
• self-management sessions for Type-2
diabetes are now offered on a Saturday.
• our Sexual Health Services introduced two
drop-in clinics
• drop-in baby clinics are now running one
Saturday per month, in a dedicated
refurbished space in Asda in Watford as part
of their Community Life Project
• drop-in clinics for parents to access speech
and language therapy advice, which were
introduced in 2011/12, are now happening
across Hertfordshire; an initiative that won
the Alyson Portch Award in 2012.
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We updated the information about our services
on our website and in our patient information
leaflets with input from our patients and their
representatives.
We set up a working group to develop easy-read
information suitable for people with disabilities
and to explore other ways that information
could be made easier for people to understand.
We made it easier for patients to contact our
services and improved the information that we
give patients and their carers about how to
contact us should they need to. For example:
• our podiatry services introduced a centralised
call centre for patients, carers and professionals
• in a joint venture with the local authority,
we set up a single call centre on each side of
the county for professionals to refer patients
needing intermediate care services (page 118)
• the details of our well-baby clinics are now on
our Trust website and in GP surgeries and
health centres
• we added an icon to the front page of our
website to provide website visitors with a direct
link to Herts Help; a network of community
organisations working together that can find
the practical support, guidance and information
needed by patients and their families.
We continued to empower, engage and support
our staff to enable them to provide the quality
of care which they would be happy for their
families and friends to receive. For example:
• we improved awareness of learning disabilities
and autism through our new policy and
training module
• we delivered customer care training to over
40 more front-line staff, and patient experience
training for all new staff joining the Trust
• we used information technology as an enabler.
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Effective communication and engagement
with our patients remains important to us - this
will be embedded into our quality improvement
agenda in 2013/14 and we will focus on
improving patient experience in two new quality
priorities and through a more motivated and
engaged workforce in another new quality
priority in 2013/14.

Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Patient Safety & Experience sub-committee
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Outstanding patient experience

“

PRIORITY 2
To increase the number of patients and their carers feeling supported to
manage their long-term condition

”

I have
learnt more in
one week than
in 10 years
of being a
diabetic.

“

Patient

Diabetes Education Session

”

I appreciate
the work we did
together as I can use
this in my day-to-day
life with both my
children.
Parent

Step2 Service

We wanted more of our patients living with
long-terms conditions to feel that they were
a partner in their health. We wanted them to
have the information which they needed to
manage their condition and to feel confident
in how we involved their families and friends.
We knew from the national out-patient survey
in 2011 that only 45% of patients with a
long-term condition felt that their appointments
had definitely helped them to manage their
condition better, and so we set ourselves a
challenging target to achieve this for 90% of
patients attending our self-management or
patient-education sessions.
The outcomes we achieved
Of the patients who gave us feedback
throughout the year, on average:

• 82% said that they were definitely given
information in a way in which they could
understand
• 95% had confidence in the way that staff
involved their families and/or friends
• 96% felt able to talk to someone about their
fears and worries
• More patients with diabetes, respiratory,
heart and neurological conditions attended
self-management or patient-education sessions
• 2567 in all, compared to 1507 in 2011/12
• an average of 214 per month, compared to
125 per month in 2011/12
• 100% of patients attending a self-management
or patient-education session were offered a
personal health plan to complete.

• 97% said that they had the information that
they needed to help them manage their
long-term condition
Percentage of patients with a long-term condition who said they had the information
they needed to help them manage their condition

50%

30%

67%

27%

70%

25%

73%

43%

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

◼Definitely
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Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013

◼To some extent
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How we supported these improvements
We ran more self-management and patienteducation sessions, not just for those with
diabetes, and respiratory, heart and neurological
conditions, but also for patients with other
long-term conditions. For example:
• lymphoedema education groups for patients
with breast cancer, a joint initiative with the
acute trust
• community AMBER, a new approach to
end-of-life care helps patients and clinicians
manage their condition better at times of
uncertainty
• workshops run by occupational therapists for
parents of children with sensory difficulties
• courses run by speech and language
therapists for parents of children with social
communication difficulties
• nurse-led clinics to support patients with
self management and advance care planning
earlier in their life-limiting illness.

• patients with respiratory and heart conditions
have a personal health plan included in their
information and advice booklet
• children’s personal health plans are created
in a variety of child-friendly formats such as
pictures, photos and symbols.

“

We are committed to supporting people to
live as independently as they can, and giving
people the knowledge and skills to be more
effective partners in their own health supports
them to do so - we will embed this into our
quality improvement agenda in 2013/14 and
continue to explore even more opportunities
and innovative ways to support people to live
their own lives.

A very
informative series
of talks and DVDs.
I know a lot more
about how to care
for myself after the
heart attack.

Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse

Cardiac Rehabilitation
Session

”

Patient

Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee,
via Patient Experience sub-committee

We supported patients to develop health plans
that were personal to them and in a style that
best suited them. For example:
• patients with neurological conditions are
offered an electronic health plan if they prefer
it to a paper version

Self-Management in Practice
Celia* discovered that she had a heart condition that
needed an operation. After the surgery she knew that
she needed rehabilitation, but was reluctant to go to
the sessions that she had been told about when she
was in the hospital; she had never been comfortable
in groups because of her disability. She wanted to
make a full recovery and get back to work. The cardiac
rehabilitation service had a solution that would respect
her dignity; she could do her rehabilitation in her
own home. The cardiac nurse came to her home
and showed her the programme that she needed to
follow, using a new easy-to-follow booklet which
had been developed with input from other patients.
And so that she wouldn’t forget, the nurse helped
her to write down her personal plan in a section of
the booklet designed for the purpose. Having the
booklet to refer to and her own personal plan gave

her the confidence to follow her programme on her
own at home, but she knew that she could call the
nurse if she wanted advice in between the regular
visits that she had already planned. They adjusted
her plan together as she made progress. She is now
recovered enough to be back at work full-time and
still has the booklet to refer to for advice to when
she feels she needs it.
In 2012/13, 98.7% of patients with heart conditions
who attended self-management or patient-education
sessions said that they felt able to talk to someone
about their fears and worries and 99.6% said they
had the information they needed to help them
manage their condition.
* Celia is not her real name
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Consistent and improving patient safety

“

PRIORITY 3
To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary catheters and
consequently reduce the number of catheter associated urinary tract infections

Thank you
for your help over
the past months.
My symptoms have
settled down.
I am returning my
unwanted and,
I am glad to
say, unneeded
catheters.

“

”

Patient

Bladder and Bowel
Care Service

”

Thank you
for explaining about
supra pubic catheters.
I am very grateful
for your help.
Patient

Bladder and Bowel
Care Service

We wanted fewer people in our care to face
the risk of a catheter associated urinary tract
infection, and set ourselves a target that fewer
than 10% of patients that we see in their own
homes, residential homes and bed-bases with
an indwelling urinary catheter would experience
a urinary tract infection. To support this, we
wanted our staff to maintain their high standards
for hand hygiene and urinary catheter care.

Proportion of patients with catheters who
had them in place for...

8%

46%

46%

The outcomes we achieved
• Our nurses used the Safety Thermometer
to do a monthly snap-shot audit of 18,168
patients seen in their own homes, residential
homes and our bed-based units, and used this
information to give us the incidence of patients
with catheters and those experiencing
associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI).
• On average, 11.67% of the patients seen
had urinary catheters during 2012/13.
• On average, significantly fewer patients than
our 10% target experienced a CAUTI.
• 1.13% of patients seen in all settings, of
which 32% were newly acquired infections.
• • 1.2% of patients in our bed-based units, of
which 73% were newly acquired infections.
• The incidence of CAUTI, including that of
newly acquired infections, reduced quarteron-quarter from July.

◼Less than 28 days
◼More than 28 days
◼Not known
• 100% of patients with urinary catheters who
were known to our services had catheter
care diaries.
• We maintained 100% compliance with the
national standards for catheter management
for staff working in our bed-based units and
99% in the community setting.
• We trained 110 more staff in continence
management and catheter care.

• The proportion of patients with a urinary
catheter did not change significantly month
on month through the year, and of those
• • as many had their catheter in place for less
than the recommended 28 days as did for
more than the recommended 28 days.
• • 8% of all patients with catheters did not
know how long their catheter had been
in place.
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How we supported these improvements
We saw 7,805 patients in our Bladder and
Bowel Service and helped those with bladder
dysfunction so that patients only used a
urinary catheter where it was essential to do
so and for the least time necessary.
We supported patients to have a trial without
their catheter, where it was safe for them to
do so, to see if they could manage without it.
We helped patients and carers to be partners
in their safe catheter care by:
• providing them with information about
hand hygiene and catheter care
• extending the use of catheter care checklists and diaries to all patients in the
community with a urinary catheter that are
known to us.
We trained staff in continence management
and catheter care through our learning and
development programme, bespoke sessions
for individual teams, and a newly developed
on-line training module.
We updated our Catheter Management Policy
to support staff in giving care which is based
on evidence and best practice.

We assessed the confidence and competence
of staff providing care to patients with urinary
catheters by observing their clinical practice every
month, and supported them to take immediate
action where standards were below our expected
minimum level of 95%.
We worked in partnership with other health
providers in Hertfordshire to explore more
effective ways of working, and to develop a
Catheter Passport that patients can take with
them between health and social care settings.
The work to prevent catheter associated urinary
tract infections needs to be embedded more
consistently wherever patients receive their care
if we are to continue to make progress towards
harm free care for our patients - we have
therefore retained this as one of our quality
priorities in 2013/14.
Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director and Director of Infection
Prevention and Control
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Infection Prevention and
Control sub-committee

Percentage of patients with catheter associated UTI

1.35%
1.10%
0.92%
0.37%
Apr - Jun 2012

0.40%
Jul - Sept 2012

◼Any UTI

0.90%
0.36%

Oct - Dec 2012

0.30%
Jan - Mar 2013

◼New UTI

Percentage of patients with catheter

10.76%

12.07%

13.01%

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

Oct - Dec 2012

10.86%

Jan- Mar 2013
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Outstanding clinical outcomes

“

PRIORITY 4
To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke who experience
a positive outcome from their rehabilitation

The
improvements I
have experienced
speak for themselves.
I feel much
better in myself and
have exceeded all
of my goals.

“

”

Patient

Neurological Service

When I had my
Stroke I had no idea
what help I needed
or whether anyone
would help me.
The sessions I have
had with all of the
team have been
fantastic and really
helped me to move
forward. [I am]
feeling happier and
more confident about
getting back to work
again soon.

”

Patient

Neurological Service

We wanted to support more patients who have
had a Stroke to achieve a good quality of life
with the best possible outcome from the
treatment and care available, and we wanted
them to feel that they had the information that
they needed to manage their own condition.
We set ourselves a target that, using a nationally
recognised measurement tool, by the end of
the year 90% of patients who were seen by
our specialist Stroke services would achieve a
good outcome against the goals that they set
for themselves.

How we supported these improvements
We built on the progress made last year and
aimed for patients with a Stroke to be consistently
seen within 72 hours of discharge from an acute
hospital by therapists trained in Stroke care, and
we achieved that for 91% of the 460 patients
during the year that were discharged into
our care.
We worked in partnership with patients and
their families in planning the type of care that
meets their needs best.

The outcomes we achieved
• In the last three months of the year 71% of
patients achieved a good outcome against
their own goals; a steady increase throughout
the year.
• • 48% of those achieved the best possible
outcome.
• • A further 16% exceeded their goals.
• 91% of patients during the year said they
had the information they needed to manage
their own condition.
• 97% of patients had confidence in the
way in which staff involved their families
and/or friends.
• 155 patients and their carers took up the
offer of self-management support groups.

• Patients started their episode of rehabilitation
with a goal planning session, involving their
carers and family members if they wanted to.
• Patients were helped to set new goals which
were more stretching if it was clear that they
had underestimated what they had hoped
to achieve from their episode of rehabilitation.
• Patients were offered self-management
sessions run over three modules, each with
a different focus and with the first module
being open to carers as well.
• Patients were offered a personal health plan,
which would also help improve communication
about their needs should they be seen by
different agencies.
We provided patients and families with
information that supported them in managing
the impact of their Stroke.
We used the expertise of our clinical
psychologists to support therapists in more
effective goal setting through additional
training, multidisciplinary team discussions
and use of a new electronic template.
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Percentage of patients achieving good outcome or exceeding their goals

32%

28%

16%

30%
71%
64%
51%

Apr - Jun 2012

55%

Jul - Sept 2012

◼Good outcome
We continued to work with the Bedfordshire
and Hertfordshire Heart and Stroke Network
to develop local services which will meet the
new standards for Stroke care launched by the
Midlands and East Strategic Health Authority
in the summer and provide patients with better
outcomes and experiences.
• We worked with a coordinator to gain a
detailed understanding of the journey that
patients with a Stroke take through our
services, how they fit with other Stroke
services in Hertfordshire and the challenges
we face in meeting the new standards.
• We led work to identify the level of
psychological support available for patients
with Stroke; in acute hospitals, community
services, mental health services and the
voluntary sector, and identified that there
were significant gaps and difficulties for
patients accessing what is available.
• We agreed a common tool to assess
mood and cognition to be introduced into
a new pathway for psychological support
for patients with Stroke; this will allow a
common understanding of a patient’s need
wherever they receive their care.

Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013

◼Exceeding goals
Achieving a cohesive service for patients who
have experienced a Stroke and helping them to
achieve the best outcomes and experiences will
be a continuing challenge - we have therefore
retained this as one of our quality priorities in
2013/14.

“

It was
useful to have
information on
other contacts and
group discussions
with others.
I particularly found
the session on dealing
with stress and
relaxation techniques
very useful.

”

Patient

Stroke Self-management

Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Clinical Effectiveness sub-committee

What is an outcome measure?
Patients set their own goals for the outcomes that they
want to achieve during an episode of rehabilitation.
The extent to which these personal goals are met is
measured and translated into a score. We used the
Goal Attainment Score - the national benchmark is
a score of 50, and scores between 45 and 55 are
considered good outcomes.
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Outstanding clinical outcomes
PRIORITY 5
To eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers developed by
patients within our care
We wanted to realise the SHA’s ambition
(launched in February 2012) to eliminate all
avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers
by December 2012. We knew, like other
organisations, this would be a considerable
challenge and only 13 of the 101 organisations
in the SHA had zero avoidable pressure ulcers
in December 2012. We agreed with our
commissioners that we would focus on
eliminating the most serious (category 3 and
4) pressure ulcers.

All pressure ulcers reported and treated
during 2012/13
61, 2.8%
391, 17.9%
286, 13.1%

1441, 66.1%

The outcomes we achieved
• A significant reduction in the number and
proportion of avoidable category 3 and 4
pressure ulcers developed whilst in the care
of our staff; from 24 (51%) in the first quarter
of the year to 3 (7%) in the last quarter.
• No avoidable category 3 or 4 pressure
ulcers in September and December 2012.
• Our nurses used the Safety Thermometer
to do a monthly snap-shot audit of 18,168
patients seen in their own homes, residential
homes and our bed-based units, and used
this information to give us the prevalance of
patients with newly developed and existing
pressure ulcers.
• A steady reduction in the percentage of
patients seen who had developed a new
pressure ulcer, and no patients with a new
category 4 pressure ulcer during January March 2013.
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◼Category 2
◼Category 3 (unclassified)
◼Category 3
◼Category 4

How do we compare?
Between April and December 2012 we reduced the
prevalence of patients with a new pressure ulcer by
59%, compared to 36% across the Midlands and
East SHA and 30% across the rest of England.
SHA Board Report, December 2012
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Number of avoidable category 3 or 4 pressure ulcers developed in our care

24
18

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

3

3

Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013

Avoidable category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers as a percentage of all category 3 and 4
pressure ulcers developed in our care

51%
41%

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

13%

7%

Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013

Percentage of patients with a new pressure ulcer (Safety Thermometer )

1.27%
1.11%
0.91%
0.49%

Apr - Jun 2012

Jul - Sept 2012

Oct - Dec 2012

Jan - Mar 2013
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How we supported these improvements
We improved the consistency and reliability of
care that our patients received by our staff
applying the best practice in prevention and
treatment of pressure ulcers.

• Guidelines for equipment selection have been
developed and are in use, and will support the
introduction of on-line ordering during 2013/14.

• We introduced care plans for prevention and
treatment, based on the national care bundle
(SSKIN) for all patients whether they are cared
for in their own homes, residential care homes
or our bed-based units.

We supported our patients and their carers in the
management of their own skin by developing
a new information leaflet, Pressure Ulcer
Prevention, which they receive on their first
contact with our services, whether they are in
their own homes, residential care homes or
our bed-based units.

• We promoted best practice through road
shows and the continued use of our PURPLE
mnemonic check list and handy pocket-sized
guides, which were highly praised when
published and presented at the Annual
European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel
Conference in June 2012.

We helped staff in residential care homes to
identify patients at risk of pressure damage and
to refer earlier for support to prevent pressure
ulcers developing.

• We introduced the use of a new board game,
STOP the Pressure, to reinforce key messages.
• Our pressure ulcer link nurses in every team
reviewed clinical practice and discussed their
findings in weekly team meetings, and came
together at regular intervals to share learning
across the Trust.
• We shared learning from the detailed
investigations into the 160 pressure ulcers
that were declared as serious incidents.
We trained 368 more nursing and therapy staff
in pressure ulcer prevention and management
and wound care, including a bespoke programme
for staff working in our Wheelchair Service,
Children’s Services and Palliative Care Services.
We developed competencies for staff in
pressure ulcer prevention and treatment,
which have been shared by the strategic
health authority as good practice examples
with other NHS services across the region.
We worked more closely with Hertfordshire
Equipment Service (HES) to improve the provision
of the most effective equipment for patients
as early as possible in their care.
• A liaison nurse working across our Trust and
HES improved communication and clinical
decision-making in the choice of equipment
required for patients, and consequently
reduced the time taken for patients to
receive the equipment that they need.

100

• We introduced a link nurse for every residential
care home to improve communication and
build trust.
• We introduced self-care checklists in addition
to the Pressure Ulcer Prevention leaflet.
• We worked jointly with some residential
care home managers to develop best practice
guidelines for their staff; following a successful
test period they will be introduced more
widely during 2013/14.
We participated in the SHA Change Champion
programme to drive forward this ambition;
our Tissue Viability Nurse won an award for
the “most clear and effective message on
pressure ulcer management.”
We commissioned an external review of our
progress in achieving this ambition at the midyear
point to help us identify any outstanding areas
of focus.
We need to shift our focus to the elimination
of avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers and
the effective healing of all pressure ulcers we have therefore retained this as one of our
quality priorities in 2013/14.
Board sponsor
Hemal Desai
Medical Director
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Clinical Effectiveness sub-committee
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How we performed against national targets

Hertfordshire - all services
National Indicators

Full year
target

Performance as at
March 2013

18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT consultant led services

95%

99%

Genitourinary Medicine (GUM) - percentage of patients offered
an appointment within 48 hours

98%

99.9%

GUM - percentage of patients seen within 48 hours

85%

90.2%

West Herts Newborn Hearing Screening - percentage of babies
screened within four weeks of birth

95%

98%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been offered an annual screen

100%

100%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been screened

80%

Minor Injuries Unit - Herts and Essex Hospital - patients seen
treated and discharged with four hours

95%

92.3%
100%

Strategic Health Authority Indicators
18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT non consultant led services

98%

99.9%

Urgent district nurse response within 24 hours

100%

100%

Non urgent district nurse response within 48 hours

100%

100%

Full year
target

Performance as at
March 2013

West Essex - Children’s Services
National Indicators
18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT consultant led services

95%

57.9%

“

”

NHS Choices

Minor Injuries Unit
Herts and Essex Hospital

… in total
from making the
first appointment
in September my
daughter has had to
wait 6 months to be
seen - and this is not
acceptable.

”

Perent

Children’s Medical Service
West Essex

Strategic Health Authority Indicators
18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT non consultant led services

“

I was
expecting to have
to wait a couple of
hours to be seen.
I barely waited
15 minutes.
All staff I
encountered
were courteous,
professional and
helpful…
you are a credit
to our NHS.

98%
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Other areas of quality improvement

Outstanding patient experience
Listening and responding to compliments, concerns and complaints

“

Gathering the views and experiences of people
who use our services and using these to improve
the quality of the care we provide is important
to us. We encouraged people to give us their
feedback individually and collectively.

I was
telephoned by
the head of service
and given an
opportunity to
voice my complaint
once she had
received my letter.
She listened patiently
and professionally.
She ensured that
the complaint had
a good outcome.
She will be using my
letter (anonymously)
for training purposes,
so I feel my
complaint has made
an impact.

“

”

Complainant

Thank you
for looking after
[my mother] so well.
She speaks so highly
of the care she has
received from
everyone and
is going to
recommend it to
all her friends.

”

What did our patients tell us?
94.8% told us the quality of the care they received
was good to excellent.

98.6% said they had confidence and trust in
the staff treating them.

In 2012/13 more of our patients, their families
and advocates shared their comments and
criticisms with us about the quality of their care
and experiences. We used their feedback to
understand where we could make improvements
and took action to do so; 86% of our services
introduced changes as a direct result of feedback,
with a number of services introducing more
than one change.
We handled the enquiries, concerns and
complaints that we received promptly.

49 people told us in written complaints that the
standard of care that they or their relative had
received needs to improve.

37% of unpaid carers of people over the age of
75, who came into our bed-based units or Stroke
services, said they were not asked about their
needs as a carer.

64% of patients would be promoters of our
services by recommending the care they received
to family or friends should they need it.

92% of patients attending our Community Dental
• Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
resolved 94% of enquiries within 24-hours;
a continued year-on-year improvement.

Service said that they felt very safe and comfortable
throughout the procedure.

• With the exception of one month during the
year, we investigated and responded to more
than 80% of complaints within the timescale
agreed with the complainant, and resolved
9% within 24-hours.

to help their child develop communication skills
after attending Speech and Language Therapy.

• 86% of complainants who gave us feedback
said the response to their complaint was timely.
• Only 5.1% of the complaints were re-opened
for further investigation at the request of the
complainant.

73% of parents in West Essex felt completely able

Quality of care is not just about getting the treatment
and care of patients right. It is also about putting
things right when mistakes occur. This means handling
complaints promptly and sensitively, and carrying out
thorough investigations to establish the facts of the
case. It also means giving complainants timely and
evidence-based responses, ensuring that any failings
in care are properly acknowledged and explained.
Listening and Learning: The Ombudsman’s
review of complaint handling by the NHS in
England 2011-2012

Relative

Gossoms End
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More people took the time to compliment the
staff about the care that they or their relatives
had received and significantly more, 9,077 in
all, gave us their feedback in surveys. Five people
posted comments about our services on NHS
Choices during 2012/13, all of which were
compliments; three about care received at our
Minor Injuries Unit in Herts and Essex Hospital,
one about care received on Langton Ward
and one about care received on our ward at
Potters Bar Community Hospital. One person
posted comments on the Patient Opinion
website about the difficulty in contacting our
Integrated Community Team about occupational
therapy. With the local authority, we have now
introduced a new call centre which can help
people with enquiries and referrals about both
health and social care issues.
We introduced new arrangements to support
people with disabilities to give us their feedback.
For example, a new easy-read PALS & Complaints
leaflet and a ‘Browsealoud’ function on our
website for those who need reading support.

We introduced the use of the Families and
Friends Test in 88% of our services to understand
more fully whether the experience which our
patients received was one that they would
recommend to a family member or a friend;
overall during the year 64% of the patients
who gave their feedback would promote our
services - below the average of 73% of our
network of other Community Trusts who are
aspiring to be Foundation Trusts. In 2013/14,
we will ask at least 15% of people who use
each of our services their recommendation and
aim to reduce the variation between services.
We used the experiences of our patients in the
development and delivery of our induction
programme for all new staff and our training
programmes for front-line staff. For example;
training for customer care, infection control,
pressure ulcer and wound management,
safeguarding vulnerable adults, information
governance and in our Mental Capacity and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards training
planned for 2013/14. Our staff told us in our
in 2012, that it had made a difference; 42% of
staff said they had received training that helped
them to deliver a good patient experience,
compared to 24% in 2011, and 63% said
they felt it had helped them to deliver a
better patient experience.

friendly

professional

e ff i c i e n t

“

”

NHS Choices

Potters Bar
Community Hospital

”

All departments
I have visited have
been extremely
professional and
courteous.
NHS Choices

What did our compliments tell us?

reassuring

“

The nursing
staff were first
class in every way
and very efficient
to every patient by
putting the patient
first always which
is not always the
case now.

Minor Injuries Unit
Herts and Essex Hospital

supportive

thankful

informative

kind

thorough

considerate

good communication

caring

helpful

understanding

good service
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“

We strengthened the arrangements for our
Board members to hear patient and staff
experiences first-hand in addition to the
information that they receive through the
regular patient experience, complaints and
serious incidents reports; through a programme
of site and service visits and patient experience
stories as a prelude to every Board meeting.

”

Dear Mr Law,
I write to commend
[podiatrist] for the
excellent customer
care and treatment
he provides.

“

Patient

Podiatry Service

During 2013/14 we will continue to build on
our culture that puts patients first, with the
help of staff who are committed, caring and
compassionate. We will engage better with
people who use our services and their
representatives, and work with them as
partners in shared-decision making about our
services, and we will put them at the heart of
driving our patient experience feedback.

Patient Engagement in Practice
On a morning in September and an early evening in
October 2012, two Conversation Cafés were held to
gather feedback from patients, parents and other
stakeholders about the Children’s Services provided
in West Essex and their future direction.
Over 30 people attended each session - parents
and representatives of 20 different organisations
including Essex Local Involvement Network, Essex
County Council, schools and voluntary organisations.
There was a consensus that “HCT had made a good
start to providing services within West Essex and
genuine excitement about what was being proposed.”
Independent Facilitator

We are very
impressed with
this excellent service
and would highly
recommend it to any
commissioning body
or service user.

”

Relative

Community Dental Service
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Summary of the complaints, compliments and PALS enquiries received
Complaints
Total number of complaints

2009/10 2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

173

192

190

233

Complaints per 1000 contacts

-

-

0.110

0.122

Referrals to Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

2

2

2

2

Referrals investigated by PHSO

0

0

0

n/a

n/a

2011/12

2012/13

Referrals upheld by PHSO

n/a

0
n/a

Top 4 themes

2009/10 2010/11

Standards of Care

29 (17%) 53 (30%) 41 (23%) 49 (21%)

Access to Services (including waiting times)

28 (16%) 44 (25%) 18 (10%) 37 (16%)

Staff Attitude

28 (16%) 24 (13%) 13 (7%) 32 (14%)

Communication

50 (29%) 30 (17%) 36 (20%) 28 (12%)

Patient Advice and Liaison Service

2009/10 2010/11

Total number of enquiries
Percentage resolved in 24 hours
Top 4 themes

2011/12

2012/13

416

445

488

719

-

73%

91%

94%

2011/12

2012/13

2009/10 2010/11

Information about non-HCT services

-

-

261 (54%) 275 (38%)

Relaying compliments

-

-

17 (4%) 144 (20%)

Communication

-

-

50 (10%) 93 (13%)

Appointment (dates/times)

-

-

41 (8%) 39 (5%)

Compliments
Total number of compliments received
Compliments per 1000 contacts

2009/10 2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

428

449

3047

4503

-

-

1.768

2.362

“

Unless patients
are prepared to tell
the management
what is wrong, there
is no way things
can improve which
must be the desire
of everyone
involved.

”

Patient

Langley House

How do we compare?
0.122 complaints received per 1000 contacts, below the average of 0.16 for other Aspirant Community
Foundation Trusts.
PHSO investigated and reported on 46 complaints for all NHS bodies in the East of England Strategic Health
Authority in 2011/12 and upheld 76% of them.
2.362 compliments received per 1000 contacts, above the average of 1.36 for other Aspirant Community
Foundation Trusts.
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Outstanding patient experience

“

Personal, coordinated and responsive

I would like
to thank all the
staff for the care
and dignity and love
they gave to both
my parents, and for
the respect they
showed after their
sad deaths.

“

”

Relative

Langton Ward

It was very
evident that work
had been undertaken
to ensure families
and carers were
comfortable when
visiting family
members.

”

Treating people with respect and dignity is one
of our core values as we know it is central to a
positive experience for our patients and their
carers. When asked, on average 99.6% of
4979 patients and carers told us that we are
getting it right for them. And 91.7% said we
always respected their privacy when discussing
or providing their care.
Patients in our bed-based units continued to
receive their care in same sex accommodation
and we reported no breaches.
Our Patient Environment and Action Team
(PEAT) results for 2012 confirmed continued
high standards of privacy and dignity against
the new more challenging standards,
achieving good or excellent in all ten of our
sites. In 2013/14 patients will make up at least
50% of the assessment team and have a
much stronger voice.

We built on our work to be a Trust which is
personal, fair and diverse and where everyone’s
contribution matters and everyone counts, by
having a Board level Personal, Fair and Diverse
Champion, appointing an Equality and Diversity
lead, developing and revising some policies, and
significantly increasing the number of staff who
have undertaken equality and diversity training
by 550. We are also reviewing how we have
performed against the national NHS Equality
Delivery System framework in partnership with
patients, partners and other key stakeholders.

Personal Care in Practice
Patrick felt he needed to build his confidence in
caring for his wife before she was discharged home.
Staff at Danesbury were able to arrange for Patrick
and his wife to share a ‘flat’ on the unit without
breaching the same sex guidelines. Patrick was able
to deliver the care his wife needed at night whilst
feeling supported that staff were available should
he need them.
* Patrick is not his real name

NHS Hertfordshire
QVM Hospital
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We took actions outlined in our Learning
Disability Plan so that our staff are more able
to meet the needs of people with learning
disabilities. For example:
• we produced appointment letters and
information leaflets in easy-read format
• we raised awareness of staff through training
sessions and champions
• we developed an information pack for
palliative care patients with a learning
disability, which won the national
Linda McEnhill Award
• we asked patients and carers for their
feedback and used it to shape our plan.
We will work in partnership with the Health
Liaison Team to make more of a difference in
2013/14.
Staff in our bed-based units continued to make
changes so that their overall responsiveness to
the personal needs of their patients improved.

Responsive Care in Practice
The children’s community nurses in West Essex
know how important responsive care is for families,
no more so when parents receive the news that
their baby has a life-limiting condition.
The family met their children’s community nurse
(CCN) when she attended the discharge planning
meeting at the hospital the day after their child’s
diagnosis, and they chose her to be their keyworker.
The very next day she visited them at home with
their Health Visitor; they all agreed a plan of regular
visits for practical and emotional support. The family
knew that there would always be one of them at
the end of a phone [made possible by the HV and
CCN arranging their annual leave not to coincide]
and, when it was needed, that they would visit
more often. Therapy began without having to wait
behind everyone else on the waiting list. The family
welcomed the visits when the GP, therapists, HV and
CCN came together; they kept everyone up-to-date
without needing to relive their grief. This responsive
care and support helped the family to meet their
wish for their baby to die peacefully at home aged
9 months.

Patients said they were...

2011/12

2012/13

...involved as much as they wanted to be in decisions
about their care

85%

85%

...able to talk to someone about their fears and worries

79%

80%

...felt they were given privacy when discussing their
condition or treatment

94.5%

95.2%

...were told who to contact if they were worried about their
condition after they left hospital

89%

89%

...were told about the medication side effects to watch out
for when they were discharged home

67%

77%

Overall responsiveness (weighted score)

82.9%

85.3%
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We involved patients when we had to make
changes to where we provide our services from,
and coordinated the relocation of services so
that patients and staff experience minimal
disruption. For example:

“

Each nurse
has extended the
highest standard
of care to me;
they have listened
to all my fears,
calmed my mind,
explained what is
happening to me
and reassured
my wife. They did
not just arrive, apply
the injection and
leave - they made
sure their patient
was okay.

“

”

• we found a joint solution with the University
of Hertfordshire and local Children’s Centres
to keep our services at the heart of the Hatfield
community whilst we undertake the major
refurbishment of Queensway Health Centre
to improve its facilities, provide better access
for patients and reduce its carbon footprint
by 65%
• our Cardiac Rehabilitation Service involved
experienced patients and the local Heart
Support Group in assessing the suitability
of alternative premises in Hemel Hempstead
• we are already in discussion with patients in
preparation for refurbishment of Parkway
Health Centre and the relocation of other
services out of Kingsley Green, and with the
residents of Harpenden about the future of
Harpenden Memorial Hospital.

Coordinated Care in Practice
Catriona had fallen nine times without good
reason and after visits to A&E and a hospital stay
for tests, she was diagnosed with a rare and rapidly
progressing disease. She came out of hospital bruised
and battered in all respects and spent the next two
weeks recovering. She described herself by nature
as a positive and proactive person, but was
struggling to see what to do next and how to deal
with the immediate implications of her diagnosis.
Her neurologist referred her to our Rare and Rapidly
Progressing Conditions Coordinator, who gave her
the opportunity to discuss the various options of
therapies and treatments open to her, something
she found immensely helpful and encouraging.
To have someone coordinate all the referrals, deal
with all the paper work, and show her where and
how to access more information, removed all her
stress and strain so that she could focus her energy
on working alongside the healthcare professionals
and make the most of their support and feel like she
had control again.
* Catriona is not her real name

Patient

Stevenage Integrated
Community Team

My family and
I would like to thank
you for caring for dad
with such compassion
and dignity. You had
a way of calming
his inner fears and
concerns which
was special.

”

Relatives

Specialist Palliative
Care Service
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Delivering harm free care
During 2012/13 front-line staff in our integrated
community teams and bed-based units used
the national Safety Thermometer to measure
the four high volume safety problems that
patients experience; pressure ulcers, falls,
urinary tract infections for those with urinary
catheters and treatment for new venous
thromboembolism (blood clots). They used
this information in supporting them to deliver
improvements towards harm free care and
improved outcomes for patients.
In addition to the progress made through our
quality priorities for reducing harm from urinary
catheters and pressure ulcers (pages 94 and 98):

• • we undertook a ‘deep dive’ to identify
factors that contribute to patients falling
and experiencing harm in our bed-based
units and made recommendations for
improvements
• • we referred patients to the new Hertfordshire
Falls Liaison Service, and added the referral
form to our electronic patient record to
make it easier for our staff
• we continued to screen 99.9% of patients
for their risk of VTE on their admission to
our bed-based units.

• we reduced the number of falls that patients
in our bed-based units experienced by
10.1% (against our target of 10%), but
not the number of patients who experienced
a fracture or injury needing acute hospital
care as a consequence of their fall:
• staff continued to identify patients at risk,
create the right environment and reduce the
potential for harm

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

849

660

598

9.100

8.297

7.735

1

13

17

0.011

0.163

0.220

147

109

98

Patients assessed within 2 hours of admission

87%

95%

96%

Care plan in place

80%

94%

94%

Falls
Total
Per 1000 occupied bed days
Patient falls resulting in severe harm
Total
Per 1000 occupied bed days
Patients falling more than once during their stay

Falls risk assessments and care plans
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In 2013/14, we will increase the visibility and
availability of our staff and reduce the risk of
harm by introducing more formal intentional
rounding in our bed-based units, and we will
take the actions identified from the ‘deep dive’
into falls prevention.
In January 2013, we introduced the incident
reporting of all deaths occurring in our care,
whether they were unexpected or not. This
will allow us to establish our mortality rate
during 2013/14 and provide us with another
reliable indicator of our patient safety.

What is intentional rounding?
Staff checking patients at set intervals to assess
and manage their pain, position, pressure care and
personal needs.
Patients feel cared for and reassured, knowing that in
a short space of time they will be visited by a nurse
and given the opportunity to raise any individual needs.
It has been shown to reduce falls, dehydration,
incontinence, anxiety and social isolation.

What did our Safety Thermometer results tell us?

110

Patients audited in 2012/13

18,168

Harm free care

90.75%

Average for Aspirant Community Foundation Trusts

90.30%

No new harms

96.82%

Falls with harm

1.81%

New VTEs

0.12%

New pressure ulcers

0.93%

New urinary tract infections in patients with catheters

0.36%
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Infection prevention and control
Infection prevention and control continues to
be a high priority. Our staff know that they have
an individual responsibility to ensure that they
provide a safe service to our patients, whether
care is provided in our centres, in our bed-based
units or in the patient’s home. Staff continued
to closely monitor their standards in infection
prevention and control to give their patients
the assurance that they are safe from the risk
of infection.
Our achievements in 2012/13 include:
• No patients experienced an avoidable MRSA
bacteraemia (blood borne infection) linked
to our services; below the ceiling of three set
by our commissioners
• 99.8% of patients were screened for MRSA
on admission to our bed-based units

• Staff in our rapid assessment unit maintained
their high standards against the 5-moments
of hand hygiene; 100% a sustained increase
from 87% in January 2012 when their
observational audits began
• Of patients who gave us feedback 92.4%
told us that the ward they were staying in
was very clean and 99.7% told us that the
staff washed or cleaned their hands
between patients
• Over 1,900 staff have undertaken their
infection prevention and control training
in face-to-face sessions and by e-learning,
increasing the overall uptake of all staff
across the Trust from 47% in April 2012 to
83.5% in March 2013, and the uptake in
our bed-based units to over 90%.

• Staff in our bed-based units and integrated
community teams maintained their high
standards in hand hygiene; 99.8% and
100% respectively
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“

C difficile cases

”

Patient

Potters Bar
Community Hospital

”

The hospital
room I was in was
spotless.
Patient

Langley House
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2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

30

19

18

11

18

0.193

0.138

0.233

C difficile cases per 1000 occupied bed days

The cleanest
hospital I have ever
been in!

“

2008/9

Aspirant Community Foundation Trust average (February 2013)

The health economy in West Hertfordshire has
seen an increase in the number of patients
diagnosed with Clostridium difficile (C difficile)
infection, and so has our Trust despite the decline
in numbers over previous years. A total of 18
patients experienced a C difficile infection in
2012/13, against a ceiling of 15 set by our
commissioners.
Five of our wards or units did not have any
patients with a C difficile infection, and of the
7 wards or units that did, four had only one
patient was diagnosed with an infection.
We declared four ‘periods of increased incidence’
during which we increase the frequency and
intensity of checking clinical practice and
cleaning of the environment, undertake staff
education and deep clean the ward or unit.
This ensures that we are doing everything that
we can to prevent the risk of other patients
developing the infection. We declared one
outbreak and invited the experts from the
Health Protection Agency (HPA) to visit the unit
to ensure that we were following best practice.
In addition, we updated our guidelines on
antibiotic use and developed new guidelines
for the prescribing of proton pump inhibitors
(drugs that reduce stomach acid) as both are
considered risk factors for developing a
C difficile infection.

0.063

All organisations are working together to
improve the West Hertfordshire health economy
increase in C difficile infections and this will
continue as an area of priority in 2013/14.
We will strive to achieve the ceiling set by
our commissioners of fewer than 14 patients
being diagnosed with a C difficile infection.
During 2012/13 there were three outbreaks of
diarrhoea and vomiting in three of our bed-based
units; all were confirmed as Norovirus (winter
vomiting illness). The units were closed to
admissions during the outbreaks as part of the
collection of measures to bring the outbreaks
under control. The HPA has confirmed that, for
the 2012/13 season, the number of Norovirus
reported nationally was 14% higher than the
same period in 2011/12.
We held our second annual ‘Think Clean Week’
in November 2012, a joint initiative with our
estates and facilities team to promote the
benefits of an uncluttered environment on
effective cleaning and patient experience.
Staff were recognised through nominations
and awards.
Following an outbreak of influenza A in one
of our units in 2012 we increased the uptake
of ‘flu vaccination by our staff following a
comprehensive staff awareness programme
(page 117).
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Safeguarding vulnerable people
During a year when safeguarding has been
high on the public agenda, we have continued
to embed a culture of zero tolerance of abuse
and ensure that safeguarding remains a high
priority in the Trust with the support of our
Named Nurses for Safeguarding Vulnerable
Adults (SVA) and Safeguarding Children,
our Children’s Safeguarding Team and our
safeguarding champions, and through our
continued work with other agencies and the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
(HSAB) and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board (HSCB).
• We helped our staff in identifying safeguarding
concerns and in effective decision-making
through a comprehensive training programme
and regular safeguarding supervision.
• We worked with the commissioners in
West Essex and put in place a safeguarding
service to support the staff in West Essex
Children’s Services when the previous
provider withdrew after the services
transferred into our Trust in April 2012.
• We recovered the proportion of staff who
had undertaken basic and more advanced
safeguarding training when these fell below
our target levels, and our Board undertook
their training.
• We participated in the safety campaigns
identified by the multi-agency panel which
reviews every unexpected child death in
Hertfordshire; developing an information
leaflet for parents on safe sleeping, and
delivering training to our health visitors on
the risks to babies and infants of shared
sleeping arrangements.
• We contributed to a training DVD which the
HSAB is to launch Hertfordshire-wide.

• Our Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) Service
has helped 111 very vulnerable young
families in Welwyn, Hatfield, Letchworth
and Stevenage in developing their resilience,
confidence and abilities as parents since it
began in November 2011, with 72% being
supported from before 16 weeks into their
pregnancy (above the national target of 60%)
and, where needed, child protection plans
put in place to safeguard the unborn baby.
• Our staff made 125 referrals to our Named
Nurse for SVA for her advice during 2012/13,
similar to 116 last year, and 48 of the referrals
made by our staff led to a formal multi-agency
investigation, an increase on 32 last year.
• We reviewed the CQC report issued in June
2012 further to their national inspection of
Learning Disability Services, and the final
report (Transforming Care) of the Department
of Health’s review into the abuse of residents
at Winterbourne View Hospital; we extended
the role of our Safeguarding Champions to
be champions for people with Learning
Disability and supported them with training,
and we encouraged our staff to raise concerns
that they might have and reminded them
how they could do so. We will work with our
partners to implement the recommendations.

“

I like my
Family Nurse as
she is the person
I trust the most and
the first person
I would go to with
a problem.

”

Mother-to-be

Family Nurse Partnership

• We confirmed the safeguards we have in
place and the actions that we need to take
in the light of the allegations against Jimmy
Savile; we will update our volunteer policy
and maintain a data-base of the volunteers
who help us with our patients, and we will
seek assurance from the employers of
contracted and temporary staff working
in our services of their recruitment and
selection standards.
• We are reviewing the 290 recommendations
in the second Francis Report following the public
inquiry into the failings at Mid Staffordshire
Hospital, and we will take the action which
is needed. Led by our Director of Quality and
Governance and Chief Nurse, the review will
include patients, staff and stakeholders to
identify the gaps in our Trust.
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“

”

Whilst in 2012/13, the ‘Section 11’ review of our
arrangements to safeguard children undertaken
by our commissioners, the Annual Review of
our FNP Service undertaken by the Department
of Health FNP Unit, and the review of our
arrangements to safeguard adults, undertaken
within the external review of HSAB and by our
Trust auditors, confirmed that we have effective

systems and strong partnership working in
place, we will not be complacent. In 2013/14
we will build on our culture of openness and
honesty, ensure our governance systems are
robust, and provide service users an easy facility
to raise concerns as a strong safeguard against
poor practice.

Thank you for all
of your help trying to
get us housed.

“

Parent

Health Visiting Service

We really
understand our
son’s problems now.
We were very
impressed with the
service... our son felt
that he was safe
which was most
important.

”

Parents

Challenging Behaviour
Psychology Service

114

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Our quality improvements in 2012-2013

Consistent and improving patient safety
Reporting and learning from incidents and safety alerts
In 2012/13 we wanted to see our rate of
incident reporting continue to increase as we
know an organisation with a high level of
incident reporting is one more able to learn
and improve their patient safety, and we did;
an average of 380 patient safety incidents per
month during 2012/13 compared to an average
of 357 per month in 2011/12. The national
benchmarking data released by the National
Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) for the six months
from April - September 2012 confirmed that
we achieved the expected shift into the highest
25% of reporters in similar organisations.
Our National Staff Survey results for 2012 tell
us that more of our staff witnessed incidents
in the previous month (28%) compared to the
national average for community trusts (23%),
and that fewer staff (87%) reported incidents
than they witnessed in the previous month
compared to the national average (93%).
We know we can therefore improve further.

We reported a total of 4,562 patient-related
incidents to our Board during 2012/13 compared
to 4,285 in 2011/12, a 6.5% increase. The overall
pattern of reporting in 2012/13 has changed
since 2011/12, with the exception of pressure
ulcers which remains the top category and
represents 47.8% of all patient-related incidents
reported. Of significance, incidents involving
patient transport continued to increase despite
our combined efforts with the commissioner of
the service to facilitate an improvement, and
medication incidents have reduced following
the introduction of improved documentation
to support safe administration of insulin for
patients in their own homes.

Summary of patient-related incidents

Total number of patient-related incidents reported
Total number of (confirmed) serious incidents
Serious incidents as proportion of all incidents
Never events

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2650

4285

4562

22

95

209

0.008

0.022

0.046

0

0

0

How do we compare?
61.8 patient incidents reported per 1000 bed days, compared to a median of 41.1 for similar organisations.
0.5% of incidents resulted in severe harm or death, compared to 0.9% for similar organisations.
NPSA, April-September 2012
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We reported 233 serious incidents during
2012/13, 24 of which were down-graded
by NHS Hertfordshire or NHS West Essex.
The confirmed 209 serious incidents represent

4.6% of all patient-related incidents reported
and reflect the increased awareness of patient
safety and an increasing open and learning
culture across the Trust.

Top 10 reported incidents 2012/13
Pressure ulcer
Patient fall
Transportation
Personal accident - patient
Medication
Admission, discharge or transfer
Medical devices and equipment
Patient confidentiality
Nursing care
Communication

Summary of serious incidents
2010/11
Pressure ulcer - category 3 or 4

116

2011/12

2012/13

10

54

162

Patient injury - fall

1

13

17

Breach of confidentiality

3

11

11

Infection control

2

7

5

Allegations of abuse

2

1

8

Medication

1

3

0

Patient injury - manual handling

0

1

1

Patient harm

0

1

1

Late diagnosis

0

1

0

Notification of child death

0

1

1

National screening programme

1

1

1

Estates and facilities

1

1

0

Death in custody

1

0

1

Significant near miss

0

0

1
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We took actions in response to the learning
from the investigations of our incidents.
For example:
• we increased the uptake of influenza
immunisation by our staff; 70% of staff in
our bed-based units and 45% of staff overall,
from an overall 40.6% of staff in 2011/12
• we reinstated our Medical Devices Advisory
Group

We identified actions we will take in
2013/14. For example:
• we will undertake an audit to confirm
the correct assessment and use of
antiembolism stockings
• we will do a full stock-take of all our
medial devices and train staff in their
responsibilities for equipment in their
services

• we undertook a ‘deep dive’ into incidents
that involved the administration of insulin or
anticoagulants (blood thinning medication),
and found that incidents occurred in 0.04%
of the visits which were for insulin and 0.13%
of those which were for anticoagulant
administration

• we will introduce competency
assessments in the administration of
anticoagulant medication for our nurses
in our integrated community teams and
bed-based units

• we checked the window restrictors in all of
our buildings and introduced a programme
of regular safety checks in all our sites by
our Health and Safety leads

During 2012/13 we received 142 alerts
through our Central Alert System Liaison
Officer of which 71 were applicable to our
services. Of the 30 which required actions
to be taken, 25 have been completed in
year and the remaining five are underway
and within the required timescales.
Examples of changes introduced from the
alerts are:

• we improved the pre-admission checklist to
reduce the risk of patients with infections
being admitted to our bed-based units
• we reviewed the recording of patients’
resuscitation status in our bed-based units
• we employed a member of staff to work in
Hertfordshire Equipment Service to improve
clinical decision-making and access to
essential pressure relieving equipment.

“

”

Transport
is disgusting.
[It is] never on time.
The transport
company lets
you down.

“

Patient

Wheelchair Service

• we will review our resuscitation policies

• we worked with other organisations
across Hertfordshire and the NPSA and
introduced an Insulin Passport for
diabetic patients

I was shown
valuable pieces of
apparatus and able
to choose the
equipment closest
to my needs.
The service provided
was efficient
and courteous.
Patient

”

Acute Therapies Service

• we purchased 150 safer syringe drivers.

Types of alerts received
2012/13
Medical Device Alerts

89

Medicines and Healthcare Regulatory Agency Drug Alerts

34

Department of Health Chief Medical Officer Messaging

13

Department of Health Estates and Facilities Alerts

3

National Patient Safety Alerts

0

Others

3
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Excellent clinical outcomes
NICE guidance, streamlining clinical pathways and developing new services
In addition to improvements in clinical
effectiveness arising out of our clinical audit
programme (page 81), our Clinical Effectiveness
sub-committee reviewed all 90 sets of national
clinical guidance and all 12 quality standards
released during 2012/13 by NICE. We undertook
self-assessments of compliance of the 17 clinical
guidelines and of the six quality standards
applicable to our services, and took action to
achieve compliance where this was identified.
For example:
• we worked with East and North Herts NHS Trust
to improve the information that is available
to our staff about a patient’s ongoing risk of
falling, so that when patients are discharged
after a hip fracture actions to prevent another
fall can be put in place without delay
• the National Meningitis Trust leaflet is given
and discussed by the Health Visitor with
parents during the new birth visit.
Following a meeting with the SHA representative
for NICE to explore whether we could be doing
more in our self-assessments, we have introduced
their tools for undertaking self-assessments of
clinical and public health guidance.
We retained our level one accreditation with the
NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) achieved in
December 2011, a reflection of the quality and
content of our policies and the risk management
standards to which we are working. The NHSLA
are not undertaking a full schedule of assessments
in 2013/14, therefore our re-assessment originally
scheduled for December 2013 has been deferred
to 2014/15.
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During 2012/13 we continued to work with
our partners in the NHS, local authority and
voluntary sector in Hertfordshire and West
Essex in redesigning how clinical services are
provided so that patients experience care
which is more effective, has less duplication,
is more easily accessed and, where possible,
allows them to stay at home rather than be
admitted to hospital.
• In a new partnership with Quantum Care we
started providing the nursing and therapy
support to patients receiving intermediate
care in 30 beds which opened in the autumn
2012, and working together in a shared
governance framework to ensure the patients
and carers have a good experience.
• In partnership with Hertfordshire County
Council (HCC) we set up an ‘integrated point
of access’ on either side of the county which
is open seven days a week and provides one
place for professionals to refer people needing
intermediate care. This pilot project has received
approximately 7,000 referrals since it opened,
forwarding them to the right service, whether
provided by our community nurses, community
matrons and therapists or by social care, to
ensure effective care for the patient and
their family.
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Innovation in Practice
Irene developed a urinary tract infection that made
her feel very unwell and literally took her off her
feet. Her multiple sclerosis made it difficult but she
could usually get herself about using her wheelchair
and mobility scooter, but now she couldn’t even
stand up. She had nobody at home to help her and
she was desperately worried that she would have
to go into hospital to recover from the infection.
Her GP referred her to the Home First project and
the rapid response team were with her within the
hour - the GP, a community matron and a social
worker. The GP prescribed antibiotics, nurses helped
clear up her infection and made sure she wouldn’t
get sore anywhere on her skin, and carers came to
help her day and night which meant she didn’t need
to go into hospital. When she felt better from the
infection, the physiotherapist and occupational
therapist came home to see her and taught her how
to use a sliding board to get out of bed and into her
wheelchair and showed her exercises to do to get
her strength back. They came back every few days to
change her exercises as she made progress and her
confidence improved. The social worker looked at
what help she needed - she knew she couldn’t rely
on her friends for help forever - and now she has a
private carer to help her every day and a back-up
plan from social services that she can get quickly
should she need it again in the future. And she is
back on her feet and getting out of the house again
on her mobility scooter.
“It was faultless how the Home First staff took care
of me, something really fantastic. It was a great
comfort when I needed it so much. Most importantly,
we patients prefer and hope to be at home not in
hospital, so I think this service is the way of the future.”
Irene, Home First patient

• Our Rare and Rapidly Progressing Neurological
Conditions Service, the renamed ‘My Needs
Now’ project, which started in January 2012
has coordinated care provided by health, social
care and voluntary organisations, and in so
doing has transformed the quality of life for
this group of patients, improved the knowledge
of staff working with them, and raised the
awareness of these conditions and the need
for prompt and coordinated care, not only
locally but nationally. As a unique model within
the UK, the outcomes of its evaluation are
being used in a national report (by the Rare
Diseases UK Group) to investigate the benefits
that care coordinators can bring to patients
and the NHS, and have been presented to the
End of Life Congress 2013, as well as to other
national bodies, focus groups and informed
patients. The model is already being used for
service redesign elsewhere in the UK.
• In partnership with GPs and social care,
we developed a new model of care to help
patients with long-term conditions and
those who become unwell to manage their
own care at home and, where possible,
prevent them needing a hospital admission.
In Home First, patients experience seamless
and responsive care from fully integrated
health and social care teams, working with
them to be partners in their own health, and
those in crisis receive a rapid response from
the team within 30 minutes. The outcomes
from the evaluation of these two Home First
pilots in Hertsmere and Lower Lea Valley will be
used by commissioners in 2013/14 to decide
their continued use and their expansion to
other geographical areas.

“[Irene is] getting more social care support too, which
takes some of the weight off her friends who were
acting as carers - which means they feel supported
and cared for too.”
GP
* Irene is not her real name
In the first 3 months that the Hertsmere Home First
project has been running its staff have helped over
210 patients in their ‘virtual ward’, provided a rapid
response to 140 of them and prevented 85% of them
from going into hospital.
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“

• Our children’s specialist diabetes nurses worked
closely with their colleagues in West Herts
Hospitals Trust to meet the standards in the
new national best practice tariff introduced in
2012/13, building on their work last year to
provide support from diagnosis, with prompt
follow-up, 24-hour access to advice, structured
education programmes and smooth transfer
into adult services.

The staff
explain clearly what
is expected of the
children so they
are ready for the
following week.
The children obviously
enjoy the learning
experience.

”

Parent

Children’s Occupational
Therapy Group
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• Our children’s occupational therapists and
physiotherapists worked in partnership with
Advisory Teachers in the HCC Low Incidence
Team (Sensory and Physical Impairment) to
introduce “SMART MOVES” into two schools
in Hertfordshire; a programme which helps
children with coordination difficulties through
activities run in the school which focuses on
developing movement skills, and in turn
improves children’s fine motor skills, conduct
and approach to learning. It is planned to
introduce it into four more schools in 2012/13.

Transforming Care in Practice
In the 12 months since the new service started, the
number of referrals of people with rare and rapidly
progressing neurological conditions has increased by
200% (98 from 31 in the previous 12 months) and
the coordinated approach has reduced the reliance
on acute hospitals, with the number of patients
needing an emergency hospital admission down by
40% (down to 52 from 88), and the average length of
stay down by 68% (12 days from 38). All 20 patients
who stated a preference died in their preferred place
of death.
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During 2012/13 the need to increase productivity
by introducing innovative ways of working
whilst maintaining and improving quality of
care remained as important as it was last year.
We wanted to support our staff to contribute
to improvements at work and in the 2012
National Staff Survey 67% (similar to the
national average of 68%) reported that they
were able to do so. Our clinical staff, with the
support of our dedicated transformation team,
built on the innovative and transformational
developments they introduced in 2011/12,
realising some tangible benefits for patients,
staff and the Trust.
• We continued to use the approaches and
modules in the Productive Ward and Productive
Community Service in 32 of our services to
shape quality improvements for their patients
and staff. Having commenced the journey with
the Productive Series late, we did not achieve
the national expectation for all services to
have completed all modules by March 2013,
but we will continue to use the best and most
effective aspects in our ongoing quality
improvement work.
• We made the most of information technology
as an enabler in increasing patient-facing time
and improving patient and staff experience.
We introduced tough books to support 90
more of our clinical staff in ‘mobile working’
with the patient’s electronic patient record
instantly available. We will expand this to
900 more staff during 2013/14 (page 86).
We introduced text messaging in 50% of
our services that run clinics to remind
patients about their appointments and
reduce non-attendance and so reduce the
waste in clinical time. We used telephone
conferencing and remote access technology
to reduce the need for travel, and we moved
to paperless meetings with staff viewing
papers electronically.

Productive Series in Practice
Through their well-organised ward module, staff in
one of our bed-based units found that it was much
faster for two staff to make beds together than one
to do it on their own. By introducing this, they were
able to release the equivalent of 34 minutes to spend
with patients at the busiest time of every day.
By improving the effectiveness and efficiency of
their handovers, one of our integrated community
teams saved 60 minutes every day; time that is
now invested in keeping up-to-date with their
training and entering their activity data promptly.

Information Technology in Practice
During 2012/13 some children with life-limiting or
life-threatening conditions and their families had the
opportunity to communicate with their Children’s
Community Nurse by video-conference, using an
Apple iPad® funded through a successful bid to the
Roald Dahl Marvellous Children’s Charity. The children
and families could use their Marvellous Tablets to
have real-time video conversations as an alternative to
their nurse visiting them at home, or to get emotional
and psychological support at moments of difficulty or
crisis, or to get support for their symptoms outside
normal working hours. Feedback from parents has
confirmed that this exciting innovation has enhanced
their experience and access to support. In 2013/14,
we will build on this initial pilot phase and make
more iPads® available to other families.
Staff in our integrated community teams in Watford
and Tring who piloted mobile working during 2012/13
were able to register the detail of their visit into the
patient’s electronic record without needing to go back
to their office base. 95% of contacts were entered
within 24 hours, a significant improvement from 41%
before mobile working, improving the information
available to everyone involved in the patient’s care
and reducing the likelihood of clinical errors.

• We delivered improvements in quality
through our CQUINS (page 84).
• We encouraged and supported other
innovative developments which helped
improve our patients’ health and supported
them to live their lives.
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Understanding quality in our organisation

Learning from ourselves and learning from others
During 2012/13 we maintained the Board’s
leadership of quality improvement through the
five quality priorities, the quality improvement
plan and the work of the Healthcare Governance
Committee and its subcommittees. The Board
maintained its focus on quality through briefings,
‘deep dives’ into services, regular reports on
quality and patient safety, and their use of the
Integrated Board Performance Report at each
meeting, and also by hearing staff and patient
stories first hand during their visits to services
and sites and at the start of every Board meeting.

• a new three-stage quality impact assessment
process for service developments, with
clinicians involved in the assessments from
the outset

During 2012/13 other key actions to support
quality assurance have been:

• commencing the development of high value
healthcare indicators at service level

• a new model of performance management
linked to our strategic objectives and our
commitment to high value healthcare (page 77)

• achieving ‘approved practice setting status’
with the General Medical Council

• a redesigned Integrated Board Performance
Report, with detailed scorecards across the
four domains of high value healthcare and
heat maps at business unit level (page 77)

• a clinical audit programme linked to our
strategic objectives and known risk drivers

• a new assurance and escalation framework
including the introduction of ‘flash reports’
for bringing urgent matters to the attention
of the Board

• an increased focus on quality issues in our
programme of internal audit; for example,
our CQC self-assessment process, our clinical
audit programme, our risk management
process, breaches of information governance,
adult safeguarding, and the content and data
quality in our Quality Account

• a programme of staff engagement including
Executive-led discussions in staff meetings and
a new medical staff forum, and more formal
methods of seeking feedback from GPs

• a refreshed Quality Strategy outlining our
ambitions for the quality of services our
patients and their carers will experience over
the next two years.

• actions to improve our quality governance
arising from self-assessments and independent
assessments against the Quality and
Governance Framework used by Monitor (the
independent regulator of Foundation Trusts),
and a reduction in our score from 5.0 in June
2012 to 3.5 in December 2012

In 2013/14 our internal assurance will be
strengthened further through a revised
committee structure. The Integrated Board
Performance Report will include more
information at service level and a measure of
the quality of the data for each indicator and
more services will have indicators which
measure care which is most important to the
patients that they see.

• a programme of reviews of services by our
Healthcare Governance Committee to support
quality improvement or gain assurance about
quality issues. In 2012/13 these were carried
out in our Podiatry Service, Langley House and
Danesbury Neurological Service
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• regular assessments of the quality of our care
and our governance in monthly performance
management meetings with the SHA and in
a series of Board-to-Board meetings in
preparation for the SHA’s recommendation
to the Trust Development Authority in our
journey towards Foundation Trust
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NHS Hertfordshire
NHS Hertfordshire undertook three quality
assurance visits into our services during 2012/13.
A visit to the healthcare services in HMP The
Mount in July 2012 focused on confirming
whether the learning and recommendations
from a death in custody in 2010 had been
fully implemented. NHS Hertfordshire were
fully assured that they had been, and identified
five areas of good practice and made only one
recommendation; establishing formal group
reflective supervision sessions for nursing staff.
NHS Hertfordshire were impressed by the staff
that they met and their commitment to providing
healthcare services to the prisoners.
A visit to Danesbury Neurological Centre and
Queen Victoria Memorial (QVM) Hospital in
August 2012 focused on patient safety and
experience, and learning from serious incidents
and patient feedback. NHS Hertfordshire
identified many areas of good practice in both
units. In particular, they were impressed by the
flexible approach of staff in helping patients at
Danesbury which provided them with a sense
of ‘normality’, and by the integrated working
between nurses and therapists and its impact on
the standard of care and patient experience.
And they commended the initiatives in place
in QVM to understand causes of patient falls
and to represent the assistance that their patients
need with personal hygiene, and said it was
“clear throughout the visit that privacy and
dignity of patients was carefully considered”.
Recommendations to share the good practice
across other sites, increase the uptake of clinical
supervision and explore the opportunity for
formal rotational placements between the two
sites and East and North Herts NHS Trust have
been implemented.
A visit to our integrated community team in
the North Herts locality in January 2013 also
focused on patient safety and patient experience,
and our learning from serious incidents and
patient feedback. NHS Hertfordshire commended
several areas of good practice, in particular
the integrated working between nurses and
therapists, and the established relationships with
GPs and residential care homes in the locality.

Recommendations to share the good practice
across other sites, and introduce a robust
supervision framework and develop staff
understanding of the difference between
patient experience and satisfaction have been
implemented. We will train our staff in the
new on-line ordering system for Hertfordshire
Equipment Service (HES) and where we find
the quality of mattresses in residential care
homes to be inadequate we will raise this with
HES and the commissioners for their support.
In addition, the commissioners will support
our work to gather the experiences of patients
who are seen in their own homes through one
of our CQUINs in 2013/14, and they will seek
their ongoing assurance through our regular
clinical quality contract meetings.
Sustain (on behalf of the Strategic
Health Authority)
On behalf of the SHA, in October 2012 Sustain
undertook a review of our processes and practice
towards delivering the ‘health visiting offer’
outlined in the Department of Health’s Health
Visiting Implementation Plan. In addition to four
areas of good practice, four areas of concern
were identified, against which progress has been
made; a delivery plan integrating all aspects of
health visitor innovation is in now place and
progress closely monitored; a vision for health
visiting is being created; more balanced staffing
across different localities is underway; and a
more consistent offer is being taken forward
as one of our quality priorities in 2013/14.
Dame Elizabeth Fradd, Chair of the National
Health Visiting Task Force visited our services in
November 2012 as part of her programme of
visits to all 26 early implementer sites. She spoke
to staff and a parent about their experiences, and
commended the support offered to health
visitor students and the clinical leadership in
the team.
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“

”

The Trust
continues to be
proactive in the
safeguarding
children work being
undertaken.
Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Children
Section 11 Visit

Health and Safety Executive

Hertfordshire LINk

The HSE visited two of our sites in February
2013 to check the actions that we had taken in
our sites following a fatal fall from a first floor
window in Potters Bar Community Hospital.
Their report from the visit is submitted to
the coroner.

Hertfordshire LINk did not undertake any Enter
and View visits into our services during 2012/13,
but did successfully use the approach that we
developed together in 2011/12 for their
unannounced visits to other social care and
NHS settings. Healthwatch Hertfordshire, the
transformed Hertfordshire LINk from April
2013, have agreed to participate in the new
Patient-led Assessments of the Care Environment
(PLACE) that will replace the Patient Environment
Action Team assessments (PEAT) from April
2013. For the first time these will include our
nurse-led respite unit for children with complex
health needs, Nascot Lawn in Watford.

IST Support Visit
In June 2012, the SHA led an Intensive
Support Team visit to as part of its health
economy peer review of pressure ulcer
prevention in Hertfordshire. Following a
presentation, review of data and policies,
discussion and observation with clinical staff
and representatives of the Board, the team
concluded that we had a high level of clinical
to Board level engagement and commitment
to achieving the ambition to eliminate
avoidable pressure ulcers by December 2012
with good systems and processes in place.
The team identified a number of areas of
good practice which they planned to share
more widely. Recommendations to increase
the tissue viability expertise, to evidence staff
competence, to align our documentation to
the SSKIN care bundle and to improve
equipment access have all been addressed
in year (page 100).
Ofsted
In January and February 2013 Ofsted
undertook an unannounced inspection of
local authority arrangements for safeguarding
children in Hertfordshire. Members of our
staff participated in the inspection which
focused on the effectiveness of multi-agency
arrangements for safeguarding children.
Ofsted judged the overall effectiveness of
arrangements in Hertfordshire to be ‘adequate’
(on a scale of inadequate, adequate, good
and outstanding). In 2013/14, our services
will work with the HSCB to implement the
recommendations made by Ofsted.
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Improving our staff through continuous learning, innovation and engagement
We wanted to continue to develop a flexible,
skilled and motivated workforce capable of
delivering the high value healthcare in partnership
with patients. From what our staff told us in
our National Staff Survey in 2012 it is a mixed
picture. We have therefore identified this as a
quality priority for 2013/14 (page 72).

• We continued to support students and trainees
on clinical placement in our services, and were
recognised by the University of Hertfordshire
for our contribution to their placements for
children’s nurses, for which they received a
rating of ‘excellent’ in the National Student
Satisfaction Survey in 2012.

• We transformed our internal structure to
ensure our workforce is organised in the
right way to better respond to the needs of
the people who use our services and those
who commission them.

• We invited staff from across the Trust to
be Champions for Change and gave over
30 of those that have come forward so far
some training to support them in driving
transformational change at service level.

• We agreed a new 5-year Workforce and
Organisational Development Strategy.

• We developed and piloted a new preceptorship
programme for newly qualified staff joining
the Trust.

• We fully implemented our new appraisal
system based on our Trust values and
behaviours, training over 300 people to use
it, and piloted an on-line version.
• We supported our doctors to record their
requirements for medical revalidation.
• We built on our training programme with other
trusts and the University of Hertfordshire to
develop the skills and competencies of our
staff, enabling them to deliver new models
of care and to support patients as partners
in their own health. For example; staff in our
Home First pilot projects received training in
skills to provide treatment that would have
previously needed to have taken place in
hospital, and our Safeguarding Vulnerable
Adult champions were trained in the needs
of people with learning disabilities.

• We continued to develop the leadership
capability of our clinical leaders, senior
managers, and Board members through
training and induction programmes, action
learning sets, secondments, project work,
coaching and access to regional strategic
leadership programmes, and through the
introduction of a new quarterly leadership
forum for our senior managers.

“

[To all the staff]
who have
been friendly,
compassionate,
gentle, caring,
thinking fast in an
emergency, taking
precious time to
explain, listen, or just
smile a greeting...
thanks are hardly
enough.

”

Patient

Sopwell Ward

• We worked with other Trusts in the region
to increase the number of coaches available
so that more staff can benefit from this
personalised support.
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“

[The orthoptist]
is always kind,
professional
and very caring.
My daughter
loves coming to
see her.

”

• We developed new ways to engage and involve
our staff building on our existing Board2Patient
site visits, Foundation Trust newsletter, regular
meetings with representatives of trade unions
and professional organisations, and our
induction days that introduce all our new staff
to our vision and values and commitment to
high value healthcare. We introduced a
programme of Executive led discussions at over
40 team meetings. We involved frontline staff
in workshops to develop the future model of
care, in creating high value healthcare
indicators, and in redesigning our weekly Notice
Board and website. We replaced our monthly
Team Brief with more frequent updates from
our Chief Executive and introduced a
newsletter from our Chief Nurse.

• We recognised the achievements of our
staff in our Chief Executive updates, clinical
excellence awards for our doctors, and in
nominations for our Leading Lights awards.
• We introduced quarterly mini on-line PULSE
surveys for staff to complete to help us monitor
their experiences and morale and assess the
impact of our work to support them.
• We signed up to the SHA’s Staying Healthy
at Work programme to give us a framework
to support our staff with their health and
emotional well-being.

Parent

Children’s Eye Service
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In 2013/14 we will focus on strengthening our
engagement with staff and improving their
health and well-being, helping them to feel that
they are able to deliver better outcomes for
patients and families and are more motivated
about the Trust as a place to work. This is one
of our quality priorities for 2013/14 (page 72).
In addition, we will support our staff to share
and enact common values that put patients
and their safety first, and enable our staff to
support each other in this common endeavour
despite the continued financial pressures that
we will face, and we will continue to develop a
culture in which staff feel able to raise concerns
about poor practice when it occurs.
• We will increase clinical facing time and
improve staff work-life balance by making
administrative tasks that staff have to carry
out easier, introducing mobile working and
using technology more widely.
• We will continue to develop and empower our
staff to be effective clinical and professional
leaders and to work in self managed teams.
• We will build on the work already undertaken
in the Health Visiting Service and adopt the
6Cs model for change from the National
Nursing Strategy to improve our nursing care
and build on our culture to continuously
improve patient experience.
• We will do more to recognise and celebrate
staff contributions to excellent care, starting
with Leading Lights nominations and awards
at a Celebrating High Value Healthcare event
in April 2013.
• We will give our local leaders more
opportunities to share their experiences
and learn from them through externally
facilitated Action Learning Sets, quarterly
Leadership Forums and a new Annual
Leaders Conference.
• We will use the information gathered
through our new electronic appraisal system
to map the talent in our workforce and
support them to develop further.

• We will develop our virtual learning
environment to support learning closer
to home.
• We will reduce the need for temporary staff by
reducing sickness absence, reducing the time
it takes to recruit into vacant posts, and more
effective rostering for planned cover. And we
will work with our contracted provider to
ensure that, when we need temporary cover,
they provide staff on whom patients, and we,
can depend.
• We will continue to develop our
Transformation champions and support
them in their projects.
• We will extend the clinical skills being
used in our Home First projects into our
adult core services.
• We will use the new national Workforce
Assurance Tool to support the decisions
about our workforce.

Mobile Working in Practice
Before
Mandy*, a Healthcare Assistant, had to leave home
for work before her children had left for school.
She had to drive to the office to get her list of patients
she was to visit that day, and to collect the supplies
she would need. Often Mandy was late home because
she was in the office entering the care which she had
given during the day into the information system.
In future
Mandy logs in from home and is able to stay at home
until her children have left for school. During this
time, she is able to check the list of patients that
have been allocated to her for the day, make sure
she has enough supplies and catch up on e-mails.
When visiting her patients, Mandy logs on and
enters the care she has given at the time that she
sees the patient. There is therefore no need for her
to visit the office at the end of the day, and she is
always home ready for the dinner-time rush.
* Mandy is not her real name
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Our staff - their feedback
58% of the staff that we asked gave us feedback in our National Staff Survey; above the national
average for community trusts but fewer than last year’s 63%.
In 2011, 50% of the key findings were better than average and 15% were worse than average
compared to other Community Trusts. In 2012, the results are not so good overall, with 29%
better than average and 50% worse than average. This may reflect the organisational change
that was underway at the time of the National Staff Survey.
Key findings in 2012
compared to other
Community Trusts
Better than average

National average
for Community
Trusts in 2012

Understanding
the score

3.61

3.69

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

National Staff Survey results

2011 2012

Overall level of staff engagement

3.70

8

Better than average

6

Staff receiving support from their immediate
line manager

3.77

3.80

3.70

Higher is better

14%

23%

27%

Lower is better

14

Staff feeling pressure in previous 3 months to
attend work when unwell
Staff suffering work related stress

27%

35%

40%

Lower is better

Fairness and effectiveness of incident
reporting procedures

3.49

3.64

3.54

Higher is better

Staff experiencing physical violence from staff

-

1%

1%

Lower is better

Staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse
from patients, relatives or the public

-

24%

26%

Lower is better

Staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse
from staff

-

17%

20%

Lower is better

Staff experiencing discrimination at work in
previous 12 months

6%

8%

9%

Lower is better

Overall level of staff satisfaction

3.60

3.58

3.61

Higher is better

Staff reporting effective team working

3.86

3.84

3.82

Higher is better

-

87%

93%

Higher is better

Staff working extra hours

59%

71%

70%

Lower is better

Staff believing the Trust provides equal
opportunities for career progression or promotion

96%

92%

92%

Higher is better

Staff experiencing physical violence from patients,
relatives or the public

-

8%

8%

Lower is better

Average

Worse than average

Average

Staff reporting good communication between
senior management and staff
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Worse than average
Staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and
patient care they are able to deliver

72%

72%

76%

Higher is better

Staff agreeing that their role makes a difference
to patients

94%

89%

91%

Higher is better

Staff that would recommend the Trust as a place
to work or receive treatment

3.52

3.47

3.58

Higher is better

Staff motivation at work

3.95

3.77

3.82

Higher is better

Staff able to contribute towards improvements
at work

69%

67%

68%

Higher is better

-

3.28

3.12

Lower is better

Staff appraised in last 12 months

77%

81%

88%

Higher is better

Staff having well structured appraisals

29%

31%

38%

Higher is better

-

80%

82%

Higher is better

Staff receiving health and safety training

83%

67%

76%

Higher is better

Staff receiving equality and diversity training in
previous 12 months

39%

47%

64%

Higher is better

Staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents
witnessed in the previous month

93%

87%

93%

Higher is better

Staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near
misses or incidents in previous month

23%

28%

26%

Lower is better

Staff saying hand washing materials are
always available

55%

52%

57%

Higher is better

Staff feeling work pressure

Staff received job relevant training, learning
and development

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

129

Assurance Statement from Internal Auditors

An Internal Audit of the quality accounts
process was undertaken in March 2013 by
the Trust’s Internal Auditors, RSM Tenon,
as part of the 2012/13 Internal Audit plan.
The audit focussed on providing assurance that robust governance arrangements were in place
to ensure the production of the quality accounts on a timely basis, including the review and
validation of quality indicators. In addition, as part of the audit, the robustness of data
collection and validation processes for three quality priorities, as detailed below, was reviewed:
• To increase the number of patients who feel they have the information which they need,
communicated in a clear and understandable way;
• To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary catheters and consequently
reduce the number of catheter associated urinary tract infections;
• To eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers developed by patients
within our care.
The results of the audit was that accurate information was being reported to the Board and
within the Quality Account in respect of the above three priorities.
The audit provided substantial assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to
manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently applied and effective with no significant
weaknesses identified as part of the audit.
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Formal response from
stakeholder organisations
Healthwatch Hertfordshire

Healthwatch Hertfordshire’s response to Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
(HCT) Quality Account 2013

Hertfordshire Community Trust has produced a comprehensive report that is positive and
demonstrates some good outcomes. The report contains information and data with key
facts and explanations in ‘stand out’ boxes as well as examples of patient feedback and
case studies to highlight the various sections.
It is clear how the 2013/2014 priorities have been chosen, what the current situation is
and what improvement actions the Trust wants to take. Additional reporting on other
quality indicators that are not priorities gives reassurance that these areas are still
important to the Trust.
Healthwatch Hertfordshire is pleased to see a commitment to train more health visitor
students and to take steps to retain them once qualified (Priority 2).
Stroke is rightly carried forward for another year (Priority 4). Steady progress has been
made in this area by working in partnership with patients and their carers and stroke
specific organisations. Further partnership working with the acute hospitals and with GPs
should hopefully see additional improvement to the service.
We welcome the efforts to make an integrated children’s occupational therapy service in
partnership with Hertfordshire County Council and the work around equalities via the NHS
Equality Delivery System Framework.
The commitment of staff to improve patient experience is evident throughout the report
and should be applauded. However we note the Care Quality Commission inspection of the
Herts and Essex hospital and the non-compliance by the Trust in ‘support for staff’ as well
as the resultant action taken to make the Trust fully compliant. Looking at the National
Staff Survey results for ‘staff motivation’, ‘staff feeling more stressed’ and ‘staff not
feeling their role made a difference’; it is good that staff should be made a priority as
they are key to an ‘outstanding patient experience’.
Improving patient experience has made steady progress in some areas following a variety
of initiatives that include new ways to book and confirm appointments, drop- in clinics and
easy-read information. However 37% of unpaid carers of people over the age of 75, who
came into the bed-based units or Stroke services, said they were not asked about their
needs as carers. This is an important group and lack of involvement of carers is likely to
have a detrimental effect on both the carer and the person they care for.
The work on promoting good practice to prevent pressure ulcers and developing pocket
sized guides that has won an award is to be commended. As this priority (Priority 5) is
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being carried forward, we look forward to seeing the impact in next year’s Quality
Account.
Healthwatch Hertfordshire is pleased to be working with Hertfordshire Community Trust to
improve patient experience and looks forward to further joint working in 2013/2014.

Sarah Wren MBE, Chairman Healthwatch Hertfordshire, May 2013
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Formal response from
stakeholder organisations
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Groups

“

”

This is a very
clear and well written
Quality Account.
Hertfordshire

Clinical Commissioning
Groups

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and East and North Herts Clinical Commissioning Group’s
Response to the Quality Account provided by Hertfordshire Community Trust
The Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (HVCCG) and the East and North Herts Clinical
Commissioning Group (ENCCG) welcome the steps that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) are
taking to improve the quality of services provided to patients, service users and carers.

The CCGs have reviewed the information provided in HCT’s Quality Account and checked the accuracy of
the data within it. The data submitted corresponds with the data submitted during the last year as part
of the on-going quality contract monitoring process.
During the course of 2012/13 the commissioners have worked closely with HCT, meeting regularly to
review the Trust’s progress in implementing its quality improvement initiatives. The Trust’s 2012/13
Quality Account clearly evidences the improvements made and where improvements are still needed.
We would ﬁrstly like to acknowledge the Trust’s performance against the 2012/13 Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) targets and are pleased to see the commitment made to continue to
drive quality for the coming year.

HCT has worked hard to encourage feedback from their service users and it is clear they value all
feedback received, positive and negative, to improve the services they provide. As a result of their drive
to hear people’s opinions of their services it is no surprise that the number of complaints and PALS
enquiries has increased during the past year. The CCGs are pleased to see that the Trust has maintained
their response time compared to last year therefore ensuring that complainants can expect a response
to their concerns within a realistic and reasonable timeframe.

In November 2012 a team of CQC inspectors visited Herts and Essex Hospital. The aim of the visit was to
ensure that the Hospital was meeting the essential standards such as respecting and involving people
who use their services, whether the Hospital was clean and whether they were supporting their staﬀ in
providing the services. The CQC judged that Herts and Essex Hospital was not meeting the required
standard in relation to supporting their staﬀ and therefore HCT were required to take action. Although it
is disappointing that the Hospital was deemed to not be reaching the required standard the CCGs are
pleased to note that HCT responded quickly and eﬀectively to the feedback provided from the CQC and
ensured that all standards did meet the required standard by March 2013.
The CCGs have noted that although HCT have not managed to reach their aim for the reduction of the
number of catheter acquired urinary tract infections (CAUTI) the Trust has made very good progress
during the year. It is positive to see that the aim has been included in the Trust’s priorities for 2013/14
and the Trust will be extending their work to include GPs and care homes to further reduce the number
of CAUTI’s experienced. Both CCGs will be monitoring the Trust’s performance in this area and look
forward to seeing further improvements.

During 2012/13 HCT has made substantial progress and reduced the number of avoidable grade 3 and 4
pressure ulcers experienced by patients in their care. Although the Trust has not managed to achieve
the complete elimination of grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcers the Trust is well on the way to achieving this
goal and will continue to be closely monitored by both CCGs.

134

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Formal response from
stakeholder organisations

Although noting the improvements made by HCT during 2012/13 the CCG now wishes to see a stronger
drive by HCT to make improvements to the number of patients who have suﬀered a stroke achieve a
good outcome against their own personal goals. The CCG also wishes to see signiﬁcant improvement in
the length of stay for non-stroke patients.
As a result of exceeding their target of the number of C-Diﬃcile cases in 2012/13 HCT are required to
sustain their drive and focus in relation to infection control. The CCGs will continue to support the Trust
in this area in order that the number of C-Diﬃcile cases is reduced in the coming year.
The CCGs were disappointed to note that it appears the Trust has not responded in a timely manner to
implementing actions following national clinical audits that took place in 2010. The CCGs therefore
expect HCT to improve their timeliness in this area.
Overall we note the improvements HCT has made to date, but these will require signiﬁcant focus and
progression in the year to come against a background of increased ﬁnancial challenge.

The CCGs looks forward to working with, and supporting HCT, in developing and monitoring the quality
of services it provides for patients. We hope the Trust ﬁnds these comments helpful and we look
forward to continuous improvements in 2013/14.

Nicola Bell
Accountable Oﬃcer
Herts Valleys CCG

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive
East & North Herts CCG

30th May 2013
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Formal response from
stakeholder organisations
West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

“

This is a
comprehensive,
easily understandable
document.
It provides an
accurate reflection of
achievements and
areas of challenge in
2012/13 and clearly
illustrates where
the focus will be
in the future.

”

West Essex

Clinical Commissioning
Group
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Hertfordshire Overview and Scrutiny Committee
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Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust would
like to thank all those who have contributed
to this Quality Account during the course
of the year.
How to provide feedback
We hope you find this Quality Account a
useful, easy-to understand document that
gives you meaningful information about
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and
the services we provide.
If you have any feedback or suggestions on
how we could improve our Quality Account,
please let us know by:
emailing: communications@hchs.nhs.uk
or calling: 01707 388000

138

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Annual Accounts
2012-2013
Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

139

Contents
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities
Statement of Directors' responsibilities
Statement of Governance 2012-2013
Statement of the Auditor's report
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2013
Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2013
Statement of changes to tax payers' equity
for the year ended 31 March 2013
Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2013
Notes to the Accounts

140

141
142
143
157
160
161
162
163
164

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Annual Accounts
Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
Finance
as the Accountable Officer of the Trust
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities
The Chief Executive of the NHS has
designated that the Chief Executive should be
the Accountable Officer to the Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the Accountable Officers
Memorandum issued by the Department of Health. These include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and
assist in the implementation of corporate governance;
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the trust;
• the expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them;
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with
the approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end
of the financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts
The Directors are required under the
National Health Service Act 2006 to
prepare accounts for each financial year.
The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the trust and of the income and expenditure, recognised gains and
losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those accounts, directors are required to:
• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury;
• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the trust and to enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary
of State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the accounts.

By order of the Board

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer

Signed:

Date:

Sean McKeever Director of Finance and Commerce
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Statement of Governance 2012-2013

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is accountable for internal control. As Accountable Officer, and Chief Executive of
this Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports
the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives. I also have responsibility for
safeguarding the public funds and the organisation’s assets for which I am personally responsible
as set out in the Accountable Officer Memorandum.
My responsibilities as Accountable Officer in respect of internal controls are supported by the
Audit Committee, the Healthcare Governance Committee, the Strategy & Resources Committee,
The Foundation Trust Steering Group, the Executive Team and established sub-committees and
groups as described under “The Governance Framework of the Trust”. Controls are also
reviewed by the Trust’s internal and external auditors.
Until 31 March 2013, the Trust was held to account for its performance by the Midlands and
East of England Strategic Health Authority, through the SHA’s “Provider Management Regime”,
which is modelled on Monitor’s Compliance Framework for NHS Trusts.
The Trust also worked closely with Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust (NHS Hertfordshire) and its
constituent Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), who were the Trust’s main commissioners.
This was principally in respect of commissioned service developments and performance against
the contract for provision of community services. The Trust continues to develop its relationships
with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), which became statutory bodies in their own right
from 1 April 2013
We have also worked in conjunction with all other NHS organisations in Hertfordshire in respect
of “health economy-wide” issues or on specific matters of mutual interest and have engaged
with services users through a variety of means. This includes an observer from Hertfordshire
Local Involvement Network (LINk) attending meetings of the Trust Board. (LINk will be replaced
by “Healthwatch” from April 2013).
The Trust works with Hertfordshire County Council Health and Community Services and Children
Schools and Families (CSF) to support shared or organisation-specific statutory responsibilities or
health care initiatives. The Trust has developed joint working arrangements with Hertfordshire
County Council’s Health and Community Services to provide integrated care for older people in
two pilot schemes in the south of the County. There are joint governance arrangements for this
and other projects that are being run jointly.
The County Council, District and Borough Councils also have an overview of the Trust’s performance,
through the Health Scrutiny Committee, which is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council.
I am also the nominated officer for the Trust in respect of registration with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) under the Health & Social Care Act 2006. The Trust was registered in 2010
with no conditions attached to registration.
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GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
In 2012/13, the Trust Board was supported by the following Committees, with membership and
attendance records for meetings in 2012/13 as indicated (number attended/total meetings held
in year eligible to attend).
Trust
Audit Healthcare Strategy & Remuneration Foundation
board Committee Governance Resources
Committee
Trust
Committee Committee
Steering
*
Group
Chair and Non Executive Directors
Total number of meetings
held in year

9

5

9

11

1

17

Chair
9/9

N/A

Member
6/9

Member
10/11

Member
1/1

N/A

Alan Russell
Non Executive Director
and Vice Chair

Member
9/9

N/A

N/A

Member
11/11
**

N/A

Chair
17/17

Anne McPherson
Non Executive Director

Member
9/9

Member
5/5

Chair
9/9

Member
11/11

Chair
1/1

N/A

Jeff Phillips
Non Executive Director

Member
6/9

Chair
5/5

Member
7/9

Member
10/11

Member
0/1

N/A

Dr Chris Hanvey
Non Executive Director
(May to October 2012)

Member
3/4

Member
1/2

N/A

Member
2/3

N/A

Member
0/6

Associate
Member
8/9

Associate
Member
1/1

N/A

Associate
Member
6/9

N/A

Associate
Member
16/17

David Law
Chief Executive

Member
8/9

N/A

N/A

Member
10/11

N/A

Member
14/17

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance
& Commerce

Member
8/9
6/6

N/A

N/A

Member
10/11
8/11

N/A

Member
15/17
10/10

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

Member
7/9

N/A

Member
7/9

Member
3/3
***

N/A

Member
6/17

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality &
Governance/Chief Nurse

Member
8/9

N/A

Member
8/9

Member
3/3
***

N/A

Member
8/17

John Curnow
Director of Strategy &
Business Development
(from May 2012)

Non
Voting
Member
7/9

N/A

Member
8/9

Member
10/11

N/A

Member
17/17

Declan O’Farrell
Trust Chair

Neil Johnston

Executive Directors
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Audit Healthcare Strategy & Remuneration Foundation
Trust
board Committee Governance Resources
Committee
Trust
Committee Committee
Steering
*
Group
Executive Directors continued
Total number of meetings
held in year

9

5

9

11

1

17

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

Non
Voting
Member
8/9

N/A

Member
7/9

Member
2/3
***

N/A

Member
6/17

Alison Shelley
Director of HR & OD

Non
Voting
Member
9/9

N/A

N/A

Member
9/11

N/A

Member
11/17

* Finance, Business & Investment (FBI) Committee until July 2012
** Chair of Finance, Business & Investment Committee (until July 2012)
*** Ceased to be a formal member at transition of FBI to Strategy & Resources Committee in July 2012

In 2012/13 the Healthcare Governance Committee was supported by a number of
Sub-Committees as follows:
• Clinical Compliance Sub-Committee
• Clinical Audit and Clinical Effectiveness Sub-Committee
• Infection Control Sub-Committee
• Patient Experience Sub-Committee
• Patient Safety Sub-Committee
• Safeguarding Sub-Committee.
The Board and CEO as Accountable Officer are also supported by the Executive Team, which
consists of all Executive Directors, voting and non-voting. The Executive Team meets weekly.
There were a number of Sub-Groups, which reported to the Executive Team. These were:
• Capital Investment Group
• Emergency Planning & Resilience Group
• Health & Safety Group
• Information Governance Group
• Procurement Review Group
• Workforce & OD Group
• Business Development & Innovation Group1.
1

Ceased in June 2012
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There is also a Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC), which consists of managerial and
staff representatives.
All Committees, Sub-Committees and Groups operate within Terms of Reference which are
approved by the “parent” committee. The minutes of Board Committee meetings are received
at Board meetings and the Chairs of each committee make a written and verbal report on the
committee’s activities and any issues for the Board’s attention. This includes giving assurances
to the Board which are “RAG” rated. (Red/Amber/Green).
Key items highlighted to the Board by the Audit Committee in 2012/13 were:
• Endorsement of the Trust’s Internal and External Audit Plans for 2012/13
• Recommendation to adopt the Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Annual Governance
Statement and Quality Account for 2011/12
• Consideration of the Head of Internal Audit’s (HOIA) Opinion and Annual Report, External
Audit Annual Governance Letter and Letter of Representation to the External Auditor
• Endorsement of the Annual Counter-Fraud Plan 2012/13 and receipt of progress reports
• Outcomes of regular review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and High Level Risk
Register (HLRR)
• Receipt of progress reports from internal and external audit
• Consideration of Internal Audit Reports completed in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan
and compliance therewith
• Review of Edition 2 of the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy
• Reviews of (i) losses and special payments and (ii) tender waivers
• The timetable for the production of the 2012/13 Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Annual
Governance Statement and Quality Account
• The Trust was assessed at Level 1 on the NHS Protect crime risk assessment ,thereby indicating
full compliance with all the counter fraud standards set by NHS Protect.
• Integration of clinical governance into the audit arena, including the clinical audit plan
• Approval of the Trust’s accounting policy
• Review of the Trust’s scheme of reservation and delegation
• Appointment of new internal auditors (PwC) with effect from 1 April 2013
• Completion of a self-assessment of Effectiveness by the Committee
• Informal reviews of Audit Committee meetings.
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The Board has been settled in its membership during 2012/13, unlike 2011/12, when most key
executive director posts were covered by interim appointments.
The Board initiated a development plan in 2012/13 and also devised an action plan deriving from
the national “Board Governance Assurance Framework” (BGAF) for aspirant foundation trusts.
Compliance against the Framework was externally validated and progress on the action plan was
monitored by the Strategic Health Authority.
Three Board Committees, (Audit, Healthcare Governance and the FT Steering Group) have carried
out self-assessment exercises of their effectiveness during the year.
In March 2013, the committee structure was reviewed and a revised model agreed, which gives
greater clarity and focus on the role of Board committees in setting strategy and giving assurances
to the Board, whereas the delivery of the Trust's strategy rests with the Executive. The revised
model is also aimed at being “fit for purpose” to go forward as a NHS Foundation Trust.
The Board has not formally subscribed to the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the
Financial Reporting Council in 2010, as not all of its content is relevant to public sector bodies.
The Trust is however aiming to comply with those provisions and principles which are relevant
or which are otherwise reflected in similar guidance or direction to NHS Trusts.
The Board receives a number of standing reports which act as assurances. These include a monthly
“Integrated Performance Report”, which covers the domains of patient safety, quality, finance
and workforce. These in turn underpin the Trust’s Strategy of delivering High Value Healthcare
(HVHC). Progress against key performance indicators are also included, and this includes
performance against national targets as identified under the NHS Operating Framework and
also local targets as identified by NHS Hertfordshire as the principal, local commissioner.
As part of the process of becoming a foundation trust, the Board, based on the recommendations
of the Foundation Trust Steering Group, also approved and monitored key requirements for the
application process, including mandatory strategies, Integrated Business Plan (which includes a
Long Term Financial Model (LTFM), FT Constitution and a requirement to meet a minimum score
in a Quality Governance Framework (QGF). These requirements, along with monthly Performance
Management Returns, were scrutinised and critiqued by the Strategic Health Authority (SHA)
throughout the year. The culmination was a successful “Board to Board” with the SHA in
January 2013, whereby the Trust was put forward to the “Secretary of State Phase”
(Trust Development Authority Phase since 1 March 2013) of becoming a Foundation Trust.
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RISK ASSESSMENT
Risks to the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives are identified by the Executive Team
and entered on the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The BAF sets out:
1 The risk and the strategic objective it relates to
2 Lead Director responsibility
3 Controls in place
4 Assurances (external and internal)
5 Actions (and timescales) required to mitigate the risk
6 Progress on actions
7 Scoring based on a 5 x 5 matrix which measures likelihood of the risk occurring x
consequences should the risk materialise. Scores are identified as:
(a) an initial risk score (ie assuming no controls or assurances are in place)
(b) a current risk score and (c) a residual risk score, which is the level which once achieved
represents the level at which the Board considers the risk acceptable or no further mitigation
or control is reasonably practicable. At this point a risk is removed from the Framework and
entered on an archive.
The BAF is submitted for review and discussion to every meeting of the Audit Committee and
the Board. Clinical risks are also considered by the Healthcare Governance Committee.
Risks identified at Business Unit Level are entered on Business Unit Risk Registers. Risks scoring
15 or over, are then recorded on a “High Level Risk Register” (HLRR). Both of these follow the
same model and content as the BAF.
The HLRR is also considered monthly by the Executive Team and is submitted to the Healthcare
Governance Committee, Audit Committee and the Board meeting in public.
Risks on the HLRR which are considered by the Executive Team to have a strategic impact are
escalated to the Board Assurance Framework.
The BAF underwent a major review in 2012/13, following on from a revision to the Trust’s
strategic objectives, which in turn impacted upon the strategic risks. The strategic risks on the
BAF and the risk scores as at 31 March 2013 were as below.
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Strategic risks

Consequences
x likelihood

Current score
31/03/13

The move to develop plurality of providers within the NHS may lead
commissioners to open up key areas of HCT business to new competition
possibly resulting in loss of business and consequent loss of income

3x4=

12

The perception that some of the Trust’s services may be of insufficient
quality may lead Commissioners to open up key areas of HCT business
to new competition possibly resulting in loss of reputation, loss of
business, consequent loss of income and lack of support for FT status.

4x3=

12

Commissioners’ strategies on preferred models of care are not aligned
to HCT’s strategy models, which may lead to detrimental impact on
HCT’s strategic plans and sub-optimal service provision resulting in
possible loss of income and a need to devise and implement effective
strategic alternatives to maintain revenue in a short timescale.

4x3=

12

The transition in commissioning arrangements may lead to delay in
pursuing the Trust’s Strategy, especially enhanced, high value, models
of community care resulting in adverse impact on income and surplus
and/or unfunded demand growth on HCT services.

4x3=

12

HCT does not manage its resources effectively leading to failure to deliver
its workforce, estates and financial strategies resulting in failure to deliver
the Trust’s Cost Improvement Plans (CIPs) and other improvements.

4x3=

12

The impact on resources beyond HCT’s control may lead to additional
demands on HCT services resulting in failure to deliver the Trust’s Cost
Improvement Plans (CIPs) and other improvements

4x3=

12

Slow and/or inefficient delivery of internal transformation may lead to
failure in delivering essential service changes to required timescales,
resulting in adverse impact on High Value Healthcare components:
(i) service capacity, quality and cost-effectiveness and
(ii) ability to deliver the Trust’s Cost Improvement Plans (CIPs) and
other improvements.

4x2=

8

Increased incidence of Clostridium difficile infections (CDI) may lead
to risks to patient safety and a breach of the Trust's contracted ceiling
for CDI for 2012/13, resulting in patient harm, damage to the Trust’s
reputation and adverse impact on Foundation Trust application.

4x5=

20

For an explanation of the risk scoring please see number 7 on page 148
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INFORMATION GOVERNANCE RISKS
During 2012/13, the Trust had 12 lapses of data security which were logged and investigated as
serious incidents (compared to 11 in 2011/12). These were reported to NHS Hertfordshire and
individuals affected were advised.
All information governance incidents are taken seriously. They are fully investigated, remedial
action is taken and lessons learned are applied across the organisation.
Three of these incidents were voluntarily referred to the Information Commissioners Office.
One involved patient identifiable details in a Diabetes Guidelines document being posted on
the internet. The ICO decided that no further action was necessary because minimal detriment
appeared to have been caused to the affected data subject and remedial measures were being
implemented to ensure the potential for future instances of this nature were minimised.
The other two incidents that were reported related to the same data subject. Letters containing
confidential medical information were sent on two separate occasions to the wrong address.
The Trust is currently awaiting a response from the ICO.
All data security incidents are reviewed by the Trust’s Information Governance Group. Changes
in practice have been made in some cases to minimise the risk of repetition, a standard operating
procedure has been adopted across the Trust for the handling and processing of correspondence
which includes Personal Identifiable Information. Information Governance policies have been
updated during the year to meet the requirements of Level 2 of the NHS “Information Governance
Toolkit” and an action plan is also in place to enhance toolkit requirements.
A summary of the lapses in 2012/13 is as follows:
Failure to comply with procedures and processes in relation to the handling and processing of
correspondence which includes Personal Identifiable Information (x6).
1 Information containing personal identifiable information about a data subject was
sent to wrong addresses on two separate occasions.
2 A child with the same name received the wrong report.
3 A letter was inserted into the wrong envelope (mechanical error).
4 A therapy report for child B had been received in the post in the same envelope as
a report for child A.
5 An email was sent insecurely to an external organisation.
Loss of Information Asset (Theft) (x4)
1 A clinic was broken into and records disturbed.
2 A laptop was stolen from a car.
3 A work diary was lost from a car.
4 Vision screening data was mislaid.
Electronic breach of person identifiable information (x2)
1 Data subject information was contained within Diabetes Guidelines which were
placed on the Trust’s intranet.
2 An email was sent insecurely to an external organisation.
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THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Trust has a Board approved risk management strategy in place which identifies actions for
developing risk management systems and processes. The strategy was reviewed and updated
in 2012/13. Among other changes, the strategy now identifies a risk escalation process and also
defines the Trust’s “Risk Appetite” as being:
“The Trust recognises that it is operating in a competitive healthcare market where safety, quality
and viability are paramount and are of mutual benefit to service users, stakeholders and the
organisation alike. Consequently, and subject to controls and assurances being in place, the Trust
will generally accept manageable risks which are innovative and which predict clearly identifiable
benefits, but not those where the risk of harm or adverse outcomes to service users, the Trust’s
business viability or reputation is significantly high and may outweigh any benefits to be gained”.
The risk management strategy is underpinned by a risk management policy. It is also supported
by various policies and procedures pertinent to risk and covering a range of areas associated
with the Trust’s functions. This includes for example, risk assessment, information governance,
health & safety (including fire safety), counter-fraud, security, clinical practice, incident reporting
and management, financial procedures and emergency preparedness
The principal aim of the risk management strategy is “for the Board, Executive Directors and all
staff to have understanding and ownership of, and commitment to, the control and management
of all reasonably foreseeable risks that may arise within the context of the Trust’s activities”.
Under the policy on risk management, identification and management of risk is also promoted as
being “everyone’s business” and not just an issue for managers. Staff are, therefore, encouraged
to identify and address risks and if necessary, to submit them for inclusion on their Business Unit’s
Risk Register.
Following identification and scoring of risks (See “Risk Assessment” above), risks are recorded on
the relevant risk register (Board Assurance Framework, High Level Risk Register or Business Unit
Risk Register). Controls and Assurances are also identified and recorded.
Controls are measures in place to mitigate the risk from its original score, which is that which
applies if there were no controls in place.
Assurances are sub-divided between internal assurances and external assurances. The former may
include e.g. standing reports, minutes of meetings where a risk-related issue is discussed and
internal audit reports, which identify areas of weakness and make appropriate recommendations.
External assurances are independent sources, such as external audit, inspection or assessment
reports from regulatory bodies or commissioners with which the Trust has contracts.
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Assurances are monitored and fed through to the Board through the Committee structure
outlined in “The governance framework of the organisation” (above). More detail on individual
committee roles is also given in “Review of Effectiveness” below.
Gaps in controls and assurances are also recorded, along with actions required to mitigate the gaps.
These are accorded a timescale for completion and progress is reported.
The management of risks is delegated to a named director in the case of strategic risks, assistant
director level in the case of High Level risks and service manager or equivalent in the case of risks
recorded in Business Unit Risk Registers.
Lessons learned from risks which materialise plus sources such as complaints, claims, incidents
and internal or external reports highlighting any areas of weakness are shared throughout the
organisation.
Following up on the independent inquiry report of February 2010, in February 2013, the public
inquiry report by Robert Francis QC into Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust was published,
and the Government's initial response was reported in March. The Board has considered and
discussed the key recommendations and implications for the Trust. Further clarification of
measures to be taken is awaited from the Department of Health but the Trust is both alert and
responding to the recommendations and likely developments. Taking forward the spirit and
detail of the report and the Government's response is being embedded in the Trust's risk and
control framework, and this will continue throughout 2013/14 and beyond.
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REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control. My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit provides
me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the Assurance
Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of Internal Audit’s work. The Head of Internal
Audit has reported that based on the work undertaken in 2012/13, significant assurance can be
given that there is generally a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses were
identified, that put the achievement of particular objectives at risk. In particular, the following
were identified throughout the year:
Medical Devices
A number of weaknesses in respect of the processes in place for the management of medical
devices, particularly in respect of ensuring that accurate records are maintained of all medical
devices held by the Trust. Since the conclusion of the audit, Trust management have developed
an action plan to address the weaknesses identified within our report and have recruited temporary
resources to enable the medical devices database to be brought up to date, and for this to accurately
reconcile to the asset register.
QIPP (Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention)
Our audit of QIPP identified weaknesses in respect of the design of the QIPP programmes at the
start of the year, including ensuring that Project Initiation Documents were in place to support this.
However, as part of the development of QIPP programmes for the next five years the Trust has put
in place a comprehensive programme management process which will ensure that QIPP schemes
can be developed and monitored on a continual basis to ensure efficiencies within the service.
This process included the development of detailed QIPP delivery schemes for the current financial
year, and a review of these confirmed that effective plans had been established to ensure the
delivery of the plans in year. In addition, it was further confirmed that weaknesses in the process
for reporting on the delivery of QIPP and CIP programmes had been addressed as part of the
reporting to Trust Board and the Strategy and Resources Committee.
Executive managers within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me with assurance. The Assurance
Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the
risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. My review is also
informed by:
• Internal Audit Reports and the Head of Internal Audit's opinion
• External Audit
• Care Quality Commission registration requirements and outcomes
• CQC inspection reports
• National Health Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA) “Level” 1 Risk Management Standards
assessment. (The Trust achieved Level 1 in December 2011)
• The Trust’s monthly, Integrated Performance Report
• Minutes of the Trust Board Committees and Sub-Committees
• Reports from the Local Counter-Fraud Specialist
• Performance submissions to East of England Strategic Health Authority
• Quality and contract review meetings with NHS Hertfordshire
• Board and Executive site visits and “deep dives” into services
• NHS “Information Governance Toolkit” compliance.
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I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Audit Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee (and its
sub-committees), Strategy & Resources Committee, Foundation Trust Steering Group and the
Executive Team.
The following have a role in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control as follows:
The Board
The Board has been actively involved in developing and reviewing the Trust’s risk management
processes including receiving and reviewing minutes and Chair’s observations from the Audit
Committee, Health Care Governance Committee, Strategy and Resources Committee and the
Foundation Trust Steering Group. The Board also reviews the Board Assurance Framework,
High Level Risk Register and Integrated Performance reports.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been a directing force in relation to reviewing the framework of internal
control particularly with regard to corporate risk, the Assurance Framework, the High Level Risk
Register and counter fraud.
The Healthcare Governance Committee
The Healthcare Governance Committee is responsible for the governance and management of
clinical risk, including ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and requirements, adoption
of clinical policies and review of clinical aspects of performance, including incidents and complaints.
The Committee was also supported in its work by six sub-committees, as identified under
“The Governance Framework of the Organisation” above. The Committee also provides
assurance to the Board in respect of patient safety, quality of services and patient experience.
The Strategy and Resources Committee
(Formerly the Finance, Business & Investment Committee)
The Strategy and Resources Committee is made up of the majority of the members of the Board
and meets monthly. The remit of the Committee is to scrutinise current financial performance and
future financial plans; review financial and business risks; monitor that decisions involving finance
are properly made to promote good financial practice throughout the Trust and to receive assurances
that an integrated and holistic approach is taken to the use of all the Trust's resources for the
delivery of Trust strategy.
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The Information Governance Group
The Information Governance Group reports to the Executive Team and is responsible for
the governance and management of information associated risk and compliance with the
“NHS Information Governance Toolkit”.
The Foundation Trust Steering Group
As part of its remit, the Foundation Trust Steering Group considers and escalates risks identified
arising as part of the Trust’s process of application to become a NHS Foundation Trust.
The Executive Team
The Executive Team operationally manages all areas of risk, including the risk and control
framework. The Executive also populates and reviews the Board Assurance Framework and
reviews the High Level Risk Register.
Executive Directors also ensure that key risks have been highlighted and monitored within their
directorates and the necessary action has been taken to address them.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk management
processes, based on an audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. Where scope for improvement
was found, recommendations were made and appropriate action plans agreed with management.
As noted, the Board Assurance Framework identifies gaps in control and gaps in assurance in
relation to the Trust’s principal risks and the actions being taken to address them.
The Healthcare Governance Committee, supported by its Compliance Sub-Committee, provided
assurance as to CQC essential standards of quality and safety.
My review confirms that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has a generally sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.
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Significant Issues
Although the Trust has a generally sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of its policies, aims and objectives, two significant issues have been identified
which occurred in 2012/13:
1 As referred to under “Information Governance Risks above” three cases have been reported
voluntarily to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).
For two of these cases, the ICO’s office decided that they would not investigate further.
As at 31 March 2013, the third case is still under investigation and it is not yet known
whether the ICO will issue a monetary penalty notice on the Trust.
The incident under investigation involved confidential clinical information about a child
inadvertently being sent to the wrong address.
Since the incident, the Trust has:
• Co-operated fully with the ICO investigation
• Communicated with, and apologised to, the family concerned
• Retrieved the information sent to the erroneous address
• Carried out service and internal audits to ensure that staff are following guidance
• Devised standard operating procedures (SOPs)
(which underpin the Records Management policy) for all services.
2 In September 2012, a patient fell from a first floor window in one of the Trust’s community
hospitals and died two days later. It was established that the window restrictor did not
operate to the prescribed maximum opening width. As at 31 March 2013, the incident is
under investigation by the Health & Safety Executive and the coroner’s inquest is still awaited.
Since the incident, the Trust has:
• Been fully open and kept in close contact with the family
• Co-operated in full with the Health & Safety Executive and Coroner’s office
• Assessed window restrictors on windows in patient areas above ground floor level and
repaired or replaced them where they have been identified as defective (and installed them
where found to be absent)
• Improved immediate response and communications in the event of such incidents
• Devised an action plan to implement lessons learnt.
Both of the above were reported and fully investigated as serious incidents under local reporting
and investigation procedures.

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive

156

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

Annual Accounts
Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
We have audited the financial statements of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2013 under the Audit
Commission Act 1998.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows
and the related notes 1 to 29.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and the accounting policies directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury
as relevant to the National Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes on page 51;
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers on page 53; and
• the pay multiples on page 50.
This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in
accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out
in paragraph 45 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by the Audit Commission in March 2010. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Directors, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the Accounts,
set out on page 142, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust's circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trust; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as at
31 March 2013 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service
in England.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance
with the requirements directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as
relevant to the National Health Service in England; and
• the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which I report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with the
Department of Health's ·Guidance;
• we refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act
1998 because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to
make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the Trust's arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the Trust and auditors
The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the
Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to
report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements. having regard to relevant criteria
specified by the Audit Commission.
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We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that
the Trust has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects
of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy,efficiency and effectiveness
in the use of resources
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in November 2012,
as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements for:
• securing financial resilience; and
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2013.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in November 2012, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2013.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Signed:
Mark Hodgson District Auditor
for and on behalf of Ernest & Young LLP
Cambridge
5 June 2013
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2013
NOTE

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

8.1
6
3
4

(93,773)
(33,994)
127,130
1,952

(92,751)
(33,331)
125,807
1,396

1,315

1,121

26
(32)

10
0

Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
Public dividend capital dividends payable
Net Gain/(loss) on transfers by absorption

1,309
(1)
0

1,131
(101)
0

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

1,308

1,030

Total comprehensive income for the year

1,308

1,030

1,308

1,030

(1)
0

0
0

Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Revenue from patient care activities
Other operating revenue
Operating surplus/(deficit)
Investment revenue
Finance cost

10
11

Financial performance for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
PDC dividend: balance receivable/(payable) at 31 March 2013
PDC dividend: balance receivable/(payable) at 1 April 2012

160
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2013
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
NOTE

£000

£000

12
13

5,924
667

3,139
492

6,591

3,631

346
9,342
10,782

343
10,438
8,537

Total current assets

20,470

19,318

Total assets

27,061

22,949

(13,645)
0
(2,536)
(176)

(14,131)
0
(2,658)
0

(16,357)

(16,789)

10,704

6,160

(3,236)

0

(3,236)

0

Total assets employed

7,468

6,160

FINANCED BY:
TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves

2,522
0
4,946

1,214
0
4,946

Total taxpayers' equity

7,468

6,160

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

16
17.1
18

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Provisions
Capital loan from Department

19
22
20

Total current liabilities
Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Capital loan from Department

20

Total non-current liabilities

The notes on page 164 to 193 form part of this account.
The financial statements on pages 160 to 163 were approved by the Board on 23 May 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity
for the year ended 31 March 2013

162

Retained
earnings

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000s

£000s

£000s

Balance at 1 April 2012
1,214
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2013
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
1,308
Movements in other reserves
0
Transfers between reserves
0
Release of reserves to Statement of Comprehensive Income
0

4,946

6,160

0
0
0
0

1,308
0
0
0

Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year

1,308

0

1,308

Balance at 31 March 2013

2,522

4,946

7,468

Balance at 1 April 2011
184
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2012
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
1,030
Movements in other reserves
0
Transfers between reserves
0
Release of reserves to Statement of Comprehensive Income
0

4,946

5,130

0
0
0
0

1,030
0
0
0

Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year

1,030

0

1,030

Balance at 31 March 2012

1,214

4,946

6,160
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2013
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

1,315
799
0
(32)
0
(3)
1,124
0
(1,120)
(914)
792

1,121
569
0
0
(101)
(238)
6,200
0
(2,513)
0
2,631

1,961

7,669

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Proceeds of disposal of assets held for sale (PPE)
Proceeds of disposal of assets held for sale (intangible)

26
(2,890)
(264)
0
0

10
(2,109)
(437)
0
0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(3,128)

(2,536)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) BEFORE FINANCING

(1,167)

5,133

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans received from DH- New Capital Investment loans
Loans repaid to DH - Capital Investment loans repayment of principal
Capital grants and other capital receipts

3,500
(88)
0

0
0
0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

3,412

0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2,245

5,133

Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft) at beginning of the period 8,537
Effect of exchange rate changes in the balance of cash held in foreign currencies
0

3,404
0

Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft) at year end

8,537

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/deficit
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Interest paid
Dividend (paid)/refunded
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

10,782
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting Policies
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS Trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2012-13 NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the Trust are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

1.2.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management
has made in the process of applying the Trust's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The Trust has considered its position with regard to financial, operating and other associated risks and determined it
is a going concern. These accounts have been prepared on this basis.
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1.2.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year
The Trust has estimated the life of assets capitalised as Plant, Property & Equipment based on advice from specialist
staff and previous experience - note 12.3.
The Trust is carrying a liability for provisions. In order to calculate the carrying amount the Trust has estimated the
costs of staff affected by its planned restructuring, and its liability for potential litigation or claims during 2013/14
from issues arising in the current year - note 22.

1.3 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the Trust is from
commissioners for healthcare services. Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year
end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period
compared to expected total length of stay/costs incurred to date compared to total expected costs.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust
only recognises income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation
Recovery Unit that a compensation claim has been successful and is about to be paid to the Trust. The income is
measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, but no provision for unsuccessful
compensation claims and doubtful debts has been made.
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1.4 Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries and wage payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.
The Trust leave year runs from 1 April to 31 March. The Trust has a policy of not allowing any staff to carry forward
untaken leave into the new financial year and so no accrual has been made for annual leave earned but not taken.
However, the Trust acknowleges that those staff on maternity leave or long-term sick are entitled to annual leave
that they will not have been able to take during the year and therefore an accrual has been made to take account
of this
Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Trust commits
itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.5 Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust;
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
• the item has cost of at least £5,000; or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
• items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Land and buildings used by the Trust are owned or leased by NHS Hertfordshire and the Trust pays for the use of
these buildings. As part of the Department of Health's Transforming Community Services programme some buildings
will transfer to the Trust and it was anticipated this would happen on or before 31 March 2013. The Trust has
therefore used some of its capital to invest in those buildings and has recognised this in its accounts. The transfer
did not take place in 2012/13, due to delays nationally. Revised guidance from the
DH anticipates assets will transfer in early 2013/14.
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Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the Trust's services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.7 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from
the rest of the Trust's business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the
operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an
operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if,
all of the following have been demonstrated:
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it
• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and
sell or use it
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where
no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant
price increases, as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the
opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.
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1.8 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner
that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of
an asset is the period over which the Trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives
At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
The Trust does not consider it necessary to impair any of its non-current assets, either tangible or intangible.

1.9 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
The Trust as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at
fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease
obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges
are recognised in calculating the Trust's surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. lt is not possible to separate land and buildings
costs from the charge made by NHS Hertfordshire.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the weighted average cost formula.
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
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1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust's cash management.

1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury's discount rate of 2.2% in real terms (2.8% for employee
early departure obligations).
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the entity.
The Trust is currently consulting staff on the restructuring of a number of services. A provision is included which
estimates the costs arising from this restructuring and subsequent redundancies.
The Trust is anticipating a fine from the Health & Safety Executive (HSE), costs and a claim for litigation, following
the death of a patient in 2012. This is currently under investigation by the HSE, so a provision has been made
based on a review of fines made for similar incidents elsewhere in the NHS and public sector, and advice from
the Trust's solicitors.
The Trust has included a further provision, anticipating a fine from the Information Governance Commissioner
following a breach of patient confidentiality. The Trust referred itself once the error was identified and has estimated
the cost based on similar fines levied against other organisations for similar breaches.

1.13 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability
remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf
of the Trust is disclosed at note 22.
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1.14 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
The Trust has reviewed past events to determine if any possible obligations or assets may arise and considers that
there is a contingent liability as notified by the NHSLA, however, there are no assets to disclose.

1.16 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case
of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
held to maturity investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss. The Trust has reviewed its contracts and has no embedded derivatives.
Held to maturity investments
The Trust has no held to maturity investments.
Available for sale financial assets
The Trust has no available for sale financial assets.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted
in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Current receivables are held at book value and are expected to be recovered within one year.
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1.17 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the Trust becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the
liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.
The Trust received a capital loan from the Department of Health for £3.5m in September 2012 and made its
first repayment in March 2013. The loan was required to fund signficant refurbishment of several health centres
whose ownership is transferring to the Trust from NHS Hertfordshire.

1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable,
the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19 Foreign currencies
The Trust's functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. The Trust has not had any transactions in a
foreign currency.

1.20 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. The Trust only holds patients money and this is detailed in note
29 to the accounts.

1.21 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers' equity in the NHS Trust. At any time the Secretary of State can issue
new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC is issued
under legislation rather than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial instrument.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as
public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%)
on the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities, except for donated assets and cash balances with
the Office of the Paymaster General. The average carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple average
of opening and closing relevant net assets.
Although the Trust does not have any PDC, it made public dividend capital dividend payments to the Department
of Health based on its average relevant net assets.
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1.22 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing
their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.23 Subsidiaries
Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other
benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets,
liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines.
Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary's accounting policies are not aligned
with the Trust's or where the subsidiary's accounting date is before 1 January or after 30 June.
For 2011-12 and 2012-13 in accordance with the directed accounting policy from the Secretary of State, the
Trust does not consolidate the NHS charitable funds for which it is the corporate trustee.

1.24 Associates, joint ventures and joint operations
The Trust does not have any associates, joint ventures or joint operations.

1.25 Research and Development
The Trust does not currently undertake any research and development activities.

1.26 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The Treasury FReM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2012-13.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2012-13,
were they applied in that year:
IAS 27
IAS 28
IFRS 9
IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13
IPSAS 32
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Separate Financial Statements - subject to consultation
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - subject to consultation
Financial Instruments - subject to consultation
Consolidated Financial Statements - subject to consultation
Joint Arrangements - subject to consultation
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - subject to consultation
Fair Value Measurement - subject to consultation
Service Concession Arrangement - subject to consultation
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2. Operating Segments
TThe Trust engages in its activities as a single operating segment i.e. the provision of healthcare. The main source
of revenue for the Trust is from commissioners of healthcare services which are principally Primary Care Trusts
(PCTs). The Department of Health has deemed that as PCTs are under common control they are classed as a single
customer for the purposes of segmental analysis. No other customer generates in excess of 10% of total revenue.

3. Revenue from patient care activities
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Strategic health authorities
NHS trusts
Primary care trusts - tariff
Primary care trusts - non-tariff
Primary care trusts - market forces factor
Foundation trusts
Local authorities
Department of Health
NHS other
Non-NHS:
Private patients
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)
Injury costs recovery
Other

18
5,435
2,577
116,083
263
85
2,795
3
0

88
5,269
1,843
114,691
249
214
3,052
0
0

28
0
59
(216)

18
0
30
353

Total Revenue from patient care activities

127,130

125,807

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure - NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure -non- NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions - NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue

255
0
1,437
0
22
0
0
0
6
0
0
232

322
0
776
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
276

Total other operating revenue

1,952

1,396

129,082

127,203

4. Other operating revenue

Total operating revenue
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5. Revenue
Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services. Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial.

6. Operating expenses
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Trust Chair and Non-executive Directors
Supplies and services -clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and Reversals of Receivables
Inventories write down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of non current assets held for sale
Audit fees
Other auditor's remuneration
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and Training
Change in Discount Rate
Other

294
51
9,162
259
593
9,676
11
11,555
114
0
697
102
0
0
65
1
221
0
344
0
849

290
50
9,130
270
164
8,048
9
14,023
42
0
478
91
0
0
104
0
163
76
288
0
105

Total Operating expenses (excluding employee benefits)

33,994

33,331

Employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding Board members
Board members

92,871
902

91,813
938

Total employee benefits

93,773

92,751

Total operating expenses

127,767

126,082

Other auditors remuneration is in respect of £500 paid to the Audit Commission for the
National Fraud Initiative
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7. Operating leases as lessee
The Trust is lessee under a number of operating leases, the main categories being estates, franking machines, lease
cars and water coolers.
The leases for franking machines have a maximum lease term remaining of 3 years, at which point the service will
be subject to full tendering.
Cars are leased by individual staff and some services. The maximum life of any lease is 3 years and the Trust pays
the annual lease, with staff repaying this through monthly salary deductions. Staff have the option to purchase
cars at the end of the lease, but this is a private arrangement between the member of staff and the lease company.
The Trust is charged by NHS Hertfordshire for the use of fully serviced clinical and administrative buildings. Costs have
been treated as a revenue expense during 2012-13. There is no formal agreement but the Trust considers that the
arrangement is in substance as though an operating lease were in place. In the future, some buildings will transfer
to the Trust and the remainder to NHS Property Services. It is not clear yet which buildings will transfer to the Trust
and therefore how much is payable in the form of rent and running costs.

7.1 Trust as lessee
2012/13
Total
£000

2011/12

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Sub-lease payments

279
0

271
0

Total

279

271

Other
£000

£000

Payable:
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years

279
436
0

279
436
0

269
312
0

Total

715

715

581
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8. Employee costs and numbers

8.1 Employee benefits

£000

2012/13
Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits - gross expenditure
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS BA - Pensions Division

78,855
5,534
9,472

73,587
5,534
9,472

5,268
0
0

Total employee benefits

93,861

88,593

5,268

(255)

(255)

0

93,606

88,338

5,268

88

88

0

93,773

88,505

5,268

Total

Other

£000

Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits 2012/13 - income
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS BSA - Pension Division

216
13
26

216
13
26

0
0
0

Total excluding capital costs

255

255

0

Total

Other

£000

Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits 2011/12 - net expenditure
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS BSA - Pension Division
Termination benefits

76,102
5,295
8,778
2,658

71,090
5,295
8,778
2,658

5,012
0
0
0

Total - including capitalised costs

92,833

87,821

5,012

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

(322)
92,511

(332)
87,499

0
5,012

Total

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
(table below)
Total - Net employee benefits including capitalised costs
Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Recognised as
Employee costs capitalised
Net Employee Benefits excluding capitalised costs
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Other
£000

£000

£000

82
92,751
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8.2 Average number of people employed
Other

2011/12
Total

Number

2012/13
Permanently
employed
Number

Number

Numbers

32
280
740
910
0
519
3

32
267
702
873
0
509
3

0
13
38
38
0
10
0

29
270
693
899
0
486
3

2,484

2,386

98

2,380

1

1

0

1

Total

Medical and dental
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Other
Total
Of the above staff engaged on capital projects

8.3 Staff Sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year

2012/13
Numbers

2011/12
Numbers

43,976
2,484

42,508
2,407

17.70

17.66

2012/13
Numbers

2011/12
Numbers

0

4

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

0

82
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8.4 Exit packages cost bands (including any special payment elements) agreed in 2012/13
Number of
Number of Total number
other
of exit
compulsory
redundancies
departures
packages by
agreed
cost band
Number
Number
Number
Less than £10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000

8
12
6
0
2

2
2
1
0
0

10
14
7
0
2

Total number of exit packages by type (total cost)

28

5

33

734

83

817

Total resource cost (£000)

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the
NHS Terms & Conditions of Service Handbook. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the
year of departure. Where the Trust has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the Trust
and not by the NHS pensions scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS pensions scheme and
are not included in the table.
This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages taken by staff leaving in the year.
Note: The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.
8.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in
a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore,
the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of
these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period.
Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated membership
data and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes.
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2013, is based on the valuation data as 31 March 2012,
updated to 31 March 2013 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by
HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be
viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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b) Accounting valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008.
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme
terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015.
The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health,
with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee
and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out at as at March 2012 and will be used to
inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015.
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be
met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as
"pension commutation".
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and
are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.
From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI} will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year's
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC's run by the
Scheme's approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

179

Annual Accounts

9. Better Payment Practice Code

9.1 Measure of compliance

Non-NHS payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid
within target
NHS payable
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid
within target

2012/13
Number

2012/13
£000

2011/12
Number

2011/12
£000

13,663
12,066

12,922
11,618

15,861
14,092

14,550
13,490

88.31%

89.91%

88.85%

92.71%

802
723

18,879
18,254

764
699

7,684
7,412

90.15%

96.69%

91.49%

96.46%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within
30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

10. Investment Income
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

26
0

10
0

26

10

26

10

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Interest Income
Interest on loans and overdrafts
Interest on obligations under finance leases

32
0

0
0

Total Interest expense

32

0

0

0

32

0

Interest Income
Bank interest
Other loans and receivables
Subtotal
Total investment income

11. Finance costs

Other finance costs
Total
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12.1 Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
Plant & Transport Information Furniture &
fittings
excluding machinery equipment technology
dwellings
2012/13
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

Total

£000

Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2012
Additions purchased
Disposals other than for sale

942

1,093

0

2,448

745

5,228

1,219
0

300
(502)

22
0

1,960
(292)

9
(295)

3,510
(1,089)

At 31 March 2013

2,161

891

22

4,116

459

7,649

Depreciation
at 1 April 2012
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Charged during the year

3
0
0
91

800
0
(474)
98

0
0
0
1

868
0
(292)
439

418
0
(295)
68

2,089
0
(1,061)
697

At 31 March 2013

94

424

1

1,015

191

1,725

Net book value
at 31 March 2013

2,067

467

21

3,101

268

5,924

Purchased

2,067

467

21

3,101

268

5,924

Total at 31 March 2013

2,067

467

21

3,101

268

5,924

Assets financing:
Owned

2,067

467

21

3,101

268

5,924

Total at 31 March 2013

2,067

467

21

3,101

268

5,924
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12.2 Property, plant and equipment prior-year
Buildings
Plant & Transport Information Furniture &
fittings
excluding machinery equipment technology
dwellings
2012/13
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

182

Total

£000

Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2011
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale

0

1,175

0

1,650

500

3,325

942
0
0

28
(70)
(40)

0
0
0

798
0
0

178
70
(3)

1,946
0
(43)

At 31 March 2012

942

1,093

0

2,448

745

5,228

Depreciation
at 1 April 2011
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Charged during the year

0
0
0
3

742
(11)
(40)
109

0
0
0
0

541
0
0
327

371
11
(3)
39

1,654
0
(43)
478

At 31 March 2012

3

800

0

868

418

2,089

Net book value
at 31 March 2012

939

293

0

1,580

327

3,139

Purchased

939

293

0

1,580

327

3,139

Total at 31 March 2012

939

293

0

1,580

327

3,139

Assets financing:
Owned

939

293

0

1,580

327

3,139

Total at 31 March 2012

939

293

0

1,580

327

3,139
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12.3 Property, plant and equipment
Asset lives and residual values have been reviewed, but have not changed during 2012/13.
The Trust does not hold any assets at revalued amounts nor have there been any impairments during the year.
Property Plant & Equipment assets are depreciated over their useful economic lives. The Trust applies the following
standard lives to these classes of assets:

Buildings
Plant and machinery
Information technology
Transport
Fixtures and fittings

Min Life
Years

Max Life
Years

5
5
5
5
5

20
25
5
5
10

The Trust retains a number of fully depreciated assets still in use. The gross carrying amount of these is as follows:
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Fixtures and fittings

68
100
4

391
1
292

Total

172

684

During the year the Trust undertook a signficant validation exercise and as a result of this has reduced the value
of fully depreciated assets still in use.
Several assets were written down in value during the year. The most significant asset was part of Hitchin Hospital,
which is owned by NHS Hertfordshire, but the unit closed in September 2012. The Trust therefore invoiced the
PCT to recover the costs of writing down this asset.
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13.1 Intangible non-current assets
Software
purchased
£000

£000

At 1 April 2012
Additions - purchased

627
277

627
277

At 31 March 2013

904

904

Amortisation
At 1 April 2012
Charged during the year

135
102

135
102

At 31 March 2012

237

237

Net book value at 31 March 2013

667

667

Net book value at 31 March 2012 comprises:
Purchased

667

667

Total at 31 March 2013

667

667

Software
purchased
£000

Total
£000

At 1 April 2011
Additions - purchased

359
268

359
268

At 31 March 2012

627

627

44
91

44
91

At 31 March 2012

135

135

Net book value at 31 March 2012

492

492

Net book value at 31 March 2012 comprises:
Purchased

492

492

Total at 31 March 2012

492

492

2012/13

Total

13.2 Intangible non-current asset

2011/12

Amortisation
At 1 April 2011
Charged during the year
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13.3 Intangible non-current assets
All intangible assets controlled by the Trust have been recognised as assets and are purchased externally
rather than internally generated.
The Trust retains a dental software system which has been fully amortised during the year but is still in use.
The gross replacement cost of this was £25,628.
All intangible assets are carried at amortised cost and have a finite life, so are amortised over five years.

14. Capital commitments
The Trust has no contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements.

15. Intra-Government and other balances
Receivables
£000

Payables
£000

Balances with other Central Government Bodies
Balances with Local Authorities
Balances with NHS Trust and Foundaton Trusts
Balances with bodies external to government

7,809
126
941
466

6,747
0
1,112
6,394

At 31 March 2013

9,342

14,253

prior period
Balances with other Central Government Bodies
Balances with Local Authorities
Balances with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Balances with bodies external to government

8,859
67
1,213
299

10,584
3
934
2,610

10,438

14,131

At 31 March 2012

16. Inventories
Other
£000

Total
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013
Additions

343
3

343
3

Balance at 31 March 2013

346

346

The Inventory comprises stocks held by the Wheelchair Service.
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17.1 Trade and other receivables
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000
£000
NHS receivables - revenue
NHS receivables - capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables - revenue
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT

7,700
28
873
461
254
(123)
149

7,177
0
2,730
226
190
(50)
165

Total current

9,342

10,438

The great majority of trade is with Primary Care Trusts, as commissioners for NHS patient care services.
As Primary Care Trusts are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them
is considered necessary.

17.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000
£000
By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months

2,980
126
20

1,594
254
811

Total

3,126

2,659

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Balance at 1 April 2012
Amount written off during the year
(Increase)/decrease in receivables impaired

(50)
41
(114)

(198)
190
(42)

Balance at 31 March 2013

(123)

(50)

17.3 Provision for impairment of receivables

The majority of receivables impaired are due to an estimate of non contract invoices raised to Primary Care
Trusts. The resident PCT at the time of treatment is often disputed and therefore has to be written off by
the Trust. The balance is overpayment of salaries to staff.
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18. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000
£000
Opening balance
Net change in year

8,537
2,245

3,404
5,133

Closing balance

10,782

8,537

Made up of
Cash with Government banking services
Commercial banks
Cash in hand

10,780
0
2

8,533
4
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government banking services

10,782
0

8,537
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows

10,782

8,537

19. Trade and other payables
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000
£000
NHS payables - revenue
NHS payables - capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables - revenue
Non-NHS payables - capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Other
Total payables

4,698
0
278
1,221
1,214
3,351
873
6
793
1,211

8,603
1
2,818
1,233
604
802
52
18
0
0

13,645

14,131
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20. Borrowings
Current
Non-current
31 March 2013 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000
£000
£000
£000
Loans from Department of Health
Other (describe)

176
0

0
0

3,236
0

0
0

Total

176

0

3,236

0

3,412

0

DH
£000

Other
£000

31 March 2013
Total
£000

0 - 1 years
1 - 2 years
2 - 5 years
Over 5 years

176
176
528
2,532

0
0
0
0

176
176
528
2,532

Total

3,412

0

3,412

Total
£000

Legal Claims
£000

Restructuring
£000

Redundancy
£000

Balance at 1 April 2012
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year

2,658
792
(914)

0
217
0

1,774
575
(30)

884
0
(884)

Balance at 31 March 2013

2,536

217

2,319

0

Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No later than one year

2,536

217

2,319

0

Total other liabilities
(current and non-current)
Loans- repayment of principal falling due in:

22. Provisions

Amount included in the Provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
As at 31 March 2013
35
As at 31 March 2012
0
Legal Claims
The Trust is expecting legal claims arising from the death of a patient and a fine from the Information Commissioner
following a breach of patient confidentiality.
Restructuring
The provision is calculated on estimated costs of posts at risk within the consultation to restructure management
functions and average redundancy costs based on mid-point of pay scales. The full costs are expected to be reimbursed
by Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and East and North Herts Clinical Commissioning Group and this
has been recognised as an asset.
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23. Contingent liabilities
31 March 2013
£000

31 March 2012
£000

NHS Litigation Authority
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities

(11)
0

0
0

Net value of contingent liabilities

(11)

0

24. Financial instruments

24.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard I FRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing
service provider relationship that the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and with their successor bodies and the
way in which those bodies are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies. to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers
to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational
activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust's treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined
formally within the Trust's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury
activity is subject to review by the Trust's internal auditors
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being
in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency
rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by the Strategic
Health Authority. The borrowings are for 1-25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets. and interest is
charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust's income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2013 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Trust's operating costs are incurred under contracts with Primary Care Trusts, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential
borrowing limit. The Trust is not. therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

189

Annual Accounts

24.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair
value through
profit and loss’
£000

Loans and
receivables

Total

£000

£000

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand

0
0
0

7,605
461
10,782

7,605
461
10,782

Total at 31 March 2013

0

18,848

18,848

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand

0
0
0

9.907
531
8,537

9.907
531
8,537

Total at 31 March 2011

0

18,975

18,975

At ‘fair
value through
profit and loss’
£000

Other

Total

£000

£000

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Other borrowings

0
0
0

4,976
5,786
3,236

4,976
5,786
3,236

Total at 31 March 2013

0

13,998

13,998

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables

0
0

11,421
2,710

11,421
2,710

Total at 31 March 2011

0

14,131

14,131

24.3 Financial liabilities
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25. Events after the end of the reporting period
£000
The Trust is anticipating the transfer of land and buildings from NHS Hertfordshire following the
closure of the PCT on 31 March 2013. It was anticipated that this would happen during 2012/13,
but has been delayed until 2013/14. All costs associated with the running of these buildings will
go through the Trust's accounts from 1 April, rather than being recharged by NHS Hertfordshire.
The Trust is only eligible to have those buildings where it occupies over 50%of the space providing
clinical services. The remaining buildings that the Trust uses will transfer to NHS Property services
and the Trust will be a tenant of fully-managed space. At the time the transfer was approved by
the Trust Board, the net book value of assets was estimated at £45m. The Trust has notified NHS
Hertfordshire of the buildings it wishes to acquire, but has had no notification that this has been
approved by the Department of Health, or transfer order.

44,776

Following the closure of Primary Care Trusts and the establishment of Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) and the NHS Commissioning Board, the Trust's services will be commissioned by
a number of different bodies, including East and North Hertfordshire CCG, Herts Valley CCG, the
NHS Commissioning Board and Hertfordshire County Council. This is not expected to make any
changes to the type and level of services provided by the Trust but increases the complexities of
negotiating and monitoring contracts. It will also see potentially different commissioning decisions
made for different areas of Hertfordshire, resulting in different services for patients, depending
on where they live.

0

26. Related party transactions
During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers or members of the key management staff, or parties
related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the
Department is regarded as the parent Department.
Payments
Receipts
to related from related
party
party
£
£
East of England Strategic Health Authority
NHS Hertfordshire
South East Essex PCT
West Essex PCT
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
NHS Business Services Authority

3,000
13,687,215
0
206
1,049,000
359,000
9,472,307

1,317,027
110,491,000
3,838,000
4,264,656
961,417
4,143,000
0

Amounts
Amounts
to related from related
party
party
£
£
1,850
3,845,000
0
7,508
569,874
306,790
1,210,852

24,403
7,099,000
678,973
209,867
354,000
474,404
0

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other
central and local government bodies.
Payments
Receipts
to related from related
party
party
£
£
HM Revenue & Customs
Hertfordshire County Council

5,534,689
60,627

0
2,801,105

Amounts
Amounts
to related from related
party
party
£
£
873,000
0
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27. Losses and special payments
The total number of losses cases in 2012/13 and their total value was as follows:
Total Value Total Number
of Cases
of Cases
£
Losses
Special payments

2,006
4,281

8
1

Total losses and special payments

6,287

9

The total number of losses cases in 2011/12 and their total value was as follows:
Total Value Total Number
of Cases
of Cases
£
Losses
Special payments

92,352
0

28
0

Total losses and special payments

92,352

28

2010/11
£000

2011/12
£000

2012/13
£000

131,588
184

127,203
1,030

129,082
1,308

Break-even in-year positon

184

1,030

1,308

Break-even cumulative postion

184

1,214

2,522

2010/11
%

2011/12
%

2012/13
%

0.14%
0.14%

0.81
0.95

1.01
1.95

28. Financial performance targets

28.1 Breakeven performance

Turnover
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

Materiality test (i.e. is it equal to or less than 0.5%)
Break-even in-year positon as a percentage of turnover
Break-even cumulative postion as a percentage of turnover
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28.2 Capital cost absorption rate
The dividend payable on Public Dividend Capital is based on the actual (rather than forecast) average relevant net
assets and therefore the actual capital cost absorption rate is automatically 3.5%.

28.3 External financing
The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot.
2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

8,844

(190)
(5,133)

External financing requirements

1,167

(5,133)

Undershoot/(overshoot)

7,677

4,943

2012/13
£000

2011/12
£000

Gross capital expenditure
Less: book value of assets disposed of

3,787
(28)

2,214
0

Charge against the capital resource limit
Capital resource limit

3,759
4,000

2,214
2,281

241

67

£000
External financing limit
Cash flow financing

1,167

28.4 Capital resource limits
The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed.

(Over)/underspend against the capital resource limit

29. Third party assets
The Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients, totalling
£274.35. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts. The Trust holds
no other third party assets.
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Becoming a member of the Trust

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
is in the process of applying to become a
Foundation Trust (FT). The timeline by which
this may be achieved is currently uncertain on
account of national transitional arrangements,
but we are estimating that we will become a
Foundation Trust at some point during 2014.
Foundation Trusts are NHS Trusts that are
given freedom from the controls of
Government to develop services to suit the
needs of their local community and
commissioners. By becoming a Foundation
Trust we can become more accountable to
local people and staff through developing our
membership and through having an elected
Council of Governors which will work closely
with the Trust’s Board of Directors to influence
decision making and planning.

Foundation Trusts are authorised and regulated
by “Monitor”, the independent regulator of
foundation trusts. (Although the process of
authorisation is being replaced by one of
“licensing” in 2013/14).
Who can become a member?
Members are divided into two categories or
“constituencies”:
• public members

As “not for profit” public benefit corporations,
Foundation Trusts are still firmly part of the
National Health Service “family” and subject
to NHS Quality standards, performance ratings
and systems of inspection.

• staff members
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Becoming a member of the Trust

Public members

Staff members

As a general rule, anyone over the age of 14
can become a member and you must be
ordinarily resident in England or Wales.

All staff of the Trust automatically become
members of the Foundation Trust, although
they can opt out of membership if they so
wish.1

Although most of our members come from
Hertfordshire, where the bulk of our services
are provided, there is also a “constituency”
for people in the rest of England and Wales.
There are however some exclusions from
being able to become a member or whereby
membership might be terminated. These are if:
• in the five years preceding the date of their
application or invitation to become a Member,
they have demonstrated aggressive or violent
behaviour at any Trust premises or against
the Trust's employees, volunteers or other
persons who exercise functions for the
purposes of the Trust whether or not in
circumstances leading to there removal or
exclusion from any Trust Premises;
• they have been confirmed as a ‘vexatious
complainant’ in accordance with the NHS
Trust or (as the case may be) the Trust policy
for handling complaints;
• they have within the preceding five years
been removed as a member from another
NHS Foundation Trust;

In addition to employees, people who provide
services to the Trust for at least a year may also
become staff members, even though not
directly employed by the Trust.
People working for the Trust but not meeting
the above criteria are encouraged to become
public members. This may include eg volunteers
or bank and agency staff. This also applies to
former employees.
The benefits of membership and exclusion
criteria are broadly the same as for public
members.
1

Staff who wish to opt out of membership are
advised to email:
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk
The email must give details of name, role and
employee number. We will then validate that
the communication is actually genuine before
terminating membership.

• they have been deemed to have acted in a
manner contrary to the interests of the NHS
Trust or (as the case may be) the Trust;
• they fail or cease to fulfil the criteria for
membership of the Public Constituency or
the Staff Constituency; or
• in the case the Public Constituency, the
individual’s principal place of residence is not
within England or Wales.
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What are the benefits of membership and
how much does it cost ?
Membership is free and benefits of
membership include:
• voting in elections to elect public / staff for
the Council of Governors
• standing for election to become a
public / staff governor
• serving on working groups or project teams
and joining special interest groups
• taking part in seminars and workshops

• learning more about how to improve your
own health and take part in health promotion
campaigns in the community
• becoming more informed in the work of the
Trust and promote the work of the Trust in
the local community.
Members of a Foundation Trust do not receive
any privileges or special treatment, either
through employment or in the health care
they receive. Similarly, membership of HCT FT
will not limit treatment or access to services
with other NHS providers.

• attending an Annual Members’ Meeting
How long does my membership last?
• finding out more about the work of the
Trust through events and updates
• receiving a members’ newsletter

There is no annual membership renewal
required. Your membership lasts for life or
until you cease to qualify as a member.

• giving your views on services and the Trust’s
plans for the future, both in informal
discussions and through surveys and formal
consultation events

Annual Report and Accounts 2012-2013

199

Foundation Trust
Becoming a member of the Trust

How much time do I have to put in ?
We aim to have an engaged and active
membership, although how much time a
member puts in, is totally at the member’s
discretion. For example, you may just wish to
be a “passive member” and receive information
from time to time or you may wish to become
much more involved, for example by standing
for election as a governor.
Is there any provision for corporate
membership?
There is no provision for organisations or
corporate bodies to join as a “single” member.
However, we encourage membership from
individuals within organisations that may
have an interest.

How can I find out more or what if I
want to stand for election to the Council
of Governors?
Please see the following section on
”Becoming a public or staff governor”.
How can I find out more about HCT
or about Foundation Trusts generally?
Over and above information in this Annual
Report, please go to our website:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
for more information about the Trust.
There is also some helpful information on
Foundation Trusts generally on Monitor’s
website at:
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

Can I recruit friends or members of
my family?
We welcome and encourage members to recruit
new members, provided that the members so
recruited fulfil the criteria for membership.
How do I join as a member?
An application form is attached.
Alternatively, you can join via our website at:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
or, you can email us or write to us at the address
below and we will send you a membership
form (or multiple membership forms should
you require them for friends or colleagues):
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk
FT Members and Governors
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Howard Court
14 Tewin Road
Welwyn Garden City
AL 7 1BW
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What is The Council of Governors?

Who will be on HCT’s Council of Governors?

In addition to having a Board of Directors, all
Foundation Trusts have a “Council of Governors”
(CoG) which undertakes roles set out both by
law and by local agreement.

HCT’s Council of Governors will have 20
governors in total. “Public” and “staff”
governors are elected from the membership
of the Foundation Trust and some other
governors are nominated. The elected
governors are divided into “constituencies”
representing the public and staff respectively.
The Council of Governors for HCT will be as
shown in the table below.

The Council of Governors will be fundamental
to the way the Foundation Trust will work and
it will work alongside the Board of Directors
to help shape the services we provide in line
with the needs of the community and the
organisations which commission services
from us.
Details of the role are given under “What is
the role of Governors?” overleaf.
Elected Governors

Numbers
Public Governors representing West Hertfordshire

5

Public Governors representing East & North Hertfordshire

5

Public Governor representing the rest of England and Wales

1

Staff Governors
Numbers
Nursing, Health Visitors and Healthcare Assistants

2

Allied Health Professionals and Therapy Assistants

1

Other Staff (including administrative, managerial, medical, dental, scientific and technical)

1

Nominated Governors
Numbers
Appointed by Hertfordshire County Council (one governor to represent Health & Social Care
Services and one to represent Children’s Services)

2

Healthcare professional representing Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

1

Healthcare professional representing East & North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

1

Hertfordshire Healthwatch

1
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What is the role of governors?
Governors ensure that the interests of the
community served by the Trust are appropriately
represented and that the values of the Trust
are upheld. More specifically, the role of the
Council of Governors includes:
• advising on the strategic direction of the Trust
• being consulted on the developments of the
forward plans of The Foundation Trust and
any significant changes to the health care
provided by the Trust
• representing the views of the Trust’s
membership
• taking part in working groups or special
interest groups
• acting as ambassadors with local communities
• appointing or removing the Chairman and
other Non-Executive Directors

In addition, the Council will have other roles,
such as leading on the Trust’s membership
strategy. Following the publication of the
Francis Report, it is also likely that governors
will have a role on monitoring aspects of the
quality of the Trust’s services. The Council may
wish to set up a number of “working groups”
to support its role.
Are there any expectations from the
Trust for governors?
In undertaking their role, governors will have
to:
• attend Council of Governor meetings and
an Annual Members Day
• attend relevant induction and training
sessions identified by the trust
• sign a Code of Conduct
• complete a Declaration of Interests form

• approving the appointment of the Chief
Executive if this is necessary

• act in the best interests of the Trust

• appointing (and removing) the external auditor

• work within the policies of the Trust

• deciding on the remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors

• comply with all reasonable requests.

• receiving the Trust’s annual accounts,
auditor’s report and annual report at the
Annual Members Meeting
• holding the Board of Directors to account
• agreeing to any changes in the constitution
of the Trust
• agreeing to any mergers or acquisitions
defined in the constitution as “significant”.
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Do I get paid for being a governor and
what is the amount of time I might be
expected to give to the role?
Governors are not paid, but may claim expenses.
The role and duties are very important and
Governors should expect to devote about 2
days a month to the role.
The majority of training and meetings will
take place during the day or early evening but
Governors may also occasionally be asked to
attend evening or week-end events in support
of the Trust. To encourage engagement with
local communities, meetings may also be held
in a variety of locations across Hertfordshire
and occasionally outside the county as well.

Who can stand for election as a governor?
To stand for election as a public or staff
governor:
• be a member of the Trust in the constituency
for which you intend to stand for election
• you must be at least 16 years old (There is
no upper age limit)

There are other circumstances under which
someone cannot stand for election or remain
a governor if elected. These are set out in the
Constitution for the FT and will be explained
in full in pre-election literature. This includes,
for example, people who are subject of a sex
offenders order or who have been disbarred
from being a director under the Company
Directors Disqualification Act 1986.
All employees of the Trust are members of the
Foundation Trust by default (and thereby part
of the staff constituency), although they may
choose to opt out of membership. People
who provide services to the Trust for at least a
year, may also become staff members, even
though not directly employed by the Trust.
Any staff member may stand for election as a
staff governor, but prospective staff governors
should note that this role is not a vehicle for
raising issues about terms and conditions of
employment, as this is done through the
Trades Unions and the Joint Negotiating
Committee (JNC).

• you cannot be a director, governor, chair or
non-executive director of another health
service body
• you must not have been a director of the
Trust in the 12 months preceding nomination
or have been dismissed by the Trust within
the preceding five years, other than through
reason of redundancy or ill health.
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How and when are the elections
carried out?
Elections will be conducted by an independent
election services provider and will be carried
out in accordance with Department of Health
“Model Election Rules” which are incorporated
into the Trust’s constitution. All elections will
be on a “single transferable vote” basis, rather
than “first past the post”.
Elections will be held soon after the Trust moves
into the application phase of being assessed
by Monitor (The independent regulator of
Foundation Trusts). This is before authorisation
as a Foundation Trust and it means that a
shadow Council of Governors will be in place
to commence work as a fully constituted
Council as soon as authorisation takes effect.
Because of current uncertainty with the
overall timescale for the FT application, it is
not possible to say at the moment exactly
when the elections will be held.
What happens after the elections?
After results are announced and the successful
candidates are known, a shadow Council of
Governors will come into existence. There will
also be a programme of induction and
development for the newly elected governors.
The Trust is also keen not to lose sight of
unsuccessful candidates, as people
unsuccessful in initial elections may be
governors of the future or wish to support the
work of the Trust in other ways.
If elected, how long would my term of
office be ?
Based on the number of votes received,
public governors elected following the first
elections will be in post for either three years
or two years. (This is to ensure continuity so that
not all governors change at the same time).
Staff governors will be in post for up to a
maximum for three years. (Governors can
stand for re-election for one additional
period of office if they so wish).
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Where can I find out more Information?
More information on governors and standing
for election will be included periodically in the
“Memo to Members” newsletter. Information
will also be posted from time to time on the
Trust’s website. This will include “Frequently
Asked Questions (FAQs). Our website address is:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
(Please also see our website if you are not a
member and would like to join. Membership
is free and the extent of involvement you then
have with the Trust and its work is at your
discretion).
There is also information on governors generally
and their role, on Monitor’s website at:
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
If I might be interested in standing for
election as a governor, what do I do now?
You do not need to do anything, but if you
may be interested in standing for election as a
governor in due course and would like us to
alert you nearer the time of the election process,
please send an email to register your interest to:
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk
If you have any specific questions at this stage
which are not answered in this information
sheet, please also send an email to this
address and we will reply to you as soon as
we can.
Alternatively, to express an interest or raise
any questions, you can write to us at:
FT Members and Governors
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Howard Court
14 Tewin Road
Welwyn Garden City
AL7 1BW
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✃

Membership form
✃

Join us!
✃

If you would like to join our Trust, please fill in the form below.
We will use the details you give to provide you with information,
keep you in touch and for election material.

✃

If you provide your email address and/or your mobile telephone
number, we may use these methods to contact you and save postage.
Thank you for your interest and support.

MembershipForm
Form
Membership
✃

I would like to apply to become a member of the Trust
Mr

Mrs

Ms

Miss

Dr

First name

✃

Surname
Are you male

female

Date of birth_____/_____/_________

✃

Please indicate if you do not wish us to enter your name on the public
register of Members
Full address

✃

Postcode
Telephone number
Email

✃
Please return to (no stamp needed):
Freepost Plus RSKT-TURY-ERZJ, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust,
Howard Court, 14 Tewin Road, Welwyn Garden City AL7 1BW

✃
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Please state any other Asian background
_________________________________
Black or Black British
Black Caribbean
Black African

Are you a member of an
organisation or local group which
would like more information about
the work of the Trust?
YES
NO

If you consider yourself to have a
disability, please give details
A sensory disability
A physical disability
A mental health problem
A learning disability
Another special need
Please specify
_______________________________
How would you like to be involved
with us? (tick as many boxes as you
wish)
Find out more about the work of the
Trust

✃

If yes, then name of the organisation or
group

✃

PPlease state any other Black background
_________________________________
I would rather not say

✃

Are you or have you been?
A carer of someone who is a patient
in the local NHS

How did you hear about this
application?
At a public meeting
Through the local press
Picked up the leaflet
Was sent the leaflet in the post
On the website
Other

Your signature
signature
I confirm I am 14 years or over

✃

Please state other mixed background
_________________________________
Asian or Asian British
IIndian
Bangladeshi
Pakistani
Chinese

✃

Please state any other White
_________________________________
Mixed
White and Black Caribbean
White and Asian
White and Black African

Take part in consultation of the
Trust’s plans through surveys or
events
Learn more about how to improve
my own health, and take part in
promoting good health in the
community
Consider standing for election as a
Governor
Act as an ambassador for the Trust
in my local community

Today’s date ___ / ___ / _________
This form is being handled for membership purposes only
and in accordance with the Data Protection Act.
Act.

✃

What is your ethnic group?
White
White Irish
White British
G
Gypsy/Irish traveller

✃

✃

Membership form

✃

Please return to (no stamp needed):
Freepost Plus RSKT-TURY-ERZJ, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust,
Howard Court, 14 Tewin Road, Welwyn Garden City AL7 1BW
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